

MODIFIABLE LIFESTYLE FACTORS FOR MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

For health professionals

Evidence-based lifestyle interventions to support MS management and health outcomes

IIV



MS Australia is Australia's national multiple sclerosis (MS) not-for-profit organisation that empowers researchers to identify ways to treat, prevent and cure MS, seeks sustained and systemic policy change via advocacy, and acts as the national champion for Australia's community of people affected by MS.

MS Australia represents and collaborates with its state and territory MS Member Organisations, people with MS, their carers, families and friends, and various national and international bodies to:

- Fund, coordinate, educate and advocate for MS research as part of the worldwide effort to solve MS
- Provide the latest evidence-based information and resources
- Help meet the needs of people affected by MS

Contents

Executive summary	4
Introduction	7
Smoking	13
Diet and nutrition	19
Weight and obesity	25
Physical activity and exercise	30
Sleep and multiple sclerosis	37
Stress and stress-reducing activities in MS	42
Lipid profiles	47
Medical conditions	50
Gut health and microbiome	54
Vitamin D and sunlight	57
Dietary supplements	64
References	70

Executive summary

MS Australia hosted a workshop on modifiable lifestyle factors in MS on May 2, 2018, in Sydney. This workshop was organised in response to the 2016 MS Research Australia Research Priorities survey, which identified lifestyle factors as a key concern for the MS community. Addressing these factors offers people with MS a way to take control of their health and potentially reduce the impact of the disease. The workshop brought together clinicians, researchers, allied health professionals, and individuals living with MS to review the current evidence and discuss future research directions. A guide was subsequently published in 2020 to summarise the findings and recommendations.

Building on insights from this workshop, MS Australia and leading experts revisited the literature to ensure the latest evidence on lifestyle changes in MS was incorporated. As part of this effort, two new chapters, on sleep and stress-reducing behaviours, have been added to provide a more comprehensive perspective.

MS Australia has developed this guide as a trusted resource for clinicians, distilling the latest evidence on modifiable lifestyle factors in MS. It provides practical, evidence-based insights to support informed clinical discussions and decision-making. The guide covers key areas with recommendations, including:



Smoking

- Strongly advise smoking cessation as a priority intervention for all individuals, particularly those living with MS.
- Highlight the association between smoking and increased disease progression, relapses, and treatment failure.
- Provide resources for smoking cessation support, including pharmacological and behavioural interventions.
- Quitting at any stage has been shown to beneficial for people living with MS.



- Encourage a balanced diet (see Australian Dietary Guidelines) to support overall health.
- Emphasise whole foods, fibre, and healthy fats while minimizing ultra-processed foods. refined sugars, and saturated fats.
- Address common dietary deficiencies (e.g. vitamin D, B12) and consider dietitian referral for tailored advice.
- There is no strong evidence to support specific MS diets; general healthy eating patterns are recommended.



Weight management

- Assess and monitor BMI and other weight assessment tools (e.g. waist circumference, body composition analysis), as obesity is associated with increased MS disease activity and reduced treatment efficacy.
- Support weight management through sustainable dietary and physical activity strategies, rather than restrictive diets.
- Address weight concerns in a patient-centred way, considering mobility limitations and fatigue.
- Maintaining a healthy weight is beneficial at all disease stages.



Physical exercise

- Recommend regular, tailored exercise (aerobic, strength, balance) to improve mobility, fatigue, and cognitive function.
- Prescribe supervised or structured exercise programs with a physiotherapist or exercise physiologist when needed, ensuring safety and adaptation to disability level.
- Address common barriers such as heat sensitivity, fatigue, and pain by suggesting personalised strategies (e.g. cooling techniques, pacing).
- Exercise is safe and effective for people with MS and should be encouraged as part of routine care.



- Screen for and address sleep disturbances (insomnia, obstructive sleep apnoea, restless legs syndrome) as they exacerbate fatigue and cognitive issues.
- Recommend good sleep hygiene practices, including consistent sleep schedules and reduced screen exposure before bed.
- Consider referring for cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) for insomnia if poor sleep persists.



Stress reduction

- Recognise the bidirectional relationship between stress and MS symptom burden.
- Encourage evidence-based stress management techniques such as mindfulness, psychotherapy, and physical activity.
- Support mental health referrals when stress significantly impacts quality of life.



- Monitor lipid profiles as part of cardiovascular risk management, given emerging links to MS disease activity.
- Promote heart-healthy dietary and lifestyle changes that align with MS recommendations.
- Consider lipid-lowering interventions in high-risk individuals per standard clinical guidelines.
- Regular screening for dyslipidaemia should be part of routine MS management.



Other comorbidities

- Actively manage comorbid conditions (e.g. cardiovascular disease, diabetes, depression) as they influence MS outcomes.
- Screen regularly for depression and anxiety, given their high prevalence in MS and impact on quality of life.
- Collaborate with multidisciplinary teams for holistic patient care.
- Early detection and optimal management of comorbidities in MS are key to improving health outcomes.



Gut microbiome

- Educate on the potential role of the gut microbiome in immune modulation, though clinical guidelines are still evolving.
- Support dietary diversity, fibre intake, and probiotic-rich foods to promote gut health.
- Avoid recommending unproven microbiome-targeted interventions until stronger evidence is available.



Vitamin D

- Assess vitamin D status in people living with MS, particularly those at risk of deficiency.
- Recommend supplementation only if deficiency is confirmed, following standard dosing guidelines.
- Advise against high-dose vitamin D supplementation without clear clinical indication, given lack of proven MS benefits.
- Recommend sun exposure guidelines from Cancer Council Australia to maintain healthy vitamin D levels.



Supplements

- Guide people living with MS to evidence-based supplementation, discouraging unnecessary or high-dose regimens.
- Address common queries regarding omega-3s, antioxidants, and other supplements with current evidence.
- Reinforce that a nutrient-rich diet is the foundation for optimal health, with supplements only as adjuncts.
- There is no strong evidence supporting supplements as a treatment for MS progression.

This document empowers healthcare professionals to provide evidence-based guidance to individuals with MS. By supporting informed lifestyle choices, it enables people with MS, in collaboration with their healthcare providers, to take an active role in managing their condition. Implementing evidence-based lifestyle changes may help improve disease outcomes, including relapse rates, disability progression, comorbidity risk, symptom management, and overall quality of life.



Multiple Sclerosis (MS)

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is the most common chronic neurological disease that causes disability in young adults and is typically diagnosed between the ages of 20 and 40. In Australia, MS affects three times more women than men. While significant advancements in disease-modifying therapies (DMTs) have improved treatment options, there is still no cure.

The exact cause of MS remains unknown, but research has identified a combination of genetic and environmental factors that contribute to its development.

MS occurs when the immune system mistakenly attacks myelin, the protective fatty coating around nerves. Myelin is essential for insulating nerve fibres and ensuring that electrical signals travel efficiently between the brain and the rest of the body. During an MS attack, demyelination occurs, exposing and damaging the underlying nerve fibres. Over time, these damaged areas become scarred, disrupting nerve communication and increasing the risk of permanent nerve degeneration. This leads to a wide range of symptoms, including:



Types of MS

MS presents in different forms, each with distinct disease patterns:

- **Relapsing-Remitting MS (RRMS):** The most common form of MS, characterised by relapses (episodes of new or worsening symptoms) followed by periods of partial or full recovery (remission).
- Secondary Progressive MS (SPMS): Develops after an initial RRMS phase, marked by gradual worsening of symptoms and increasing disability over time, often with fewer or no relapses.
- **Primary Progressive MS (PPMS):** Diagnosed in approximately 10-15% of people with MS, this form involves a steady progression of symptoms from the onset, without distinct relapses or remissions.

MS Australia and MS research

MS Australia is the leading national not-for-profit organisation dedicated to funding, coordinating, educating, and advocating for MS research. As part of the global effort to solve MS, MS Australia aims to accelerate research into the causes, better treatments, and prevention, with the ultimate goal of finding a cure.

Modifiable lifestyle factors in MS

The role of modifiable lifestyle factors in MS has gained increasing attention in recent years, driven by both scientific advancements and the priorities of the MS community.

In 2016, a national survey conducted by MS Research Australia revealed that people living with MS, caregivers, researchers, and healthcare professionals ranked modifiable lifestyle factors among the top research priorities. In response, MS Australia hosted a workshop on modifiable lifestyle factors in MS in 2018. This event brought together clinicians, researchers, allied health professionals, and people with MS to assess the current evidence and determine the best approaches to research and implementation.

A key outcome of this workshop was the formation of a working group to develop a guidance document, published in 2020, summarising the evidence on lifestyle factors that may influence MS disease progression, symptoms, and overall health. Since then, the evidence base has strengthened, and there is now a need to revisit the guide to incorporate more practical guidance for people with MS and to better support healthcare professionals in clinical conversations.

2025 Update

Since the 2018 workshop and the release of the 2020 guide, the evidence supporting lifestyle interventions in MS has continued to grow in depth and quality. In response, MS Australia has refreshed this guide to reflect the strengthened evidence base and to offer more practical, user-friendly recommendations for both healthcare professionals and people living with MS. This updated guidance document reflects:

- The latest research on the impact of modifiable lifestyle factors in MS
- Refined recommendations for healthcare professionals to support patient-centred care
- Practical strategies to empower individuals with MS in managing their condition through lifestyle choices.

This update also aligns with the recently published consensus recommendations^{1,2} for people living with MS, which emphasise the importance of modifiable lifestyle factors. In addition to reinforcing these recommendations, this guide goes further by providing expanded information on areas such as sleep, stress management, and other emerging factors that can influence MS outcomes.

While gaps in the evidence remain in some areas, this guide serves as a trusted resource to help clinicians provide informed, evidence-based advice to people with MS.

Purpose of this document

This guidance document was developed in response to the priorities and concerns of people living with MS. It aims to empower healthcare professionals with evidence-based recommendations on modifiable lifestyle factors that may influence disease progression, symptoms, comorbidities, and overall quality of life.

Where applicable, the document also highlights modifiable risk factors that may impact the development of MS, including the risk of a first demyelinating event (FDE), radiologically isolated syndrome (RIS), or clinically isolated syndrome (CIS).

Scope of This Document

A working group of national experts with clinical and research expertise assisted in the development of this latest guide, covering the following key areas of interest in MS:



Aims of This Document

- Provide evidence-based lifestyle recommendations to improve MS disease progression, symptoms, and overall well-being.
- Identify modifiable risk factors that may influence the likelihood of developing MS.
- Where scientific evidence is available, summarise research findings and apply grading to indicate the strength of recommendations.
- Offer general health recommendations where MS-specific evidence is insufficient, ensuring guidance remains safe and beneficial.
- Clarify widely discussed lifestyle approaches in the MS community that lack robust scientific support, ensuring healthcare professionals have accurate information.

NHMRC Grading System

The National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Grading System was used to assess the strength of evidence for each recommendation. The grading system considers:

- The quality, quantity, and consistency of scientific studies
- The **clinical impact** of recommendations
- The generalisability of findings to people with MS
- The **applicability** of evidence within the Australian healthcare system.

NHMRC Grades of Recommendation:







GOOD EVIDENCE, APPLIES TO MOST SITUATIONS



RECOMMEND WITH CAUTION



WEAK EVIDENCE, USE CAUTIOUSLY

If MS-specific evidence was insufficient for a topic, general health recommendations were included where applicable, but no NHMRC grading was assigned.

Review and Updates

This document has been reviewed and updated by a diverse panel, including:





PEOPLE LIVING WITH MS

Cautions and Considerations

- This document does not replace standard medical treatment for MS.
- Individuals should consult their healthcare team before making significant lifestyle changes.
- Healthcare professionals should consider disability levels, mental health factors (e.g. depression, anxiety), and socioeconomic barriers when applying these recommendations.

Authors and Reviewers

MS Australia would like to acknowledge and sincerely thank the experts and contributors who dedicated their time and expertise to developing this guidance document. We extend our gratitude to the original expert working group for their foundational work, as well as to the clinicians, researchers, and individuals with lived experience who have contributed to this updated edition. Their insights have ensured that this document remains evidence-based, relevant, and valuable for healthcare professionals and the MS community. The full list of expert authors and review panel members is provided below.

	- ·		
NAME	AFFILIATION	QUALIFICATIONS	RELEVANT EXPERTISE
Dr Amin Zarghami	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	MD	Lipid profiles
Prof Bruce Taylor	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	MBBS, MD, FRACP	Vitamin D/sunlight
A/Prof Claudia Marck	University of Melbourne, VIC	PhD (Public Health)	Smoking, weight/obesity
Prof Ingrid van der Mei	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	PhD (Epidemiology)	Lipid profiles/ comorbidities
Ms Lara Marie Pangan Lo	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	MSc (Food Science and Nutrition)	Comorbidities
Prof Lucinda Black	Curtin University, WA	PhD (Nutritional Sciences)	Nutrition & Diet
Dr Mary Webb	Canberra Society of Editors	PhD (Plant Cell Biology)	Person with MS
Dr Phu Hoang	Neuroscience Research Australia, NSW	PhD (Physiotherapy)	Physical activity
Ms Rachel Whiffen	Quit	MPH	Smoking
Dr Sarah White	Quit	PhD (Paediatrics)	Smoking
Dr Steve Simpson-Yap	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	PhD (Epidemiology)	Vitamin D/sunlight
Dr Wolf Marx	Deakin University, VIC	PhD (Nutrition Sciences)	Supplements/microbiome
Prof Yasmine Probst	University of Wollongong, NSW	PhD (Nutrition and Dietetics)	Nutrition & Diet, weight/ obesity
A/Prof Yvonne Learmonth	Murdoch University, WA	PhD (Rehabilitation)	Physical activity

Original Expert Working Group

2025 Contributors

NAME	AFFILIATION	QUALIFICATIONS	RELEVANT EXPERTISE/ ROLE	
Prof Bruce Taylor	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	MBBS, MD, FRACP	Vitamin D/sunlight Chair of working group	
A/Prof Claudia Marck	University of Melbourne, VIC	PhD (Public Health)	Smoking, weight/obesity	
Prof Ingrid van der Mei	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	PhD (Epidemiology)	Lipid profiles, Comorbidities	
Dr Huah Shin Ng	Flinders University, SA	PhD (Pharmacy and Medical Sciences)	Comorbidities	
Professor Lucinda Black	Deakin University, VIC	PhD (Nutritional Sciences)	Nutrition and diet	
Dr Moira Smith	James Cook University	PhD (Physiotherapy)	Physical activity	
Dr Phu Hoang	Neuroscience Research Australia, NSW	PhD (Physiotherapy)	Physical activity	
Dr Steve Simpson-Yap	Menzies Institute for Medical Research, TAS	PhD (Epidemiology)	Vitamin D/sunlight, Supplements, Nutrition	
Prof Yasmine Probst	University of Wollongong, NSW	PhD (Nutrition and Dietetics)	Nutrition, weight/obesity, Gut Health	
A/Prof Yvonne Learmonth	Murdoch University, WA	PhD (Rehabilitation)	Physical activity	
Dr Laura Laslett	University of Tasmania, TAS	PhD (Pain)	Sleep	
Dr Nupur Nag	University of Melbourne, VIC	PhD (Neuroscience)	Stress-reducing Behaviours	
Shoroog Allogmanny	University of Wollongong, NSW	PhD Candidate - Nutrition and Dietetics Accredited Practising Dietitian (APD)	Gut Health	
Maggie Yu	University of Melbourne, VIC	MPsych (psychology)	Supplements	
Tadeg Amare	University of Tasmania, TAS	MSc (Medical Physiology)	Sleep	
Dr Olivia Wills	University of Wollongong, NSW	PhD (Nutrition and Dietetics)	Smoking, Nutrition & Diet, Stress-reducing Behaviours	
Karen Zoszak	University of Wollongong, NSW	BSc (Nutrition and Dietetics (Honours))	Weight and Obesity	
Dr Jeanette Reece	University of Melbourne, VIC	PhD (Epidemiology)	Supplements	
Dr Jo Gamble	MS Australia	PhD (Neuroscience)	Lead Editor and Lived Experience Liaison	
Dr Nerissa Soh	MS Australia	PhD (Psychological Medicine)	Editor and Reference Manager	

Reviewers

NAME	AFFILIATION	POSITION
Lived Experience Expert Panel (LEEP)	MS Australia	Diverse focus groups
Belinda Bardsley	Austin Health, VIC	MS Nurse
Dr Mary Webb	Canberra Society of Editors	Science Editor and Person with MS
Prof Robyn Lucas	Australian National University, ACT	Epidemiologist and Specialist Public Health Physician
A/Prof Anneke Van Der Walt	Monash University, VIC	Academic Neurologist
Andrew Potter	MS Australia	Lived Experience Partner
Dr Therese Burke AM	Notre Dame University	MS Nurse
Dr Wolf Marx	Deakin University, VIC	MS Researcher in Microbiome
Dr Tennille Luker	MS Australia	Deputy Head of Research
Dr Julia Morahan	MS Australia	Head of Research



Summary

Smoking tobacco and passive smoking (exposure to second-hand smoke) significantly harm health and are linked to an increased risk of many conditions, including MS, cardiovascular disease, and cancer.

There is consistent evidence that smoking negatively impacts MS progression, accelerating disability and advancing onset of progressive MS. There is currently no evidence about the impact of vaping or using e-cigarettes on MS, but there is evidence that these are harmful for general health and should be avoided.

People living with MS are strongly advised to avoid smoking and exposure to secondhand smoke.

The good news is that quitting is highly beneficial, reducing disability progression, symptoms, and progressive MS risk, in addition to reducing the risk of other conditions such as cancer and cardiovascular disease. The earlier smoking cessation occurs, the greater the benefits, though quitting is advantageous at any stage.

What is smoking (and passive smoking), and how common is it?

Smoking refers to the inhalation of smoke created by the combustion of organic material, most commonly tobacco, through products such as cigarettes, cigars, pipes, and waterpipes (shisha, nargile or hookah)³. This chapter focuses on tobacco products and excludes information about the harms or benefits of smoking marijuana or cannabis.

In 2022/2023, 10.6% of Australian adults (12.6% of men and 8.7% of women) reportedly smoked tobacco daily⁴. While exact smoking rates in Australians with MS are unknown, evidence suggests a higher rate than the general population. For example, an Australian survey by Weld-Blundell et al. about smoking and MS (which may have attracted people interested in the topic), found 26% were current smokers (n=73), 38% were former smokers (n=108) and 36% never-smokers (n=103)⁵. In contrast, the Australian MS Longitudinal Study (AMSLS) reported 11% of 1500 participants (n=165) were smokers in 2016⁶. Another Australian study of 282 people with a first demyelinating event (FDE) reported that 27% of people smoked at the time of enrolment between 2003-2006⁷, with 20% still smoking five years later⁸.

Exposure to second-hand smoke (passive smoking) is also harmful to health⁴. The Weld-Blundell study also found that 24% (n=67) of participants with MS were regularly exposed to passive smoke, with low awareness of its risks for MS onset and progression⁵. Despite the risks, there are currently no initiatives specifically designed to prevent smoking uptake, exposure to passive smoking, or to support cessation for people living with MS⁹.

Does smoking affect the risk of MS or its onset?

Active smoking is a key risk factor for MS onset, increasing the risk of MS by approximately 50%^{10,11}. Among those with clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), 67% of smokers progress to develop MS, compared to 36% of non-smokers¹². This risk may be proportional to the number of cigarettes smoked, also known as a "dose-response effect"¹³. A review by Belbasis et al. confirmed that "ever-smoking" increased the risk of MS (odds ratio (OR) 1.52; 95% confidence interval (CI), 1.39–1.66)¹⁴.

Other recent reviews (published in or after 2020), including those by Arneth¹⁵ and Jasielski et al¹⁶, support this. Further, Rosso and Chitnis attribute over 20% of MS risk to active and passive smoking combined¹⁷. However, inconsistent results were noted in a recent review by Maroufi et al. including only studies from the Middle East and North Africa region, where only five of the eight included studies (odds ratios ranging from 1.93 to 6.48) linked smoking to MS onset¹⁸. A Swedish case-control study estimated that the avoidance of tobacco smoking would prevent at least 13% of cases of MS¹⁹.

Passive smoking also increases MS risk²⁰, particularly for genetically predisposed family members exposed to smoking¹⁰. Further, evidence indicates that paediatric MS risk in children is reduced when their parents stop smoking²⁰. A 2024 review by Schlindwein et al. of two meta-analyses, two systematic reviews, and 11 observational studies found a consistent and positive association between passive smoking and MS onset²¹.

Prenatal smoking exposure (active or passive smoking of the mother during pregnancy), does not appear to affect the risk of developing MS in offspring²². However, there is extensive evidence that prenatal smoking significantly harms the foetus, increasing the risk of stillbirth and pregnancy complications⁴. Pregnant individuals are advised to avoid smoking, or vaping, and passive smoke exposure²³.

Smoking a waterpipe at least once a week for a minimum of 6 months was found to have a significant association with MS onset (OR 1.73, 95% CI 1.38-2.17) according to a 2024 metaanalysis including 5 studies²⁴. Sharing waterpipes could also facilitate transmission of several infectious diseases, such as Epstein-Barr virus, which has been associated with the onset of MS²⁴. There is clear evidence that people living with MS or at risk of MS should avoid waterpipe smoking.

Does smoking have effects on MS disease progression?

High-quality research demonstrates that smoking accelerates MS disease progression, including disability worsening and the transition to secondary-progressive MS. Prospective population studies by Pittas et al²⁵ and Healy et al.²⁶ show a clear link between smoking and faster disability progression. Further, a 2017 systematic review (that analysed 1 concurrent, 9 retrospective, and 4 prospective studies) and a meta-analysis of seven studies (2 case control, 1 prospective, and 4 retrospective cross-sectional studies), found that smoking increased the risk of disease progression by ~55%. However, due to some variability in study estimates, this result can only be interpreted with moderate certainty of evidence²⁷. Despite this uncertainty, most studies provide consistent and convincing evidence that people living with MS who smoke have an increased risk of their disability worsening compared to non-smoking people living with MS, as confirmed by another systematic review²⁸.

Recent reviews by Rosso and Chitnis $(2020)^{17}$, Jasielski et al. $(2020)^{16}$, and Maroufi et al. $(2021)^{18}$ reinforce this link. However, while another review found that ever smoking was associated with increased expanded disability status scale (EDSS) (SMD = 0.15, 95% CI = 0.01-0.28), they found no association with the risk of reaching EDSS 4 or EDSS 6²⁹. In addition, smoking has also been associated with increased brain atrophy (decrease in total brain volume)³⁰ and comorbid conditions such as type 1 diabetes, vascular disease or stroke³¹ which may further exacerbate disability progression.

Evidence linking smoking to more frequent relapses in relapsing-remitting MS is limited and inconclusive¹⁶. For passive smoking, a recent review concluded that there is insufficient evidence to determine its impact on MS progression²¹.

Does smoking have effects on MS symptoms?

Smoking is associated with worse MS symptoms, alongside its negative impact on disease progression and onset. A 2023 review by Vong et al. found that current and former smokers had a significantly higher risk of depression. The evidence linking smoking to anxiety was less clear³². One study showed that people living with MS who smoke experience a lower quality of life³³, and both smoking and MS are linked to reduced bone mineral density, increasing the risk of fractures and osteoporosis in later life³⁴ Jasielski *et al.* also identified associations between smoking and cognitive impairment in three studies¹⁶. A 2025 Swedish study further found that current smoking at MS diagnosis was associated with a higher risk of reaching Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) milestones, physical worsening, and cognitive decline over time, even if smoking cessation occurred after diagnosis. The combination of smoking and obesity appeared to have additive negative effects across all outcomes³⁵. The Australian survey by Weld-Blundell et al. found that previous smokers with MS experienced long-term improvements in MS symptoms and general well-being after quitting⁵.

Does smoking influence premature mortality?

A UK study of more than 900 people living with MS found that smoking tobacco significantly increased the risk of early death compared to never-smokers. Within non-smokers, having MS did not increase the risk of early death compared to the general population³⁶.

How does quitting benefit people with MS?

Quitting smoking at any time is beneficial. Evidence shows that it reduces the risk of disease onset and slows disability progression, with greater benefits for those who quit earlier³⁷. One study found that persistent smokers reach the progressive stage of MS approximately eight years earlier compared to those who quit around the time of diagnosis³⁸. Additionally, every decade of smoking abstinence reduces the risk of increasing disability by approximately 30%³⁷.

It is never too late to stop smoking.

Does smoking interfere with MS medications?

Smoking may reduce the effectiveness of MS treatments³⁹⁻⁴¹. For example, a study of 103 people living with relapsing-remitting MS, found that smokers treated with fingolimod or dimethyl fumarate were more than twice as likely to experience a relapse or have disease activity compared to non-smokers⁴². As these medications aim to prevent relapses and the progression of MS, this further adds to the negative effects of smoking on relapses and progression of MS.

Information that needs clarifying

How does smoking harm health?

Cigarette smoke contains more than 7000 compounds, including at least 100 compounds proven to be toxic to the central nervous system(CNS). These substances damage neurons, glia, and myelin, while triggering a pro-inflammatory cascade that harms the respiratory and cardiovascular systems, as well as the blood-brain barrier¹⁷. More information on how smoking harms your organs and brain can be found at <u>https://www.quit.org.au/tools/effects-smoking-your-body</u>.

Is nicotine responsible for harm or are other substances in tobacco the cause?

While nicotine is responsible for the addictive and stimulant effect of cigarettes, there is no evidence it plays a pathogenic role in MS¹⁷. A study on Swedish snuff use (smokeless tobacco) confirmed that the increased risk of MS in smokers is due to other compounds in tobacco smoke, rather than nicotine itself⁴³. This supports the safety of nicotine replacement therapy for people living with MS as a quitting aid.

Nicotine-reduced and ultra-low nicotine cigarettes, marketed as healthier alternatives, may have even greater pro-inflammatory effects than regular cigarettes, although the evidence is limited¹⁷.

Anecdotally, some people living with MS have reported symptom relief (e.g. pain or fatigue) from nicotine use^{44,45}, similar to observations in people with other conditions such as schizophrenia⁴⁶ and depression⁴⁷. Early-stage studies in MS laboratory models suggest potential protective effects of nicotine against MS onset and severity⁴⁸. However, current evidence does not support nicotine as beneficial for humans with MS.

Are e-cigarettes or vapes less harmful than regular cigarettes?

E-cigarettes (vapes) and heated tobacco products are marketed as "less harmful" nicotine delivery methods, but the industry is unregulated, with variable chemical compositions, doses, and technologies. All e-cigarettes, regardless of nicotine content, contain harmful substances, including carcinogens⁴⁹. A 2023 umbrella review of 400 studies confirmed the harm of e-cigarettes, highlighting risks such as poisoning, lung injury, and device malfunctions⁵⁰. There are no studies on e-cigarettes or vaping in people living with MS, but leading health organisations, including the Australian Department of Health⁴⁹, the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners⁵¹ and the World Health Organization (WHO)⁵², advise against their use. Nicotine-containing e-cigarettes combined with behavioural therapy may help those who have failed first-line cessation strategies, but this should be undertaken with medical guidance⁵³ and discussed with a healthcare professional⁵¹.

Recommendations for people with MS

People living with MS, or at risk for MS, should avoid active and passive smoking, consistent with public health recommendations for the general population^{3,49}. Harmful effects of tobacco on MS progression, along with the significant benefits of quitting smoking on these outcomes, make the case for action to quit and avoid tobacco smoking even more urgent for people living with MS. The highest level of evidence links active smoking to MS onset and disease progression. However, randomised controlled trials in this area are unethical due to the known risks of smoking, therefore the evidence comes from prospective and cross-sectional population studies, which may produce biased results.

Considerations for health professionals

Current practice often falls short in meeting the needs of people living with MS who smoke^{5,45}. An Australian survey showed that while most people living with MS report that their neurologist (n=126, 75.4%) or other healthcare providers (n=125, 74.9%) assessed their smoking status, few receive assistance with quitting (neurologists: n=3, 1.8%, other healthcare providers: n=14, 8.4%)⁵. Similarly, another Australian MS study which interviewed 25 current or recent smokers, reported that the provision of evidence-based information and referrals to cessation support services were very infrequent⁴¹. Participants in both studies had low awareness of the harms of smoking on MS^{5,45}. Survey participants preferred receiving cessation advice from neurologists or general practitioners, specifically tailored to MS⁵. Interview participants also gave more weight to quitting advice from MS specialist clinicians⁴⁵. There was ambivalence around discussing smoking with healthcare providers, with people simultaneously wanting more information and support, while also feeling shame or guilt that they were currently smoking⁴⁵.

Although smoking cessation programs have been effective for other chronic diseases, no interventions have been tested specifically for MS. Current advice recommends behavioural interventions over multiple sessions (e.g. Quitline) and, where clinically appropriate, cessation medications.

What are the barriers to quitting for people with MS?

Common barriers preventing people living with MS to quit smoking include withdrawal symptoms, cost, and perceived coping benefits^{5,45,54}. There are also MS-specific challenges such as cognitive difficulties^{54,55}, depression⁵⁴, and a complex relationship between cognitive function, coping, and depression among people living with MS⁵⁶. Pain is another common symptom for people living with MS. Smoking has been shown to create a feedback loop with pain, increasing its long-term risk while providing short-term relief, which can strongly motivate continued smoking^{55,57}. This makes quitting particularly challenging for those experiencing pain, depression, and/or anxiety⁵⁸. Close monitoring and effective management of these symptoms can increase the likelihood of successful cessation. Additionally, as many people quit several times before succeeding long-term abstinence, regular follow-up is essential to provide long-term support for maintaining cessation.

Recommendations:

While MS-specific research into cessation strategies is ongoing, healthcare professionals should follow best practice guidelines for the general population.

The "Ask, Advise, Help" model is currently recommended.

- **1. Ask**: Assess current and former smoking and vaping status, and exposure to passive smoking.
- 2. Advise: Provide personalised advice, including MS-specific benefits of quitting for both progression and symptom management.
- **3. Help**: Offer behavioural interventions and referrals, such as Quitline, and consider cessation medications if appropriate.

The 2024 Royal Australian College of General Practitioners' guidelines "Supporting smoking cessation: A guide for health professionals" and "Supporting smoking & vaping cessation: A guide for health professionals" are comprehensive resources for healthcare providers^{51,59}. These guides address topics such as pharmacology, quitting apps, and vaping. Key recommendations (including the level of evidence) relevant to all healthcare professionals are summarised below, while detailed pharmacotherapy guidelines can be found in the original documents.

- 1. A system for identifying all people who smoke and documenting tobacco use should be used in every practice or healthcare service. (Strong recommendation, high certainty)
- 2. All people who smoke should be offered brief advice to quit smoking. (Strong recommendation, high certainty)
- 3. Offer brief smoking cessation advice in routine consultations and appointments, whenever possible. (Strong recommendation, high certainty)
- 4. Offer follow-up to all people who are attempting to quit smoking. (Strong recommendation, high certainty)
- 5. Referral to telephone call-back counselling services should be offered to all people who smoke. (Strong recommendation, high certainty)

In summary, based on these guidelines and the evidence provided, we recommend the following actions aligned with the AACTT framework:

- Action: Assess and record whether individuals with MS, or at risk of MS, smoke, vape, or are exposed to second-hand smoke. If so, provide strong and specific advice to quit smoking or vaping and avoid passive smoke. Assist by outlining the benefits of cessation and connecting people living with MS to appropriate services. Quitline (phone 13 7848) is a free confidential support service for people who want to quit smoking. You can refer patients to receive a call from Quitline using the online referral form here: <u>https://www.quitcentre.org.au/referral-form</u>. Patients should consent to receiving a call from Quitline prior to an online referral form being completed.
- Actor: Healthcare professionals across all disciplines, including primary care, neurology, and allied health.
- **Context**: This should occur in all clinical settings including telehealth.
- **Target**: People living with MS or those at risk of MS.
- **Time**: During every interaction, whenever possible, with follow-up arranged to assess progress and provide further support as needed.

By embedding this approach into routine care, healthcare professionals can systematically reduce smoking-related risks in people living with MS or those at risk of developing the disease.



Diet and nutrition

Summary

A person's diet or pattern of eating includes all the foods and beverages that they consume. Nutrients are the components in foods and beverages that are essential for health, growth and repair. The nutrients in our foods and beverages interact in a complex matrix, and in the body lead to the health benefits that may be provided by the overall diet. Food is more than just nutrients; food extends beyond our biological needs for nourishment. For some, food provides joy, celebration, cultural and religious meaning. Scientific research into patterns of eating - or people's diets - are difficult to implement practically in real-life situations. Therefore, many studies for MS have focused on individual foods, individual nutrients or nutrient combinations. But, as humans, we eat combinations of foods which provide combinations of nutrients, which is important to consider. Studies investigating different patterns of eating, foods, and nutrients, and MS disease symptoms and progression, are outlined below. Note, dietary supplements are discussed in a separate chapter in this Guide.

Based on the currently available scientific evidence, the take-home message is that people living with MS should follow the same dietary guidelines as the general population - the Australian Dietary Guidelines⁶⁰. Only about 4% of the general population adhere to both the fruit and vegetable messages of the Australian Dietary Guidelines, so aligning our eating patterns with the Australian Dietary Guidelines represents a substantial dietary change for many people. To ensure that the change can be maintained in the long term, people living with MS may benefit from consulting an Accredited Practising Dietitian to help them identify ways to incorporate healthy eating into their lives, factoring in their personal preferences, MS needs, and other considerations including finances.

Introduction

People living with MS are often highly motivated and eager to take an active role in managing their condition, including making positive lifestyle changes. Amongst these changes, diet holds a special place, as it can be deeply connected to our health, wellbeing and everyday life. Many studies have explored how different aspects of diet can impact health, including in the context of MS. This chapter will discuss some of the most researched diet and individual food types, as well as those which are of particular interest to people living with MS. We recommend that people living with MS consult their healthcare team before making any significant lifestyle changes such as diet, particularly if the goal is to improve and support their MS management.

'Special diets' and MS

Several 'special diets' have been promoted as having potential benefits for MS symptoms and disease outcomes. These diets include:

- Swank diet (restricted saturated fat)
- Wahls modified Palaeolithic diet (high in meat, vegetables and fruit; no dairy, eggs, legumes or grains)
- Overcoming MS diet (low in saturated fat; moderate in seafood, avocado and nuts; no meat, dairy, egg yolks or refined foods)
- McDougall diet (vegan, high-starch, low saturated fat),
- Ketogenic (low carbohydrate, moderate protein, high fat)
- Fasting-mimicking (often plant-based, low energy intake over some days of the week).

These diets share common elements, such as reducing discretionary (junk) and ultraprocessed foods, but also have contradictions and frequently restrict whole food groups entirely.

Despite the good intentions behind the development of 'special diets' for MS, there is insufficient scientific evidence to recommend any of these diets for long-term use among people living with MS.

The details of each diet and the supporting scientific literature are outlined below.

Mediterranean and MIND diets

Other patterns of eating have been studied in relation to MS, even though they were not specifically designed for people living with MS.

These include:

- **The Mediterranean diet:** Characterised by a high consumption of fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts and wholegrain breads; moderate to low intakes of lean meats, fish, dairy and eggs; and the use of olive oil as a primary source of dietary fat
- The MIND (Mediterranean Dietary Approaches to the Stop Hypertension Intervention for Neurodegenerative Delay) diet: Combines elements of the Mediterranean and DASH (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension) diets. The MIND diet encourages low fat dairy, low alcohol and limited intake of added sugars.

Both diets have scientific support for benefits in other chronic conditions^{61,62}, but few studies have evaluated their impact on MS. A retrospective analysis showed that greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet was associated with a lower risk of patient-reported disability and MS symptoms. However, the authors of that study recommended longitudinal follow-up and interventional trials specifically using the Mediterranean diet, before making clinical recommendations for people living with MS⁶³.

Palaeolithic diet

A Palaeolithic diet typically excludes legumes, grains, dairy and processed foods, whilst being high in meat, fish, fruit and vegetables⁶⁴. Although the Palaeolithic diet has been studied in other health contexts, no clinical trials have studied the standard Palaeolithic diet in people living with MS. Instead, variants such as the **Wahls modified Palaeolithic** diet⁶⁵ and the follow-on Wahls Elimination Diet⁶⁶, a component of the Wahls Protocol⁶⁷, have been studied.

The Wahls diet differs from the typical Palaeolithic diet in that it allows some foods to be consumed that are usually restricted. The elimination variant further modifies the diet to exclude gluten-free grains, legumes and nightshade vegetables^{66,67}. Studies summarising the effects of a Palaeolithic/Wahls diet in people living with MS have reported reductions in fatigue severity and improvements in quality of life⁶⁸.

However, these clinical trials included other intervention elements, such as supplementation and stretch and strength exercise, making it unclear whether the benefits were due to the diet alone⁶⁹.

Additionally, a Palaeolithic diet may be challenging to sustain long-term due to its exclusion of many foods and some food groups, potentially resulting in nutritional deficiencies. Therefore, the current evidence base is insufficient to support recommendations for its use for improving disease outcomes in people living with MS.

Low saturated fat diets: Swank, Overcoming MS, and McDougall diets

Low saturated fat diets are low-fat diets that primarily consist of starchy plant-based foods, while limiting animal products, dairy and vegetable oils. Several such diets are promoted for MS, each varying in the degree of restriction of saturated fat. These include:

- Swank diet: Reduced animal and dairy product consumption^{70,71}
- Overcoming MS diet: Completely excludes animal and dairy product consumption but allows fish⁷²
- McDougall Diet: Excludes all animal products, including fish and dairy⁷³.

A recent clinical trial compared the Swank diet with the Wahls modified Palaeolithic diet, finding that both diets reduced fatigue and improved quality of life⁷⁴. The McDougall diet has also been evaluated in one clinical trial, where decreased fatigue was attributed to participants' weight loss⁷⁵. The Overcoming MS diet, as part of a combined lifestyle program, is currently being assessed in a clinical trial, with results expected in 2025.

Although these diets have shown beneficial effects on fatigue, body mass index and some metabolic biomarkers in people living with MS, there have been no reported improvements in disability or physical function. Further studies are needed to assess the benefits of low-fat, plant-based diets for people living with MS⁷⁶. Until stronger and more consistent evidence is available, it is not appropriate to recommend these diets for managing MS.

Intermittent fasting diets

Intermittent fasting encompasses various dietary models characterised by alternating periods of eating and voluntary abstinence from food and fluid intake. A recent review identified five clinical trials examining the effects of intermittent fasting in MS, reporting benefits such as weight loss, improved emotional wellbeing and enhanced quality of life⁷⁷. One trial also reported a positive shift in the gut microbiome composition following a 15-day intermittent fast.

However, long-term adherence to an intermittent fasting diet is often reported to be low⁷⁸. Further, current clinical trials are limited in number and often involve small cohorts. There is also uncertainty regarding the long-term effects of intermittent fasting and the variability in intermittent fasting dietary models makes it challenging to generalise findings^{68,79}. Largerscale, well-designed intervention studies are needed to confirm these preliminary findings before any model of intermittent fasting can be recommended for people living with MS.

Gluten-free diet

Gluten is a protein found in some grains, including wheat, barley and rye. A gluten-free diet aims to eliminate all sources of gluten from an individual's diet. Previous studies have suggested that a gluten-free diet may reduce disability progression, lesion activity shown on MRI, fatigue and quality of life in people living with MS⁸⁰. However, there are currently few high-quality intervention studies, and many published findings have a significant risk of bias. Based on the existing evidence, a gluten-free diet cannot yet be recommended for people living with MS, except for those with coeliac disease⁶⁸ or other health considerations such as irritable bowel syndrome⁸¹.

Furthermore, the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) does not support the use of a gluten-free diet to prevent MS and recognises its limited impact on disease outcomes in people living with MS⁸².

Dairy-free diet

Dairy includes food products made from or containing milk, such as milk, yoghurt and cheese. A dairy-free diet excludes all sources of dairy. While one early study published in 1992 suggested a correlation between the intake of cow's milk and prevalence of MS, more recent studies exploring the relationship between dairy and MS are conflicting⁸³⁻⁸⁶.

There is a need for larger-scale studies to better guide recommendations regarding dairy consumption for people living with MS. Exclusion of dairy may be necessary for individuals with a lactose intolerance, but this should be confirmed with a healthcare professional, as dairy products provide important key nutrients such as calcium. This is particularly important for women with MS who are at a higher risk of developing osteoporosis than the general population.

Currently, a dairy-free diet is not recommended for people living with MS, except for those with a diagnosed cow's milk allergy.

Fish consumption

Fish, particularly oily fish, is rich in both vitamin D and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, with studies supporting protective effects against cardiovascular disease, lipid metabolism and some cancers⁸⁷. One study published in 2012 showed that consuming fish at least once per month (compared with less than once per month) was linked with lower disability in people living with relapsing-remitting MS⁸⁸. However, many factors that might affect both fish consumption and MS, such as other dietary components and lifestyle characteristics, were not considered.

Furthermore, in a survey of people living with MS who were recruited through social media, those consuming fish reported a better quality of life and less disability⁸⁹. However, the data were self-reported, and the participants were highly educated and engaged in other lifestyle changes, which may have biased the results. Therefore, there is no conclusive evidence on the role of fish consumption in MS disease progression.

Coffee consumption

One study found that consuming caffeinated coffee (compared with never drinking coffee) was associated with lower disability in people with relapsing-remitting MS⁹⁰. However, factors, such as disease course and relapse, which might influence both coffee consumption and MS outcomes, were not considered. A more recent study reported no association between coffee consumption and MS disease severity compared to non-coffee drinkers⁹¹. Currently, there is insufficient evidence to support any specific recommendations regarding coffee consumption for people living with MS.

Alcohol consumption

Few studies have examined the impact of alcohol consumption on MS progression⁹². One study found that, compared with never drinking, people with relapsing-remitting MS who had consumed alcohol moderately (ranging from one drink weekly to two or more drinks daily) had a longer time to reach higher levels of disability⁸⁸. However, this study did not specify the types of alcoholic beverages consumed and, being cross-sectional, did not account for cumulative consumption or changes in drinking habits over time. Therefore, the findings do not establish a protective effect of alcoholic beverages on the disease course in MS⁸⁸.

The largest alcohol study in MS reported that higher total alcohol consumption and red wine consumption were both associated with lower disability in people living with MS. However, it is also plausible that people with the higher disability scores drank less alcohol due to their condition, making the direction of the relationship unclear. In contrast, MRI studies showed that moderate red wine drinkers had larger T2 lesions compared to non-red wine drinkers⁹³. Many factors influencing both alcohol consumption and disability progression were not considered.

Given these mixed findings, there is insufficient evidence to support any specific recommendations for alcohol consumption in people living with MS beyond adherence to the <u>national guidelines</u>.

Sodium (added salt)

Sodium is a mineral naturally present in many foods and is often added to packaged and processed items such as crisps, pizza and processed meats. The WHO recommends reducing sodium intake to lower blood pressure and decrease the risk of cardiovascular disease, gastric cancer, obesity, osteoporosis, stroke and coronary heart disease⁹⁴.

A review article reported that higher sodium intake was associated with worsened disease activity or an increased autoimmune response in people living with MS, suggesting it may be a risk factor for MS disease progression⁹⁵. However, some individual studies assessed associations between sodium intake and positive health outcomes such as reduced disease activity, slower progression, or improved symptom severity. ^{95,96}. Another review highlighted the need for more human studies exploring dietary sodium in MS, including associations with inflammation and immunity, but no observed effect on the time to relapse⁹⁷. Therefore, the impact of sodium intake on MS progression remains inconclusive.

Information that needs clarifying

Are any of the special diets beneficial for managing MS?

Currently, there is no conclusive evidence to support the effectiveness of any of the 'special diets' promoted for managing MS. Therefore, these diets, as described above, are not recommended for people living with MS.

Are the special diets safe for people living with MS?

Many of the 'special diets' are restrictive and may unnecessarily exclude key foods or food groups. If someone living with MS chooses to follow a special diet, it is important they work closely with their healthcare team to avoid potential risks such as unintentional weight loss, malnutrition and/or nutrient deficiencies.

Recommendations

We recommend that people living with MS follow the *Australian Dietary Guidelines*^{98,99}. These guidelines include the following recommendations for adults:

- Enjoy a wide variety of nutritious foods from the core groups every day:
 - » Plenty of vegetables, including different types and colours, and legumes/beans
 - » Fruit
 - » Grain (cereal) foods, mostly wholegrain and/or high cereal fibre varieties, such as breads, cereals, rice, pasta, noodles, polenta, couscous, oats, quinoa and barley
 - » Lean meats and poultry, fish, eggs, tofu, nuts and seeds, and legumes/beans
 - » Milk, yoghurt, cheese and/or their alternatives, mostly reduced fat
- Drink plenty of water
- Limit intake of foods containing saturated fat, added salt, sugars, and alcohol.

Following these guidelines may improve the overall health of people living with MS. However, further studies are needed to assess the impact of these recommendations on MS-specific outcomes. Additionally, people living with MS may benefit from consulting an Accredited Practising Dietitian to help identify practical ways to integrate healthy eating into their daily lives.

Considerations for healthcare professionals

When people living with MS are seeking to modify their diet, or require specific dietary guidance (e.g. obesity, malnutrition, metabolic comorbidities, or nutrition impact symptoms such as constipation, dysphagia etc), clinicians should refer them to an Accredited Practising Dietitian, preferably one with experience in MS. The Dietitians Australia website provides a <u>search tool</u> for locating an Accredited Practising Dietitian (*Find a dietitian / Dietitians Australia*). Additionally, the <u>Australian Dietary Guidelines</u> are an excellent resource for adults seeking general guidance on healthy eating.



Weight and obesity



Summary

Excess weight and obesity are recognised as harmful to overall health and have been implicated in various conditions, including MS¹⁰⁰. Obesity, particularly during childhood or adolescence, increases the risk of developing MS, with a notable impact observed in females^{101,102}.

In adults already diagnosed with MS, being overweight or obese may contribute to faster disease progression and worsen symptoms such as depression and other comorbidities (Chapter, page 50). This can negatively influence the clinical course of MS^{100,102,103}. Furthermore, obesity has been associated with a reduced response to MS treatments¹⁰³.

The key takeaway for healthcare professionals is that maintaining a healthy weight is beneficial for people with MS at any disease stage or time since diagnosis. Supporting people with MS in achieving or sustaining a healthy weight should be a priority to potentially improve outcomes and overall well-being.

The link between obesity and MS

Obesity is a growing global health concern¹⁰³. At a population level the WHO classifies overweight and obesity based on the body mass index (BMI), calculated using an individual's weight and height: BMI = weight(kg) / height(m) * height(m)¹⁰⁴. A BMI of 25kg/ m^2 or greater is classified as overweight, and a BMI of $30 kg/m^2$ or greater, as obese. The 2025 obesity guidelines suggest a difference between pre-clinical and clinical obesity and risk of other health considerations. They also suggest that at an individual level, excess adiposity should be used as a measure of obesity and waist circumference, waist-to-height or waist-to-hip ratio using validated cut-off points in addition to BMI as a screening tool for those with a BMI <40kg/m². For those with a BMI above 40kg/m² adiposity can be assumed¹⁰⁵. BMI alone¹⁰⁵ has its limitations. It does not differentiate between fat and muscle mass, leading to criticisms of its accuracy. Research indicates that BMI may underestimate obesity in people with MS, making it more effective for identifying those of healthy weight or moderately overweight, rather than those who are obese^{106,107}. Where possible, alternative measures of obesity, such as percentage body fat, or muscle mass (measured using computed tomography (CT) scan or bioimpedance) should be considered for more precise evaluation of adiposity.

In 2022, the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) reported that 34% of Australians were overweight, and 32% were obese¹⁰⁸. While approximately 0.13% of the Australian population lives with MS, obesity data for this group are not included in ABS surveys. However, findings from AMSLS indicate that 61% of Australian people living with MS self-report a BMI in the overweight or obese range, comparable to the general population⁶.

Recent research has focused on the mechanisms linking obesity to MS. Obesity contributes to a pro-inflammatory state in the body, characterised by elevated levels of cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6) and hormones like leptin¹⁰⁹. IL-6 is a key mediator of inflammation, while leptin, primarily involved in regulating appetite and metabolism, can also enhance immune responses. These elevated levels may exacerbate the neurological inflammation already present in people living with MS, contributing to disease activity^{110,111}.

Obesity has further been associated with a reduced brain volume and disruption of the blood brain barrier (BBB), a critical structure that protects the brain from harmful substances in the bloodstream¹⁰³. BBB disruption allows immune cells and inflammatory mediators to access the CNS, potentially worsening MS pathology.

Additionally, obesity may lower the bioavailability of vitamin D¹¹². Vitamin D is thought to play a protective role in MS by modulating the immune system. In individuals with obesity, vitamin D can become sequestered in adipose tissue, reducing its availability in the bloodstream and potentially diminishing its beneficial effects.

Other mechanisms include oxidative stress on oligodendrocytes (cells responsible for producing myelin), and microbiome disruption, which can alter the gut-brain axis and immune regulation¹⁰³. These factors together may amplify the inflammatory environment in MS, highlighting the importance of managing obesity as part of MS care.

Does being overweight or obese have effects on the risk of getting MS or when MS begins?

Scientific evidence shows that being overweight or obese during childhood¹¹³ and obese during adolescence¹¹⁴ are established risk factors for developing MS in later life. While some recent studies suggest this link may partly reflect other health behaviours¹¹⁵, evidence also suggests a causal relationship between BMI, visceral adipose tissue, and MS risk¹¹⁶.

Does Being Overweight or Obese Affect MS Disease Progression?

Several studies have investigated the impact of excess weight on MS progression. Earlier research found no significant link between being overweight in adulthood and disease progression^{117,118}. However, recent findings increasingly demonstrate that excess weight, particularly when measured by waist circumference rather than BMI, is associated with an increased rate of disease progression^{101,107}. Obese individuals living with MS have been observed to reach higher disability levels more rapidly compared to those who are not obese¹¹⁹. A recent population-based Swedish study found that obesity at diagnosis was associated with a significantly increased risk of reaching EDSS 3 and 4, as well as greater physical worsening over time³⁵.

Furthermore, carrying extra weight is linked with comorbidities, such as high blood lipid profiles and diabetes. These conditions may worsen the clinical course of MS by increasing disability, lowering quality of life, and increasing the risk of relapse following a first demyelinating event (FDE)^{120,121}.

Does being overweight or obese influence MS relapse and symptoms?

Two studies have reported that being overweight or obese was associated with an increased risk of relapse^{119,120}. Overweight and obese people living with MS also reported experiencing more symptoms of depression^{121,122}. However, as these findings are based on cross-sectional studies, it remains unclear whether excess weight directly contributes to these outcomes, highlighting the need for further research.

Recommendations for people with MS

Maintaining a healthy body weight (BMI \ge 18.5 kg/m² and \le 24.9 kg/m²) is associated with numerous health benefits in the general population. For individuals with other chronic diseases, weight management has been linked to improved outcomes, and this may also be the case for people living with MS.

However, weight-based stigma within the MS community can present challenges. Such stigma may be both conscious or unconscious in healthcare settings and can also be internalised by individuals with MS who live with excess weight¹²³. Addressing weight sensitively and without judgement is important when approaching this subject with people living with MS.

Behavioural treatment options for obesity in people with MS

While weight loss is often associated with positive health outcomes in MS a focus on weight may not be ideal for long term behaviour change. The focus may need to shift towards other elements of behaviour such as improving food choices rather than an emphasis on weight change alone. There are limited high-quality studies assessing the impact of weight loss specifically in people living with MS. One six-month trial demonstrated that calorie restriction combined with physical activity, another health behaviour, resulted in clinically meaningful weight loss, along with improvements in mobility, fatigue and quality of life¹²⁴. However, further long-term studies are required to address the sustainability of this intervention and its impact on MS progression.

For all people, including those living with MS, maintaining or achieving a healthy weight range and waist circumference may be supported by a balanced approach that includes healthy eating, portion control, physical activity, and stress management⁹⁹. This can be achieved with guidance from qualified professionals, such as dietitians, physiotherapists, and psychologists, as needed.

It is recommended that people living with MS follow the <u>Australian Dietary Guidelines</u> and the *Physical Activity and Exercise Guidelines* as outlined in pages 30 and 33 of this document. As current evidence specific to MS is insufficient to develop MS-specific recommendations, general public guidelines have been endorsed by experts. Consequently, the NHMRC method for grading evidence has not been applied in this context.

Pharmacological treatment options for obesity in people with MS

Emerging research is exploring the potential of repurposing weight-loss medications, particularly anti-diabetic drugs such as semaglutide (Ozempic), for use in people living with MS. In addition to addressing obesity and associated metabolic comorbidities, GLP-1 receptor agonists have shown promise for their anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties^{125,126}. An analysis of the US Food and Drug Administration Adverse Event Reporting System revealed an inverse association between MS and several anti-diabetic drugs, including metformin, empagliflozin, liraglutide, dulaglutide, and semaglutide¹²⁶. While these findings are intriguing, further research is needed to confirm their relevance to MS management. Another study found potential benefits to endothelial function, which could positively impact vascular comorbidities in people living with MS¹²⁵.

Currently, there is insufficient evidence to draw conclusions about the overall harms or benefits of pharmacological weight-loss treatments for people living with MS. Any consideration of anti-diabetic weight loss medications should be undertaken in consultation with the MS healthcare team, ensuring the approach is tailored to the individual's needs and overall health.

Surgical treatment options for obesity in people with MS

Metabolic and bariatric surgery, including gastric sleeve procedures, are recognised as the most effective treatment for all classes of obesity^{127,128}, with a typical weight loss of 32-37% and a low risk of complications (7-8%). However, neurological complications associated with these types of surgeries in the general population, often linked to nutrient deficiencies such as vitamin D, underscore the need for lifelong compliance with vitamin/mineral supplementation and careful monitoring with healthcare professionals¹²⁷.

In people living with MS, bariatric surgery may improve clinical outcomes by better managing metabolic comorbidities such as diabetes, hypertension, and dyslipidaemia¹¹². Recent studies suggests that surgical outcomes in people living with MS are comparable to obese individuals without MS¹²⁷. Furthermore, a reduced incidence of acute MS exacerbations has been reported in individuals with MS who have undergone bariatric surgery¹²⁷.

Decisions regarding bariatric surgery for people living with MS should be made in consultation with a multidisciplinary team, including bariatric surgeons, anaesthetists, endocrinologists, dietitians, and neurologists. Lifelong nutritional strategies such as supplementation are crucial to mitigate the risk of neurological complications and ensure optimal health outcomes.

Considerations for healthcare professionals

The NHMRC resource, the Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults, Adolescents and Children in Australia is currently being updated. While the previous version¹²⁹ has been rescinded, it provided valuable guidance for assisting adults with MS who are overweight or obese in achieving weight loss. These guidelines addressed behaviour change, intervention strategies, and the importance of long-term follow-up. Key steps for weight management, also endorsed by global guidelines such as the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)¹³⁰, include:

- Ask and assess: discuss the individual's readiness to change lifestyle behaviours. Include waist circumference, waist-to-hip, waist-to-height in addition to BMI screening in clinical measures.
- Advise: discuss the benefits of adopting healthy eating habits and barriers and enablers to improving overall health as well as other health conditions. Minimise the focus on weight loss.
- **Assist**: consider implementing multicomponent interventions that incorporate dietary, physical activity, and psychological strategies. Refer people to other appropriate healthcare professionals to assist and support them in making these lifestyle changes, or if considering weight loss medication/surgery options. Treatment goals should aim to improve overall health rather than weight loss alone.
- **Arrange**: promote and encourage self-monitoring and provide regular, ongoing monitoring to review progress behaviours, and goals.

In summary, based on these guidelines and the evidence provided, we recommend the following actions aligned with the AACTT framework:

- Action: Screen with BMI, assess and record waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio or waist-to-height ratio and other relevant indicators (e.g. dietary habits and physical activity levels) in individuals living with MS or at risk of MS during every clinical interaction. Provide advice on the benefits of weight management, focusing on overall health improvements rather than weight loss. Assist by connecting individuals with appropriate services, such as dietitians, physiotherapists, or psychologists, to support healthy behaviour change.
- Actor: Healthcare professionals across all disciplines, including GPs, neurologists, nurses, dietitians, and allied health professionals, should routinely monitor and address goals and weight management in clinical practice.
- **Context**: This should be conducted in all clinical settings, including primary care, neurology, and allied health appointments, and tailored to the individual's specific needs and readiness to engage in lifestyle changes.
- **Target**: Individuals with MS or at risk of MS who are overweight or obese or are at risk of weight-related comorbidities.
- **Time**: Address weight, related health behaviours and related socio-ecological factors during every clinical interaction, with follow-up arranged to track progress and provide ongoing support as needed.

Physical activity and exercise

Summary

Many individuals with MS have low levels of physical activity and exercise participation. Limited participation in physical activity may lead to reduced fitness, limited mobility, and a lower quality of life. Inactivity can also increase the risk of developing comorbidities such as depression, cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, and obesity.

Prior to the 1980s, the link between MS and physical activity was poorly understood. Since then, robust evidence has emerged demonstrating the benefits of physical activity and exercise in MS. This chapter outlines these potential health benefit, evaluates the quality of supporting research, and offers recommendations for optimal activity. Current exercise guidelines specific to MS are also discussed. Additionally, this chapter will provide practical guidance for all MS health professionals on implementing these recommendations. This includes detailing who promotes or prescribes physical activity and exercise when, to whom, at what time in the clinical journey, and in what setting¹³¹.

The overall message is that physical activity and exercise should be considered a safe and effective strategy for enhancing quality of life in people with MS. Physical activity and exercise should be promoted to all persons with MS across the continuum of MS care. Evidence demonstrates that being active improves physical fitness, functional capacity, and quality of life in people with MS.

The link between physical activity and exercise, and MS

Physical activity and exercise are related but are distinct concepts. Physical activity encompasses a broad range of movements, including exercise, sport, occupational tasks, active transportation (e.g. walking your dog or cycling to the shops), and household chores. The research discussed in this section is primarily focused on physical activity in the form of walking. Exercise, by contrast, is considered to be a planned, structured, and repetitive activity performed over an extended period, often prescribed by a healthcare professional or exercise specialist to achieve specific health-related fitness^{132,133}.

Both physical activity and exercise offer clear benefits for people with MS¹³⁴ and the general population¹³⁵. Inactivity poses a significant public health risk, with people with disabilities, including those with MS, being at much greater risk of serious health problems associated with inactivity¹³⁶. In the general population, sustained participation in exercise has been shown to reduce the risk of developing illnesses such as heart disease, stroke and

type 2 diabetes, amongst many other diseases¹³⁷. Additionally, The Royal Australian & New Zealand College of Psychiatrists guidelines for the management of mood disorder, such as clinical depression and anxiety, recommends physical activity as a form of treatment⁸.

What are the benefits of physical activity and exercise for people with MS?

The latest evidence confirms that both physical activity (primarily measured as walking) and exercise have positive physical and mental benefits for people with MS¹³⁸⁻¹⁴⁴.

Many research studies support the use of exercise training to manage MS symptoms and potentially alter the disease course of MS.

Evidence shows that exercise does improve physical fitness in people with MS^{139,145-150}, with both aerobic exercise (e.g. running, swimming and cycling) and strength/resistance training (e.g. lifting weights, using weight machines or resistance bands)^{139,145-150} showing clear benefits for people with MS.

Physical activity (in the form of walking) and exercise (in the form of an exercise training program), when compared to no training, have been shown to improve:

- Mobility: Structured exercise programs improve walking related movement^{138-140,144,148,151-154}
- Fatigue: Regular exercise reduces MS-related fatigue^{140,143,145,148,155-158}
- Balance: Both physical activity and exercise enhance postural stability^{138-140,143,154,159-161}
- Cognition: Improvements in thinking, memory, and processing have been observed^{142,162}
- Depressive Symptoms: Exercise reduces depression and anxiety^{141,155,163-165}
- Health-Related Quality of Life: Overall well-being is significantly improved^{140,148,166-168}.

Preliminary evidence indicates that exercise may improve:

- Risk of Falls: Home-based exercise programs lower fall risk
- Pain Management: Aerobic and resistance training help manage MS-related pain.

Additional benefits include, positive effects on memory^{169,170}, improved sleep quality^{171,172} and a reduced risk of developing other comorbid conditions, such as metabolic disorders and cardiovascular disease^{173,174}.

Some studies have shown improvements post exercise in brain function, integrity and inflammation for people with MS¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁸. However, most studies remain inconclusive about its ability to modify the disease process¹⁷⁹⁻¹⁸³. Despite this, exercise is considered by some experts to be the single most effective nonpharmacological approach for improving functional outcomes and managing symptoms, including aerobic capacity, walking performance, fatigue, gait, balance and quality of life^{134,184}.

Quality of the Evidence - NHMRC Grade

Health Benefits – A Symptoms – B Disability Progression - B



Which types of exercise are of most benefit to people with MS?

Systematic reviews of the literature generally examine a combination of aerobic, resistance and balance training, with fewer studies focused exclusively on a single type of exercise. Most studies explore the benefits of combined types of exercise^{140-142,144,147-149,151,154,158,159,163,165-168,170,174}, with one review each focusing on dosage of aerobic exercise¹³⁹ and resistance exercise¹³⁸ and two reviews focusing solely on balance exercise^{160,161}. For all exercise types, safety is paramount, especially balance exercise, which should be practiced in a controlled, safe environment to minimise the risk of falls. Supervised balance exercises conducted under the guidance of an accredited health professional such as physiotherapists or exercise physiologists, are recommended to ensure safety and maximise benefits¹⁸⁵.

Quality of the Evidence - NHMRC Grade

Exercise overall - B Aerobic exercise - B Resistance exercise - B Balance exercise - B Yoga, Pilates and stretching exercise - A High intensity aerobic exercise - B

Is exercise safe for people with MS?



In higher quality studies, exercise is safe for people with MS, and exercise is not associated with an increased risk of relapse^{154,186,187}.

Quality of the Evidence - NHMRC Grade

Safety - A

Despite this, people with MS participate in exercise at significantly lower rates than the general population, although comparable to other chronic conditions¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹². This reduced participation may stem from various concerns, including:

- Safety of exercise and fear of trips and falls
- Level of disability, and MS-related pain or fatigue
- Socioeconomic barriers, such as access to specialised exercise programs, trainers, or facilities to suit varying individual needs
- Psychological factors such as depression, which may reduce motivation to exercise.

Heat Sensitivity and Exercise

Heat sensitivity is a notable issue for those with MS, where exercising in warm environments may exacerbate their MS symptoms (Uhthoff's phenomenon)¹⁹³. However, emerging research has identified strategies for people with MS to mitigate heat sensitivity, which allows them to exercise safely and for longer periods of time, even in warmer climates. Research suggests the following approaches:

- Drinking cold water¹⁹⁴ and staying hydrated with cold water can help regulate body temperature
- Wearing cooling garments (such as a cooling vest)¹⁹⁵ during exercise may be effective in reducing heat-related symptom worsening¹⁹⁴.

Are there considerations for those with more advanced levels of disability?

Most of the research and exercise guidelines described in this document are aimed at people with MS aged 18 years or over who have mild to moderate levels of disability.

However, exercise remains safe and beneficial for those with more advanced disabilities, provided it is appropriately adapted to their individual needs and capabilities.

Examples of adapted exercises include body weight-supported treadmill walking or total body recumbent stepping¹⁴⁹. Exercise recommendations should be developed in consultation with the broader medical team^{149,196-198}. These recommendations should take into account psychological factors such as depression that can affect motivation and engagement, and socioeconomic factors, where financial and geographical limitations to accessing supporting services can create barriers.

Participation in adapted exercise programs can lead to improvements in physical fitness, physical function, symptom management, and overall participation in daily life activities, even for individuals with more severe disability levels^{149,196}.

Recommendations for people with MS

Exercise guidelines for people with MS

Strong evidence demonstrates that exercising at least twice per week at a moderate intensity improves aerobic capacity and muscular strength in people with MS¹⁴⁸. In 2013, exercise guidelines were produced for physical activity for people with MS,¹⁹⁹ and more recent recommendations now consider a person's previous experience with exercise training and level of fitness²⁰⁰. The guidelines below, adapted from the Canadian MS Society's *Physical Activity Guidelines*²⁰¹, are recommended for adults with MS who have mild to moderate disability.

There are two levels of exercises provided for people with MS based on a person's level of fitness and previous experience of exercise training:

- 1. General Exercise Guidelines (For individuals who are irregularly or infrequently active):
 - Aerobic Exercise: Moderate intensity 2–3 times per week for 30 minutes per session
 - » Examples: Arm cycling, seated shadow boxing, walking, leg cycling, elliptical trainer
 - Resistance Training: Moderate intensity 2-3 times per week
 - » Examples: Weight machines, free weights, cable pulleys
- 2. Advanced Exercise Guidelines (For individuals who are regularly participating in an exercise program and/or people who are seeking greater benefits from exercise training)
 - Aerobic Exercise: Moderate to vigorous intensity 5 times per week for 40 minutes
 per session
 - » Examples: Arm cycling, seated shadow boxing, walking, leg cycling, elliptical trainer
 - **Resistance Training**: Moderate intensity 2–3 times per week
 - » Examples: Weight machines, free weights, cable pulleys

3. Considerations for all exercise levels:

- Professional Advice: The advice of an accredited health professional is recommended to help identify what types and amounts of physical activity are appropriate for each individual with MS. This could be a specialist physiotherapist, occupational therapist or exercise physiologist^{202,203}.
- Symptom Management: Some MS symptoms, such as fatigue and heat sensitivity, should be identified and discussed before exercise begins.
- Behavioural Support: Exercise programs may be more successful if they are accompanied with behavioural counselling to help people with MS identify expectations from exercise, relevant goals, monitor exercise and improve their exercise self-efficacy. In addition, health professionals can support people with MS to overcome barriers and use enablers to facilitate exercise participation^{204,205}.
- If the general physical activity levels or ability levels are low, activities performed at a lower intensity, frequency and duration than recommended may still bring benefit. Exercise for people with higher support needs may need to be adapted to suit the individual and their capabilities.
- It is recommended that people with MS gradually increase the duration, frequency and intensity of exercise as they feel comfortable, to progress towards meeting the recommended guidelines^{199,200}.
- Safe and effective exercises for the more severely disabled population should be
 prescribed in consultation with the wider healthcare team. Exercises might include
 conventional exercise (aerobic, resistance and balance training as described in
 the general exercise section for people with MS above) and adapted exercise (e.g.
 body weight-supported treadmill walking, or total body recumbent stepping,
 which allows the person to be in a reclined position while performing exercise).

Additional Recommendations:

Stretching and balance exercises:

- It is recommended that people with MS practice stretching and balance exercises in a safe environment. Stretching exercises can be completed daily^{199,200}.
- Balance exercises can also be practiced when supervised by an accredited health professional such as a physiotherapist. You might complete balance exercises two to three times per week or more^{199,200}.

Considerations for health professionals: putting the recommendations into action in your practice

Exercise is safe and does not increase the risk of relapse in MS. In fact, regular exercise may reduce relapse rates in people with MS^{174,189}. Allied health professionals, including physiotherapists, occupational therapists, and exercise physiologists are well-suited to prescribe and deliver exercise programs to people with MS. Other MS professionals, including nurses and neurologists, play a pivotal role in encouraging and supporting people with MS to be physically active by discussing the benefits of exercise and promoting the guidelines^{199,200}.

Health professionals should also identify appropriate referral options for tailored exercise programs and remain informed about local physical activity options that are inclusive of people with MS, such as sports, active transportation, or group exercise opportunities, which Australians with MS value²⁰⁶.



To monitor behaviours and symptoms associated with outcome of physical activity and exercise validated tools are available for healthcare professionals. Such tools can:

- assess physical, psychological and behavioural readiness for exercise²⁰⁷
- monitor factors such as MS-symptoms²⁰⁸⁻²¹¹
- provide information on patients current exercise levels²¹²
- identify functional limitations²¹³, and
- focus on exercise and physical activity behavioural outcome^{205,214}.

These assessments should be conducted before initiating or changing activity levels and repeated by healthcare professionals regularly and reported to the wider healthcare team to monitor progress and ensure suitability.

Healthcare providers can better support uptake of physical activity and exercise by coupling exercise prescription with behavioural change tools. These can include helping individuals set goals, increase their exercise self-efficacy and overcome perceived barriers to participation^{204,215}. Given the significant benefits of exercise in MS²¹⁶, healthcare providers should address exercise behaviour at every stage of care, starting when MS is first suspected, at the time of diagnosis, during periods of stability, and focused discussion should be made to support persons with MS to maintain physical activity and exercise at the time of relapse and disease progression.

Discussions about exercise can be integrated into routine clinical interactions, including appointments, infusions, or telehealth sessions. Evidence supports both in-person and technology-based approaches as effective and acceptable to people with MS in Australia^{206,217}. Healthcare professionals should leverage these opportunities to encourage exercise participation and adherence. (Please see our recommendations on putting these into action at your site below).

Implementing the recommendations in clinical practice

We recommend following a framework to embed these recommendations into the multidisciplinary care of persons with MS. That is, managers and healthcare professional teams should consider *who* should be doing *what* with *whom* at what *time* and in *what* location, regarding promotion and prescription of physical activity and exercise¹⁴⁵. The answer to this question is based on factors unique to each clinical site, and situation.

The table below provides examples, which may vary depending on site specifics, which are relevant for putting the recommendations into action.

	TABLE 1: ACT	IONABLE RECOMMEN	DATIONS FOR HEAL	TH PROFESSIONAL	.S	
WHO should promote or prescribe exercise / physical activity?	Physiotherapist, nurse, neurologist, exercise physiologist, occupational therapist, other					
ACTION What should be done?	Education & explanation	Assessment of attitudes, habits, behaviour or capacity	Counselling	Exercise and physical activity prescription	Follow-up	Referral to program
CONTEXT where this happens	Clinical visits	When receiving other treatment	During clinic announcements (e.g. newsletters)	Telehealth sessions		
TARGET of who this should happen to	People under investigation for MS	People recently diagnosed	People with stable MS	People who are experiencing relapse	People whose MS is progressing	
TIME when this should happen	During initial investigation	At diagnosis	During stability	During relapse	During progression	

Examples of helping the team formalise putting these actions into place in your site may be:

The neurologist may assess the attitude and behaviour towards exercise of people newly diagnosed with MS and record this information for discussion with the wider team.

The nurse may educate and explain the benefits of exercise when persons with stable MS are receiving disease modifying therapies (DMTs) during times of stability.

The physiotherapist may use behaviour change counselling to discuss overcoming barriers to exercise during a clinic e-newsletter for people whose MS is progressing.

Opportunities exist for healthcare professionals to engage in discussion about physical activity and exercise at any stage of the disease process, with people with MS. Healthcare professionals are ideally situated to assist with implementing strategies to enable participation in appropriate exercise and physical activity with people with MS.

Sleep and multiple sclerosis



Current understanding and therapeutic approaches for addressing sleep difficulties in people with MS

Summary

Sleep is a fundamental biological function essential for maintaining good health. Good quality sleep is critical for everybody, including those living with MS. Poor quality sleep and diagnosed sleep disorders are common in people living with MS and exacerbate symptom severity and reduce health-related quality of life (HRQoL).

In MS, impacts of poor sleep on the quality of life of people living with MS result directly from MS-related lesions in brain regions that regulate sleep, and also via other MS symptoms such as pain or depression. While MS-specific sleep health guidelines are lacking in the literature, general guidelines from the <u>Sleep Health Foundation</u> can be safely applied to manage sleep health issues in people living with MS. Evidence-based strategies such as cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) and moderate intensity exercise are effective for enhancing sleep in people living with MS.

Introduction

Sleep is a temporary state of unconsciousness during which the brain becomes less responsive to external stimuli²¹⁸. It is vital for health and well-being²¹⁹, supporting growth, energy regulation, and metabolic and endocrine functions²²⁰. Sleep is now considered one of the three essential lifestyle behaviours, alongside diet and exercise, that are strongly linked to overall health^{221,222}. Healthy sleep is defined by adequate duration, optimal quality, appropriate timing, regularity and the absence of sleep disorders^{223,224}.

The National Sleep Foundation (NSF) recommends 7 to 9 hours of sleep per night on a regular basis for optimal adult health²²⁵. Disruptions affecting sleep duration, quality, or architecture are associated with various health conditions, including hypertension²²⁶, type 2 diabetes²²⁷, obesity²²⁸, cardiovascular disease²²⁹, anxiety and depression²³⁰, and cognitive impairment²³¹. Insufficient sleep has been linked to worse neurological outcomes in healthy individuals²³²⁻²³⁴, suggesting that poor sleep may exacerbate neurodegeneration in people living with MS, whose neurological functions are already compromised.

Poor sleep affects 33%–45% of the general population²³⁵, and approximately 70% of people living with MS ^{236,237}. In MS, poor sleep may arise from lesions in brain areas that regulate sleep, such as the brainstem for sleep apnoea^{238,239} and spinal cord lesions for restless legs syndrome (RLS)²³⁹. Impacts of poor sleep on quality of life can also be secondary to MS symptoms including pain, depression and anxiety²³⁹. This dual impact highlights the complex interaction between MS pathology and sleep disturbances.

Which sleep problems are common in people living with MS?

Individuals with MS experience a higher prevalence of sleep disorders compared to the general population^{240,241}. Common sleep problems include insomnia, sleep apnoea, RLS, narcolepsy, circadian rhythm disorder, and rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorders^{238,240-242}. These disorders and their characteristics are summarised in the box below (Box 1).

Poor sleep quality is strongly associated with worse MS symptoms including fatigue, pain, depression, and disability²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁸ as well as reduced HRQoL^{236,249,250}. Addressing sleep disturbances has been shown to improve HRQoL and alleviate MS symptoms²⁵¹, including fatigue, depression, and anxiety²⁵²⁻²⁵⁴. Emerging evidence also suggests that poor sleep negatively impacts the structure and function of the brain²⁵⁵, indicating that effective treatment of sleep disorders may have neuroprotective benefits for people living with MS.

BOX 1: DEFINITIONS OF SLEEP DISORDERS COMMONLY EXPERIENCED BY PEOPLE WITH MS²⁵⁶

- **Insomnia:** Difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, or waking too early and unable to go back to sleep.
- **Sleep Apnoea:** A sleep disorder where breathing repeatedly stops, causing sleep disruptions.
- **Restless Legs Syndrome (RLS):** Tingling or crawling sensations that create an irresistible urge to move the legs.
- Excessive Daytime Sleepiness (EDS): Difficulty staying awake or alert, with an increased desire to sleep during the day.
- **Narcolepsy:** A chronic neurological disorder that affects the brain's ability to regulate sleep-wake cycles, characterised by excessive daytime sleepiness and sudden sleep attacks.
- **Circadian Rhythm Disorder:** Disruptions to the body's natural sleep-wake cycle, leading to irregular sleep patterns or sleeping difficulties.
- **Rapid Eye Movement (REM) Sleep Behaviour Disorder:** A condition where individuals actively enact their vivid dreams during REM sleep, often with physical movements and vocalisations.

Recommendations for getting a good night's sleep

Specific recommendations for improving sleep in people living with MS are limited, as there is a lack of studies tracking sleep changes over time or evaluating therapeutic interventions. Consequently, the following general sleep tips (also known as 'sleep hygiene') from the Sleep Health Foundation are recommended:

- Maintain regular times for going to bed and getting up.
- Relax for an hour before going to bed.
- Avoid going to bed on a full or empty stomach.
- If unable to sleep after 20 minutes in bed, go to another room until feeling tired again.
- Avoid spending too long in bed.
- Keep distracting things out of the bedroom.
- Get some sunlight exposure during the day.
- Get 7-9 hours of sleep.
- Avoid evening naps, which can disrupt night sleep.

These tips are available in a <u>downloadable fact sheet²⁵⁷</u> from the Sleep Health Foundation²⁵⁸.

Targeted advice for better sleep for people living with MS

Non-pharmaceutical strategies known to improve sleep include CBT, physical activity, sleep hygiene education and lifestyle changes.

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)

CBT is an effective, first-line treatment for insomnia, targeting thoughts and behaviours that negatively impact sleep ²⁵⁹⁻²⁶¹. While not extensively studied in people living with MS, CBT has demonstrated positive effects on sleep outcomes in people with mental health conditions and insomnia ²⁶². Typically delivered by a trained psychologist, CBT is likely beneficial for people living with MS experiencing insomnia, and is more effective than hypnotics for long-term treatment ^{263,264}, with fewer side effects²⁶⁴. Advances in digital platforms over the last decade has also improved access to CBT for plwMS²⁶⁵.

Physical activity

Physical activity improves both sleep duration and efficiency in the general population)^{266,267}. Clinical trials undertaken in people living with MS have produced mixed results²⁶⁰ ,which may reflect variability in interventions delivered rather than ineffectiveness. Moderate physical activity offers health benefits, making it a valuable add-on therapy for sleep management in people living with MS^{268,269}.

Multidisciplinary Interventions

Preliminary evidence also supports approaches combining sleep hygiene education, lifestyle changes (smoking cessation, physical activity) and environmental modifications to improve sleep quality and fatigue in people living with MS²⁵¹. Further research is nevertheless needed to validate these preliminary findings.

Assessing sleep using wearable technology

Sleep disturbances have traditionally been assessed objectively using polysomnography (PSG), usually available in hospital-based sleep laboratories. This overnight assessment of sleep includes examinations of brain waves, breathing, eye movements and leg movements with specialised electrodes and belts attached to the skin and scalp. This allows sleep specialists to accurately define sleep quality, quantity, and diagnose any sleep disorder. Using PSG has significant limitations including cost, barriers to access and usually assess one night only. However, wearable devices such as actigraphs²⁷⁰ which are wristwatch-sized devices equipped with multiple sensors record movement data and can be worn for multiple nights in the individual's natural sleep environment²⁷¹. Actigraphs are validated against PSG²⁷², and offers a relatively inexpensive, user-friendly method for measuring sleep over extended periods in a research setting²⁷³. Actigraphy has been widely used to study sleep outcomes in people living with MS ^{274,275} in community settings. However, formal diagnosis of sleep disorders often requires referral to a sleep laboratory for PSG, the gold standard for objective measurement of sleep, and assessment by a sleep clinician.

Healthcare professionals report that over half of people living with MS they see currently use a consumer sleep tracker to monitor their sleep²⁷⁶, opening up a world of possibilities for individuals in self-monitoring sleep. While widely used and perceived as easy to use, consumer grade devices hold hidden complexity e.g. data access, fees, privacy and security issues²⁷⁷ and may not be validated in clinical populations²⁷⁰, in addition to the technical issues affecting all actigraphs e.g. difficulty in correctly differentiating light vs deep sleep, misclassification of sleep and wake²⁷⁷.

Recommendations for people living with MS

While gaps remain in the evidence base for general recommendations for getting a good night sleep²⁷⁸, following the Sleep Health Foundation's general advice for keeping good habits for getting a good night's sleep²⁵⁸ is an appropriate and well validated first step.

People with MS whose sleep is causing them concern should visit their GP for further evaluation, regarding whether they may have symptoms of a sleep disorder. Following the GP consultation, the pathway typically involves a referral to a sleep specialist for further assessment and diagnosis. Based on the diagnosis, a comprehensive treatment plan can be developed. These include sleep hygiene education, lifestyle changes (diet, physical activity), CBT, medical interventions including medicines, and utilisation of sleep devices aimed at managing OSA e.g. continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP). Regular follow-ups ensure the treatment is effective, and adjustments are made as needed.

Secondary causes of poor sleep should be reviewed as these may be suitable for specific treatments. For example, low mood, anxiety or pain will respond to appropriate treatment (CBT, medications including antidepressants and pain modifying therapies) and may, in turn, improve sleep quality.

- Follow the Sleep Health Foundation's general advice for developing and maintaining good sleep habits²⁵⁶.
- Referral to a sleep specialist may be required, for further assessment and diagnosis. Treatment may include CBT or medical interventions, such as CPAP for sleep apnoea. Regular follow-ups ensure treatments are effective and can be adjusted as appropriate.
- Address secondary causes of poor sleep, such as low mood, anxiety, or pain, with appropriate treatments (e.g. CBT, antidepressants, or therapies to treat pain), which may also improve sleep quality.
- Using consumer grade wearables (smart watches, fitness trackers) is common in people living with MS, and can be very helpful, but any abnormalities need to be followed up with healthcare professionals. It is important to note that the information provided by these devices is not always accurate and careful assessment by a health care professional is required to determine if findings are of significance.

BOX 2: FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH POOR SLEEP IN PEOPLE LIVING WITH MS

- Being overweight or obese
- Recent MS relapse
- Higher MS disability levels
- Higher intensity of MS symptoms including pain and sensory symptoms, feelings of anxiety or depression, fatigue or cognitive symptoms
- Coexisting medical conditions other than MS
- Female sex
- Unemployment
- Not having attained university level education

List of factors derived from the following references:^{236,279-281}

Considerations for healthcare professionals

Sleep health is essential for overall well-being, making poor sleep an important area for health professionals to address during consultations. This includes:

- Asking about sleep quality and identifying potential causes of poor sleep quality.
- Providing guidance on good sleep hygiene, referencing Sleep Health Foundation guidelines.
- Exploring treatable causes of poor sleep common in people living with MS, such as insomnia, sleep apnoea, and restless legs syndrome.

Use of a consumer grade sleep tracker may provide valuable information at this stage.

For individuals who are overweight or obese, discussing weight management may be appropriate, as obesity increases the risk of sleep apnoea and risk of other secondary sleep issues. Diagnoses may require referral to a sleep laboratory for PSG.

Effective treatment of poor sleep often requires a multidisciplinary approach to manage MS-related symptoms, including pain, depression, anxiety, and bowel and bladder dysfunction.

Recommendations:

- **Prioritise healthy lifestyle interventions:** Encourage regular moderate-intensity physical activity, smoking cessation, and weight management, all of which improve sleep quality.
- **CBT for insomnia:** Recommend CBT as an effective, evidence-based treatment for people with insomnia.
- Medication as a lower priority: Use medications to treat sleep issues only when absolutely necessary.

To ensure these strategies are effectively implemented in clinical practice, the **AACTT framework** provides a structured approach:

- Actor: Healthcare professionals (GPs, psychologists etc) should take the lead in assessing and managing sleep-related concerns in people living with MS.
- Action: Ask about sleep quality, provide advice on sleep hygiene, and identify treatable causes of poor sleep, and prioritise lifestyle interventions.
- **Context:** Address sleep issues during routine consultations and in discussions about overall health and MS-related symptoms.
- **Target:** Focus on improving sleep quality, managing secondary causes (e.g. pain, anxiety), and promoting lifestyle changes.
- **Timeframe**: Implement and evaluate interventions during regular follow-up appointments and ongoing care.



Stress and stress-reducing activities in MS

Summary

Acute stress is a normal part of life, but chronic stress can lead to systemic inflammation as well as significant mental and physical health concerns²⁸². Given the impact of stress on health, MS experts have included this chapter to explore complementary stress-reducing practices for people living with MS.

Chronic stress is associated with increased MS risk, relapse rates and may exacerbate certain MS-related symptoms²⁸²⁻²⁸⁵. However, defining "stress" is challenging, as perceptions vary by culture, religion, and personal beliefs. Here, stress is defined as a physical and/or emotional reaction to life challenges²⁸⁶.

This chapter reviews evidence from randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and high-level reviews on stress-reducing activities for people living with MS, and emphasises effective psychological practices, as defined by the National Centre for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH, Figure 2. Complementary health approaches, categorised as psychological, physical, and nutritional (reproduced from the NCCIH)²⁸⁶). Additionally, we identify potential barriers to engagement, and strategies for supporting people living with MS in adopting these practices.

Psychological		Physical
Mindfulness and spiritual practices	Meditation	Manual therapies
Psychotherapy	Breathing & relaxation techniques	Heat/cold
	Movement education	
	Yoga	
	Tai Chi	
	Art	
	Music	
	Dance	
	Acupuncture	
	Light/electrical/magnetic stimulation	
	Devices	
		Surgery

FIGURE 2. COMPLEMENTARY HEALTH APPROACHES, CATEGORISED AS PSYCHOLOGICAL, PHYSICAL, AND NUTRITIONAL (REPRODUCED FROM THE NCCIH)²⁸⁶.

Evidence for stress-reducing activities in improving health outcomes in people with MS

Many stress-reducing practices have been investigated for their effectiveness in improving clinical and patient-reported outcomes among people living with MS. The diversity of these practices reflects the subjective nature of "stress-reducing behaviour" as what benefits one individual may be ineffective or counterproductive for another. The NCCIH provides a structured framework for identifying stress-reducing activities, which has been used to guide this chapter. These include:

- Meditation and mindfulness
- Mind-body therapies (Yoga, Tai Chi, Qi Gong)
- Art, music, dance
- Psychotherapy (including cognitive behavioural therapy)
- Breathing and progressive relaxation
- Movement education
- Mindful eating
- Acupuncture/acupressure
- Massage therapy
- Faith and spirituality.

This chapter focuses on the most prominent activities with the highest level of evidence, referencing relevant observational studies as applicable.

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT)

CBT, a structured form of psychotherapy, focuses on identifying and changing negative thought patterns and behaviours²⁸⁷. By developing practical skills for managing stress and enhancing emotional resilience, CBT may help better regulate emotions. CBT interventions have been tested in several clinical trials for treating depression and fatigue in people living with MS. Hind and colleagues reviewed seven trials, reporting a pooled protective effect of CBT on depression (standardised mean difference=-0.61)²⁸⁸. Similarly, another systematic review of four clinical trials showed a pooled beneficial effect of CBT on fatigue (standardised mean difference=-0.47)²⁸⁹. Taken together, these results suggest that CBT may be an effective approach for improving depression and fatigue for people living with MS.

Interpretations & recommendations

CBT has been shown to improve depression and reduce fatigue among people living with MS. Consider discussing CBT with people living with MS who may benefit, particularly those experiencing depression and/or fatigue.

Meditation & mindfulness-based practices

Meditation is "*the awareness that emerges through paying attention, on purpose, in the present moment, and non-judgmentally*"²⁹⁰. Meditation practices, including mindfulness and transcendental meditation, can reduce stress and improve emotional regulation, and has been shown to have effects on MRI-based outcome measures²⁹¹. While no RCTs of meditation as a stand-alone intervention have been undertaken with people living with MS, one observational study has shown prospective associations of meditation practice with lower reports of depression and fatigue²⁹².

On the other hand, mindfulness has been assessed in many clinical trials with people living with MS and is shown to have beneficial effects on various clinical and patient-reported outcomes. The largest mindfulness RCT among people living with MS was conducted in 2010 where 150 were randomised to either an 8-week mindfulness-based intervention or usual care. Those in the intervention arm, showed a significant improvement in quality of life, and reduced depression, fatigue, and anxiety, at the end of eight weeks. This result was maintained six months later²⁹³.

Mindfulness-based interventions among people living with MS have also shown to increase quality of life and coping skills, and reduce stress, depression, and anxiety^{287,294} when delivered either face-to-face or online^{293,295-297}. A systematic review of 14 RCTs of mindfulness-based interventions also reported a significant improvement in mental health-related quality of life²⁸⁷. However, of note, there was heterogeneity in the interventions across studies, including standard or modified mindfulness-based stress reduction, mindfulness-based cognitive therapy, and interventions incorporating additional elements such as physical activity.

Interpretations & recommendations

There is potential for mindfulness-based interventions to improve mental health-related quality of life, depression, fatigue and anxiety among people living with MS. However, further high-quality evidence is required before any recommendations can be made.

Mind-body approaches (e.g. yoga, Tai Chi)

Mind-body approaches such as yoga and Tai Chi, integrate physical movement with meditation and focused breathing²⁹⁸.

Yoga has benefits for general mental health and chronic conditions²⁹⁹⁻³⁰¹, but evidence specific to people living with MS is limited. A meta-analysis of five RCTs assessing the effects of yoga practice on quality of life among people living with MS concluded no firm interpretations due to the heterogeneity between interventions³⁰². However, a systematic review of six RCTs comparing yoga with usual care in people living with MS found a pooled standard reduction in fatigue, while an analysis of four RCTs of yoga compared to usual care failed to find a significant improvement in quality of life³⁰³.



Studies of Tai Chi in people living with MS are also limited. A systematic review of 10 RCTs found that Tai Chi reduced depression but had no effects on fatigue³⁰⁴. Another systematic review of three RCTs showed benefits on quality of life³⁰⁵. Both reviews noted limitations, including small population sizes, intervention heterogeneity, low methodological quality, and insufficient follow up.

Interpretations & recommendations

Early evidence suggests yoga may improve fatigue and Tai Chi may reduce depression among people living with MS. Further studies with larger populations and clearly defined interventions are needed before any recommendations can be made.



Music and art therapies

Music therapy involves listening to and/or playing music, sometimes in combination with dance and other physical movement, to reduce stress and improve mood³⁰⁶. Two systematic reviews of studies among people living with MS showed some benefits of music therapy on gait, fatigue, and mental health. A systematic review of 10 RCTs concluded that different types of music therapy had varied benefits. For example, playing music improved manual dexterity, while neurological music therapy enhanced mood and quality of life³⁰⁷. A systematic review of 12 RCTs of music therapy for gait symptoms showed improvements in gait cadence, coordination, and speed³⁰⁸. However, small participant numbers and heterogeneity in interventions limited firm conclusions.

Art therapy, which involves creating and visualising physical art, has shown benefits for depression and mental health in the general population and some chronic neurological conditions³⁰⁹. In people living with MS, however, only one observational study of 14 women with MS found creative art therapy was positively associated with self-esteem and self-efficacy³¹⁰. Further evidence to support these findings is needed.

Interpretations & recommendations

Early evidence suggests music therapy may improve gait cadence, coordination, speed, mood and quality of life. Further evidence from larger populations, and clearly defined interventions, is required before any recommendations can be made.

Engagement with mental health practitioners

The most effective and recommended approach to managing stress and mental health is to seek professional support rather than attempting to resolve issues alone. Many mental health services are available, including clinic-based counselling, psychology, psychotherapy, and psychiatry services. These may require referral from a GP. A 2016 systematic review of 10 RCTs of psychotherapy-based interventions, with or without pharmacological elements, found significant improvement in depression in nine trials (standardised mean difference=-0.45); anxiety and quality of life were only assessed in two and three studies, respectively³¹¹.

Interpretations & recommendations

Discuss mental health and stress with people living with MS and consider potential referrals for ongoing counselling or other mental health services as appropriate.

Barriers to engagement with stress-reducing activities and potential support strategies

People living with MS may face barriers to participating in stress-reducing activities, including:

- Physical symptoms which may limit participation
- Emotional symptoms which may reduce motivation
- Accessibility which may limit access to programs and facilities
- Financial constraints which may prohibit engagement with available services.

Healthcare practitioners may support people living with MS by:

- **1. Developing personalised plans**: tailored stress-reduction plans that consider an individual's baseline stress levels, capabilities, preferences, and medical history
- **2. Accessibility**: facilitate access by recommending online classes, home visits, and community resources
- 3. Motivation: provide emotional support, goal setting, and progress tracking
- **4. Education**: provide information regarding potential benefits of stress-reducing activities and how to integrate them into daily routines
- 5. Resources: discuss financial assistance programs and low-cost or free resources
- **6. Monitoring and support**: regularly monitor the effects of stress-reducing activities on the individual's physical and mental health. Provide ongoing support and adjustments to the intervention as needed, ensuring it remains effective and sustainable
- 7. Collaborative care: foster a multidisciplinary approach involving neurologists, physical therapists, psychologists, and other healthcare providers to ensure comprehensive care.

Conclusions

Managing stress is a crucial component of comprehensive care for people living with MS. Stress-reducing activities such as CBT and mindfulness-based therapies provide the most promising evidence for reducing depression, anxiety, and fatigue, and improving the quality of life for people living with MS. However, due to small population sizes and intervention variability, it is difficult to recommend specific practices, forms, or frequencies to achieve these benefits.

Evidence for other stress-reducing activities and their impact on MS-related outcomes remains insufficient for any formal recommendations. Further research is required, particularly in studies evaluating more specific and definable MS-related outcomes. Nonetheless, stress-reducing activities should be tailored to individual needs and preferences to maximise their potential benefits.

Lipid profiles



Summary

Lipids play an important role in energy and cellular structure, including the myelin sheath that insulates nerves^{312,313}.

While lipids are biologically essential, abnormal or excessive lipid accumulation in the blood, often due to dietary factors or genetic predisposition, can lead to dyslipidaemia. This condition is a major contributor to the development of cardiovascular diseases^{314,315}.

Blood tests commonly measure triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (TC), and apolipoproteins, which bind and transport lipids such as low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C).

Dyslipidaemia is prevalent in both the general population and in people with MS, increasing with age. Evidence suggests that adverse lipid profiles in people with MS are associated with disability progression and increased MRI lesion burden. **The key message is that clinicians should regularly screen people with MS for dyslipidaemia**, following established guidelines for vascular and metabolic comorbidities for the general population. People with MS, particularly those with lipid-related comorbidities, should consult with their clinical care team, including their GP, to adopt evidence-based lifestyle changes such as optimal physical activity and diet.

Healthcare professionals are encouraged to proactively monitor lipid profiles of people with MS and consider pharmaceutical interventions, including statins where appropriate. Statins are well-tolerated and safe for people with MS when combined lifestyle-based interventions.

The link between lipid profiles and MS

Do people with MS have different lipid profiles compared to the general population?

Similar to the general population, dyslipidaemia is one of the most prevalent comorbidities in MS³¹⁶. Prevalence increases with age³¹⁷ and MS disease duration³¹⁸. Evidence on whether people with MS are more likely to have an adverse lipid profile compared to the general population is inconsistent. Some studies suggest a higher likelihood of adverse lipid profiles in MS ³¹⁹⁻³²¹, while others show no difference³²²⁻³²⁴ or even a lower likelihood³²⁴⁻³²⁶.

Are lipid profile variables associated with worse outcomes in people with MS?

Emerging evidence suggests that adverse lipid profiles may negatively impact clinical outcomes of MS^{318,320-328}. The findings are summarised below:

- **Disability** A systematic review³²⁷ and several cross-sectional studies³²⁹⁻³³¹ have shown associations between elevated levels of TC, LDL-C, and apolipoprotein B (ApoB) with disability progression and inflammatory MRI lesions in MS. Multiple studies also link dyslipidaemia to worse disability outcomes^{120,332,333,334(p20121),335}, supporting a consensus that dyslipidaemia contributes to greater disability.
- **Relapse** There is inconsistent evidence about the association between lipid profiles and relapse risk. Some studies suggest an association between adverse lipid profiles and increased relapse rates^{336,337}, while others did not find an association^{332,336,338}.
- **MRI related outcomes** Observational studies have linked adverse serum lipid profiles to increased contrast-enhancing lesions, markers of inflammation and acute disease. Prospective longitudinal studies have shown that an increase in TC and LDL-C, and a decrease in HDL-C, are associated with the appearance of new MRI lesions^{338,339}. Associations between apolipoproteins (e.g. ApoAI, ApoAII, ApoE, and Lpa) and MRI outcomes are less studied, with insufficient data for consensus^{340,341}. One longitudinal study indicates that higher HDL-C levels may reduce brain atrophy and grey matter shrinkage in people with MS³⁴¹, warranting further long-term research.

Evidence is inconclusive regarding altered lipid profiles, arterial blood flow³⁴²⁻³⁴⁵, and their relationship to MS. Limited studies show insufficient support for associations between adverse lipid profiles and cognitive decline^{346,347} or fatigue³⁴⁸. Currently, there is no evidence that links lipid profiles to pain or overall quality of life in MS.

Information that needs clarifying

Do MS medications have beneficial or detrimental effects on lipid profile variables?

Studies on DMTs, including interferon-beta, glatiramer acetate, natalizumab, fingolimod and dimethyl fumarate, show no strong adverse effects on lipid levels. Some evidence suggests a small reduction in HDL-C³⁴⁹, while others report beneficial effects such as increased HDL-C or reduced TC and LDL-C^{350,351}.

Should statins be used in people with MS?

Statins are widely used to manage cholesterol levels and prevent cardiovascular disease^{352,353}. In people with MS, statins are well-tolerated^{354(p011)} and safe, with adverse events comparable to those in control populations³⁵⁵.

Statins also exhibit immunomodulatory properties. A 2021 systematic review of seven randomised trials involving atorvastatin and simvastatin, found no significant impact on MS disease progression, relapse rates, or MRI markers (new T2 or gadolinium enhanced lesions)³⁵⁶. However, a 24-month trial of high-dose (80mg/day) simvastatin monotherapy trial in people with secondary progressive MS (SPMS) showed promising effects on disability, whole-brain atrophy, physical quality of life, and some measures of cognitive function^{357,358}. Further trials are required before recommending high-dose statins for MS management.

Recommendations for people with MS

Physical activity and dietary interventions can result in modest improvements in cholesterol levels in adults not at high cardiovascular risk³⁵⁹. While evidence specific to MS is limited, people with MS, especially those with dyslipidaemia, should consult their clinical care team for guidance. Recommendations within the physical activity and diet chapters in this document provide helpful strategies. Due to insufficient evidence for MS-specific recommendations, guidelines for the general public are advised, and the NHMRC grading method has not been applied.

Considerations for healthcare professionals

Dyslipidaemia is common in both the general population and people with MS and is associated with worse clinical outcomes (e.g. disability progression and MRI lesions). Healthcare professionals should regularly screen for and treat dyslipidaemia in people with MS. As no MS-specific guidelines exist, general screening and diagnosis protocols for vascular and metabolic comorbidities should be followed³⁶⁰. Management strategies should include both pharmaceutical options (e.g. statins, which are well-tolerated and safe in MS) and non-pharmaceutical interventions, such as <u>diet</u> and <u>exercise</u> therapy.

Medical conditions

in addition to MS (comorbidities)

Summary

Comorbidities frequently co-occur with MS, often predating its diagnosis. Physical and mental health conditions are more common in people with MS than in the general population^{316,361-366}, and their presence is associated with reduced health-related quality of life³⁶⁷⁻³⁷⁰. Comorbidities also adversely affect MS outcomes, including MS relapses, disability progression, severity of symptoms such as pain and fatigue, MRI results, employment, hospitalisation and mortality^{121,311,337,371-380}.

The overall key message is that the early detection and effective management of comorbidities in MS are essential. Both people with MS and healthcare professionals should actively address these conditions. Prevention and self-management strategies, such as maintaining a healthy diet, smoking cessation, and engaging in regular physical activity, are beneficial when supported by a multidisciplinary care team.

For evidence-based guidance, please refer to the NICE guidelines <u>Multimorbidity</u>: <u>clinical</u> <u>assessment and management</u>³⁸¹ and the recent review on managing comorbidities in MS³⁶⁰.

Comorbidities and MS

What is the prevalence of comorbidities in people with MS?

Eight systematic reviews^{316,362,363,363-366,382} highlight that most physical and mental health comorbidities occur more frequently in people with MS than in the general population, despite variations in study designs, populations, and reporting methods.

Key findings include a higher prevalence of gastrointestinal, musculoskeletal, cardiovascular and respiratory comorbidities in people with MS^{363,382}. Specific conditions more common in MS include:

- Neurological and movement disorders: Epilepsy, seizures, sleep disorders³⁶⁵, and Parkinson's disease³⁸³
- Psychiatric comorbidities: Depression, anxiety, and bipolar disorder³⁶⁶
- **Chronic cardio-metabolic disorders:** Hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, diabetes³¹⁶, peripheral vascular disease³⁶³, congestive heart failure^{384,385}, and stroke^{316,319,384,385}
- Autoimmune disorders: Various conditions^{316,364}, fibromyalgia, and irritable bowel disease
- Other conditions: Vision problems.

Prevalence of comorbidities varies by sex³²². Men with MS have higher rates of hypertension, diabetes, epilepsy, depression, and anxiety compared to women with MS³²².

Data from the AMSLS indicate that comorbidities are already common at MS symptom onset, with 65.2% of participants reporting at least one comorbidity, and 76.3% reporting multimorbidity (two or more comorbidities)³⁸⁶. The prevalence of certain comorbidities increased significantly after MS symptom onset, including depression (+27%), anxiety (+23%), hypertension (+22%), high cholesterol (+16%), osteoarthritis (+17%), eye diseases (+12%), cancer (+10%) and osteoporosis (+11%).

Are comorbidities independently associated with worse health outcomes in people with MS?

Evidence from cross-sectional and longitudinal studies shows that comorbidities significantly lower quality of life in people with MS compared to those without comorbidities^{367-370,387,388}. AMSLS data identify mental-health disorders as having the largest impact on overall health-related quality of life, followed by musculoskeletal disorders³⁸⁹.

The specific effects of comorbidities on MS-related outcomes and symptoms are summarised below.

What is the link between comorbidities and disease progression in people with MS?

- **Relapse:** Observational studies suggest that people with MS and multiple comorbidities experience higher relapse rates compared to those without comorbidities^{121,332,337,390}. Rheumatoid arthritis, anaemia^{332,337,390}, and a higher cardiovascular risk (e.g. a 31% increased relapse risk per 1-point increase in Framingham score³⁹¹) are associated with relapses. Associations with migraine^{337,390} and hyperlipidaemia are mixed^{332,337,338}.
- **Disability/disability progression:** Cross-sectional and prospective studies show that comorbidities increase disability in early MS and accelerate progression^{121,333,371,372,391-393}. MS-related and comorbidity-related disability are often indistinguishable.
- **MRI-related outcomes:** A recent review of studies of comorbidity and radiological outcomes from 2015-2022 linked vascular comorbidities to worse MRI measures, though findings vary by specific conditions³⁶⁰. Migraine and dyslipidaemia were the most studied conditions^{360,394}. It remains unclear whether these MRI changes are MS-specific or comorbidity-related.
- **Symptom severity:** Observational studies have consistently shown that comorbidities exacerbate symptom severity in MS. Examples include:
 - » Pain: depression, arthritis and migraines reported a higher severity of pain³⁷⁷
 - » Fatigue: depression and cancer had higher fatigue severity^{311,377}
 - » Physical impairments: osteoporosis and anxiety reported worsening of pain³⁷⁸ coronary artery disease reported more weakness and imbalances³⁷⁷
 - » chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) reported worsening of fatigue^{311,377}
 - » anxiety, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), depression and migraine independently were at increased risk of fatigue^{311,377}.

AMSLS data indicate mental health disorders (particularly depression) significantly impact pain, fatigue, sexual dysfunction, and cognitive and sensory problems. Musculoskeletal disorders (particularly osteoporosis) mostly affected mobility, balance, bladder and bowel problems, and spasticity³⁹⁵.

- **Employment outcomes:** Comorbidities adversely affect employment outcomes in people with MS, contributing to productivity loss and reduced workforce participation^{379,396-400}. Mental health conditions, including anxiety and depression, drive absenteeism and occupational difficulties³⁹⁸⁻⁴⁰⁰.
- **DMT initiation and choice:** A single retrospective cohort study found higher comorbidity burdens reduced DMT initiation likelihood, particularly with ischaemic heart disease and anxiety. Depression was linked to faster DMT initiation, while comorbidities did not affect initial DMT choice^{372,401}.
- **Mortality:** Comorbidities contribute to higher mortality risk in MS⁴⁰²⁻⁴⁰⁴. One large prospective study showed that at least 50% of deaths in people with MS were due to comorbidities. Specific conditions like psychiatric disorders, diabetes, cancer, and Parkinson's disease were associated with increased mortality⁴⁰³. Another large population-based study demonstrated mortality risk increased with higher comorbidity burden⁴⁰⁴.
- **Hospitalisation:** Few observational studies^{380,397,405,406} have looked at hospitalisation in people with MS in relation to comorbidities. Studies show comorbidities increase rates of all-cause and non-MS-related hospitalisations^{380,405}.

Recommendations for people with MS

Some comorbidities can be prevented or improved through a healthy lifestyle. People with MS are encouraged to adopt positive health behaviours, including a <u>healthy diet</u>, <u>quitting</u> <u>smoking</u> and engaging in regular <u>physical activity</u>, in consultation with their medical team.

Early identification and management of comorbidities are essential. People with MS should attend regular medical check-ups and proactively inform clinicians about any new or worsening symptoms between visits. As current evidence is insufficient to provide MSspecific recommendations, general public health guidelines have been recommended by the experts. Therefore, the NHMRC method for grading evidence has not been applied.

Considerations for healthcare professionals

The key message is that the timely recognition of comorbidities in people with MS is critical for achieving optimal health outcomes. Early screening is essential, as comorbidities often accumulate rapidly and worsen health outcomes early in the disease course in people with MS. GPs should routinely screen for prevalent comorbidities, such as mental health conditions (depression and anxiety), musculoskeletal disorders, and cardiovascular disorders, ideally during every clinic visit.

While evidence on effective models of care for comorbidity management in MS is limited, collaborative models of care, particularly in relation to mental health outcomes, show promise^{360,394,407-409}. Interdisciplinary collaboration between clinicians and allied health professionals is essential to ensure comprehensive management of comorbidities and to provide tailored, evidence-based information to people with MS.

For guidance, refer to the NICE guidelines: *Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and management*³⁸¹.

These emphasise:

- 1. Discussing a tailored approach to care to improve quality of life.
- 2. Assessing disease and treatment burden.
- 3. Understand and establish patient goals, values and priorities.
- 4. Review medicines and other treatments considering evidence of individual benefits, harms, and patient priorities.
- 5. Agree on individualised management plan with the patient.

Additionally, there are also specific guidelines on:

- 1. Osteoporosis in MS⁴¹⁰
- 2. The assessment and management of psychiatric disorders in $MS^{411,412}$.

Gut health and microbiome

Summary

The human microbiome refers to the complex and diverse populations of microbial cells, primarily bacteria, that naturally live within the body⁴¹³. These microbial cells that live in the gut are an area of increasing interest due to the emerging evidence on their role in the maintenance of overall human health and the development and progression of some diseases (e.g. inflammatory bowel disease and depression)⁴¹⁴. However, differences in the gut microbiome are seen even within people who are considered healthy and, therefore, more research is required in this area⁴¹⁵. While there is emerging evidence to suggest that the gut microbiome may influence the processes involved in MS, at this stage, there is not enough evidence to recommend any of the methods which are advocated for changing or improving the microbiome of people living with MS or their claimed benefits on MS outcomes.

The overall message from the experts is that while there is evidence to suggest that the microbiomes of people living with MS may be different from healthy populations, there is currently insufficient scientific evidence to recommend any interventions or techniques targeting the microbiome for people living with MS.

The link between the gut microbiome and MS

There is an increasing scientific understanding of the ability of our gut microbiome to influence our immune system and overall health⁴¹⁶ with a recent study mapping specific profiles to disease types including MS⁴¹⁷. As MS is an immune-mediated disease, the gut microbiome has been studied in people living with MS, and recent evidence has revealed there are significant differences in the composition and function of bacteria within the gut of people living with MS, compared with people who do not have MS⁴¹⁸. This finding was upheld consistently in people with different genetics, ages and genders^{419,420}. Studies in the laboratory setting have also shown that transplanting microbiome samples from people living with MS to laboratory (animal) models without evidence of MS, resulted in changes to the immune system similar to that seen in MS, i.e. an autoimmune basis^{418,419}. This strengthens the evidence for the role that the gut microbiome looks like, as there are substantial variations seen within people who are considered healthy⁴¹⁵. Therefore, more research is needed before any recommendations can be considered for MS.

Several methods are being investigated for their ability to change or improve the microbiome of people living with MS, with the aim of improving MS symptoms and outcomes. Due to the interest in the MS community, some of these interventions are discussed below, although the scientific evidence for these areas is very limited.

Faecal microbiota transplant

Faecal microbiota transplant (FMT) is a process whereby a microbiota sample from a healthy donor is transplanted into another person through an infusion in the colon, or delivery through the upper gastrointestinal tract⁴²¹. This therapy has been successfully used to treat C. difficile infections. Due to the emerging role of the microbiome in several chronic diseases, including MS, the use of FMT as a treatment option is of growing interest. Excluding preliminary case report studies⁴²², there is only one pilot clinical trial of FMT in MS⁴²³. This trial did not confirm if FMT is a suitable therapy for people living with MS due to limitations in the study design and a small sample size. There are also potential safety concerns of FMT including infection and death⁴²⁴, and the long-term effects are not yet known. Due to the lack of supporting evidence and possible associated risks, experts cannot recommend this therapy for the management of MS.

Helminth therapy

Helminth therapy involves deliberately exposing someone's gastrointestinal tract to a helminth, a parasitic worm (e.g. hookworms). This therapy is *theorised* to alter the immune response and influence MS^{425,426}. It is thought that the immune response to the parasite can dampen the autoimmune response of MS^{427,428}. Limited small studies have supported the safety of helminth therapy in the short term, and others have shown improvements in immune markers in people with MS⁴²⁶. However, one small study of longer duration (90 months) found people living with MS undergoing treatment had severe gastrointestinal symptoms⁴²⁹. While the strength of the evidence has increased for some areas such as Crohn's disease⁴³⁰, based on the limited evidence, helminth therapy cannot be recommended for people living with MS.

Probiotic supplements

Probiotics contain live microorganisms that may be beneficial for people when administered in adequate amounts⁴³¹. Probiotics are available in the form of supplements (capsules) and in some foods (e.g. fermented foods such as yoghurt and sauerkraut). To date, five clinical trials have investigated the use of probiotics in MS⁴³²⁻⁴³⁷. These trials have reported improvements in MS including the reduction of some markers of inflammation, and improvements in pain, fatigue, depression, mood and quality of life. However, further studies are required to confirm these results in larger samples with MS over longer periods of time.



Information that needs clarifying

What is the evidence for treating the microbiome with interventions or products on the market?

There is a wide variation between individuals on what a healthy gut microbiome looks like and therefore, products and services that are advertised as aiming to restore the microbiome of people living with MS are not currently supported by scientific evidence.

Recommendations for people with MS

There is insufficient scientific evidence to make specific recommendations regarding interventions such as FMT, helminth therapy or probiotics for people living with MS to improve their disease outcomes.

The best way to achieve a healthier gut microbiome for people living with MS is the same as that for the general population. This is to follow the <u>Australian Dietary Guidelines</u> (as recommended in the previous sections) or to follow traditional dietary patterns (e.g. the Mediterranean, Norwegian or Japanese diet) that emphasise the consumption of plant-based foods such as fruits, vegetables, wholegrains, legumes, nuts and seeds. Following plant-based eating patterns been demonstrated to improve beneficial gut bacteria^{435,436,438,439}. The foods in these patterns of eating contain nutrients that can benefit the microbiota such as dietary fibre (i.e. soluble, insoluble, resistant starch), polyphenols, and omega-3 fatty acids. By contrast, regular consumption of foods that are high in saturated fat, salt, and sugar appear to have a negative effect on the microbiota profile⁴⁴⁰. Research is also starting to address the concept of xenobiotics, or the impact of synthetic components related to food from agriculture, industrialisation or pollution on the microbiobal groups⁴⁴¹.

Other lifestyle factors such as physical activity⁴⁴², smoking⁴⁴³, stress⁴⁴⁴ and drinking alcohol⁴⁴⁵ also influence the gut microbiome. The effects of microbiome changes on MS are currently unclear and improving the diet by consuming, fibre-rich foods, increasing physical activity, managing stress and not smoking are recommended to maintain overall good health in people living with MS.

As the evidence is insufficient to make recommendations that are specific for people living with MS, and guidelines that are applicable to the general public have been recommended by the experts. The NHMRC method for grading evidence has not been applied.

Considerations for healthcare professionals

There is currently insufficient clinical data to recommend the use of therapies that target the microbiome in people living with MS. Probiotic and fibre supplements appear to be generally well-tolerated and have potential positive outcomes, although some therapies such as FMT and helminth therapy have potential risks associated with their use. In contrast, healthy dietary interventions appear to beneficially influence the gut microbiome without severe side effects. Therefore, referrals to an Accredited Practising Dietitian could be a way towards improving adherence to healthy dietary recommendations, which will have positive effects on the microbiome and overall health of people living with MS.

Vitamin D and sunlight

Summary

While observational studies have suggested links between vitamin D and MS risk^{446,447} and progression, as well as of sun exposure and these outcomes, current evidence does not support either vitamin D supplementation or increasing sun exposure as ways to reduce the risk or progression of MS. Experts recommend that people with MS follow the vitamin D recommendations of the NHMRC and the Ministry of Health, New Zealand for the general public⁴⁴⁸, and the advice for the general public about sun exposure for maintaining healthy vitamin D levels as recommended by a multi-organisational working group of 13 organisations, universities, and hospitals, including Cancer Council Australia and MS Australia⁴⁴⁹.

The links between vitamin D, sunlight, and MS

The links between vitamin D and sunlight are well established, with ultraviolet (UV) radiation exposure from sunlight being essential for maintaining adequate vitamin D levels that are critical for overall health. Vitamin D plays many functions in the human body, but its major role is in the regulation of calcium homeostasis and maintaining bone health. In addition to this, and of relevance for MS, is its role in modulating the immune response⁴⁵⁰. It exists in two forms: vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) and vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol)⁴⁵¹. While vitamin D2 is available, both from dietary sources and supplements, vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) is the predominant form available in most dietary supplements and is the major form consumed from animal sources and the form produced from sun exposure.

The primary source of vitamin D3 is UV exposure (UV index 3 or higher), with additional contributions from dietary sources like oily fish and supplements. In addition, vitamin D2 can be obtained from some UV-irradiated funghi and some supplements. While prescribed vitamin D injections can address acute vitamin D deficiencies, this is rarely needed⁴⁵². In the Australian general population, the contribution of dietary intake to vitamin D is generally far less than that obtained by sun exposure⁴⁵³. A healthy diet alone will not achieve sufficient levels⁴⁵⁴. Vitamin D is converted in the liver to its circulating form, calcifediol (25(OH)D), which is measured to assess vitamin D levels. It is then activated in the body as calcitriol (1,25(OH)₂D)⁴⁵⁵. This active form of vitamin D interacts with the immune system and can reduce inflammatory immune responses⁴⁵⁵, likely underlying its potential link with MS.

Additionally, UV exposure itself appears to influence immune function independent of vitamin D levels⁴⁵⁶, including direct modulation of the activities of local immune system cells, particularly dendritic cells, most immediately those residing in the skin's inner layers. This UV exposure can lead directly to the inactivation of inflammatory dendritic cells, as well as to the development of anti-inflammatory tolerogenic dendritic cells. These cells can then interact with circulating immune cells, particularly T-lymphocytes, that can have systemic effects as these T-lymphocytes can have potent impacts upon the subsequent responsiveness of these cells to other antigen exposures^{457,458}.

What is the link between vitamin D and the risk of MS?

Several observational studies have indicated a relationship between vitamin D levels and/or vitamin D intake with MS risk and substantiated in systematic reviews⁴⁴⁷. Genetic risk variants in vitamin D metabolism and function, including the vitamin D binding protein, receptor, and cytochrome P450 enzymes, have also been associated with MS development^{459,460}. Moreover, these risk variants have been utilised in Mendelian randomisation studies which have indicated a causal relationship of lower vitamin D with MS risk^{461,462}.

Until recently there had not been any substantive clinical trials assessing the effects of vitamin D supplementation on the risk of MS onset. In 2023, however, results from the Vitamin D MS Prevention Trial (PrevANZ), a world-first clinical trial funded by MS Australia, were <u>published</u>, PrevANZ assessed whether supplementation with vitamin D after the first attack suggestive of MS clinically isolated syndrome (CIS), could reduce the development of MS. In this trial, investigators randomised 199 eligible participants (presenting with a first clinical episode of CNS demyelination plus MRI evidence of at least 3 lesions, in keeping with contemporary diagnostic criteria⁴⁶³ to three potential doses of cholecalciferol (1,000IU/day, 5,000IU/day, 10,000IU/day) or placebo, and followed them for up to 48 weeks to assess treatment effects on risk of conversion to diagnosed MS. This study showed no consistent or significant evidence of a treatment effect from vitamin D supplementation and were no different across the three vitamin D supplement doses compared to placebo (hazard ratio (HR)=0.87, HR=1.37, HR=1.28, respectively)⁴⁶⁴. Results did not differ materially on adjustment for factors like age, sex, participant location/ latitude, skin colour, season, and body mass index (BMI), nor did subgroup analyses by latitude or baseline vitamin D deficiency show any material or significant differences.

The D-Lay MS trial, a multicentre clinical trial of 316 patients with CIS, presentations substantiated by brain MRI (with or without additional spinal MRI) in line with the contemporary diagnostic criteria^{465, 466} recruited across 36 MS clinics around France, evaluated 100,000IU/fortnight cholecalciferol vs placebo, followed over 24 months⁴⁶⁷. Unlike the PrevANZ trial, D-Lay MS did show a significant treatment effect of vitamin D supplementation versus its primary outcomes, (clinical and/or MRI disease activity) including a 34% reduction in clinical/MRI disease activity. However, when assessed separately, only MRI outcomes showed a significant benefit; relapse rates, disability progression, and patient-reported outcomes did not differ between groups. Notably, the treatment effect was more pronounced among participants who were vitamin D deficient at baseline, aligning with the understanding that while improving vitamin D deficiency is beneficial, there is not additive benefit of moving from replete to supra-replete⁴⁶⁸. Another important consideration for the D-Lay MS results is that most of the clinical/MRI disease activity occurred early in the trial - roughly in the first three months - while in the latter year of the study the failure trajectories were roughly parallel between groups. The interpretation of these dynamics requires interrogation of these data and further studies are needed to better understand whether and how vitamin D supplementation modulates clinical activity in early MS.

Several methodological and sample-related differences may explain the contrasting results between D-Lay MS and PrevANZ. The maximum daily dose in PrevANZ was 10,000 IU, compared to 100,000 IU every fortnight in D-Lay MS (averaging 7,143 IU/day). It is possible that higher, less frequent dosing has distinct biological or clinical effects, though this remains to be clarified. Although both trials had similar overall sample sizes (199 in PrevANZ vs. 303 analysed in D-Lay MS), PrevANZ used a four-arm design, meaning only 49 participants received the highest dose. In contrast, 157 participants in D-Lay MS received the full 100,000 IU/fortnight regimen. Follow-up periods also differed substantially, with 48 weeks in PrevANZ versus 24 months in D-Lay MS. Based on these two clinical trials and the low prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in the Australian and New Zealand populations, there is currently no strong evidence that people who have had a CIS should receive high dose vitamin D levels should be checked and vitamin D deficiency treated, as it is for the general population, as there may be a moderate benefit to treating those who are vitamin D deplete at CIS.

What is the link between vitamin D levels and disease progression in people with MS?

Multiple observational studies have been undertaken assessing the relationships between vitamin D levels and vitamin D intake measures with clinical progression outcomes in MS. Systematic reviews aggregating these results have shown that serum vitamin D levels are inversely associated with relapse and with MRI outcomes⁴⁶⁹.

However, there are many confounders to these associations and many published associations are confounded by reverse causality that is vitamin D levels are low because of the condition being studied rather than associated with the risk of progression of that condition (MS). For example, those with greater levels of MS disability are less physically active, spend less time outdoors, have higher body mass index, and are more likely to smoke, all associated with lower serum vitamin D levels.

Over the past two decades, several small clinical trials have evaluated the effects of different types of vitamin D supplementation at various doses, either alone or in combination with established MS medications such as interferon-beta, to assess the effects on MS progression, including relapses, MRI activity, disability progression, and other elements of MS clinical course and/or symptoms such as fatigue⁴⁷⁰⁻⁴⁷⁵. Meta-analyses have consistently concluded that there are no significant benefits of vitamin D supplementation on the risk of relapse⁴⁷⁶, disability progression⁴⁷⁶, MRI outcomes⁴⁷⁷, or other outcomes like fatigue⁴⁷⁸, in people with MS. While study limitations such as sample size, follow-up duration, insufficient vitamin D supplementation dose, limit interpretation of these trials, as described previously⁴⁷⁹⁻⁴⁸¹, the collective evidence is that vitamin D supplementation does not improve measured clinical outcomes in people with MS.

What is the link between sunlight and the risk of MS?

Studies indicate that people diagnosed with MS have significantly lower sunlight or UV exposure compared to those without MS. These findings are consistent across varying timeframes before the onset of clinical signs of MS, including three years prior to diagnosis, periods of childhood, and early adulthood⁴⁸²⁻⁴⁸⁵. as well as in a recent study of paediatric-onset MS⁴⁸⁶ However, across all these studies, results were inconsistent as to what the optimal doses and life periods of exposure of sunlight or UV exposure were for realising benefits upon MS risk or progression outcomes. This may be attributable in some part to the long periods of recall required when asking people about their sun-related behaviours.

Even with assistive techniques like life calendars with key life events (starting school, getting drivers licence, etc.) to aid in recall⁴⁸⁷, there are intrinsic limitations and biases that come with recalling behaviours like hours per day in the sun during childhood. The most ideal approach for assessing these relationships is a prospective study design, wherein exposures are measured and recorded at the time (e.g. childhood, adolescence, early adulthood) and then associations with subsequent outcomes evaluated. Such measurements of sun-related behaviours are not available in any studies at present, and in lieu of this, optimising methods for retrospective assessment of sun exposure, perhaps in line with the approaches developed for retrospective estimates of adiposity¹¹⁴, are the best models available to enable assessment of early-life sun exposure with MS risk and progression outcomes. In the meantime, the best recommendations regarding sun exposure are to follow the standard guidelines for safe sun exposure, with a goal to minimising cancer-related deleterious effects.

In terms of studies of UV-based interventions, there has been a single clinical trial looking at a UV exposure-based intervention, the PhoCIS trial, which randomised 20 CIS participants to narrowband UVB phototherapy versus untreated (all were supplemented with sufficient vitamin D to increase their serum vitamin D levels to 80 nmol/L). While the intervention group showed a 30% lower frequency of main study outcome, conversion to diagnosed MS over 12 months' follow-up compared to the control arm, this difference did not reach statistical significance, due to the small sample size⁴⁸⁸. The phototherapy intervention also showed effects on immune system cell proportions, including changes that may indicate a shift in the immune cell responsiveness to inflammatory triggers⁴⁸⁹. Unfortunately, as no subsequent larger studies have been conducted which may be more statistically powered to assess these treatment effects, no firm conclusions can be drawn.

The paucity of studies of phototherapy as an intervention to reduce MS conversion among CIS patients precludes any recommendations for sun exposure-based treatments in preventing MS.

What are the links between sunlight and the progression of MS?

A limited number of studies have explored the relationship between sun exposure and MS disease progression⁴⁹⁰⁻⁴⁹². One study found that higher sun exposure before a first demyelinating event (FDE) was associated with reduced progression to clinically definite MS⁴⁸⁵. Additionally, increased sun exposure during the 5-year follow-up after their FDE showed reduced conversion to MS, and those who were diagnosed with MS showed reduced relapse rates. A small pilot RCT of sun exposure as an intervention in people with MS was reported in 2019, the main analysis comparing 6 people with MS randomised to a narrow-band UVB (300-310nm) treatment (3 times weekly for 8 weeks) vs a sham light control treatment⁴⁹³. Although this study showed that the UVB intervention significantly increased serum vitamin D levels, no impacts upon clinical outcomes (ambulatory disability, cognitive performance, mood) were seen. No subsequent larger clinical trials have been reported which assessed sun exposure/UV therapy as an intervention to improve clinical outcomes in people with MS. This research gap highlights the need for further studies to determine whether sun/UV-based interventions may have utility in MS, as well as informing risk/benefit considerations of sun exposure benefits and skin cancer risk.

Are there any benefits of vitamin D or sun exposure to other clinical aspects of MS?

Few studies have examined sunlight's effects on MS symptoms, with most focusing on vitamin D. Observational studies suggest relationships between vitamin D supplementation and improvements in symptoms such as depression, fatigue^{494,495}, and quality of

life^{496,497}. A recent meta-analysis of five clinical trials of vitamin D supplementation as an intervention against fatigue found a significant aggregate reduction in fatigue in the treatment groups⁴⁷⁸. However, the trials had small sample sizes and significant variability, particularly in dosing, warranting further research on vitamin D supplementation in MS fatigue. Accordingly, this suggestive but preliminary evidence is insufficient to justify recommending vitamin D supplementation for improvement of these outcomes.

Information that needs clarifying/further investigation before consideration for practice

Why are there disparities between the vitamin D and sun exposure studies?

Sun exposure and vitamin D are inescapably intertwined: as discussed earlier, sun exposure is the predominant source of vitamin D in people in Australia, as well as people with MS in Australia. It thus stands to reason that associations, both in observational studies and clinical trials, should show comparable effects from both exposure types, if only as one acting via the other. However, in fact there is appreciable heterogeneity in the studies of sun exposure and vitamin D. There are many more studies of vitamin D than sun exposure, both observational and interventional, and this likely reflects differences in the ease of measurement of serum vitamin D levels and administration of vitamin D supplement-based interventions, in contrast to the complexities of sun exposure recall and implementation of UV-based interventions. This greater volume of studies of vitamin D and potentially more accurate and systematic measures of vitamin D exposures (mostly using serum 25(OH)D)) contrasts with the relative paucity of sun/UV studies which have a remarkable heterogeneity in the modes by which sun exposure is queried⁴⁹⁸, ranging from querying frequency/duration by season⁴⁸³ to more diverse and multi-item sun measures⁴⁹⁹. That there are thus differences in the findings for these two related but distinct parameters is perhaps not as surprising as it might first seem. That said, there is still uncertainty about whether both vitamin D and sun exposure represent distinct and independent factors in MS. Work in observational studies in Australia has indicated that sun exposure and vitamin D have independent associations with MS⁴⁸³, and the vitamin D supplementation clinical trials, particularly the D-Lay MS trial⁴⁶⁷, suggest vitamin D may act independently. However, the extent to which sun exposure realises impacts upon MS independent of increasing vitamin D levels is uncertain, even despite UV having vitamin D-independent immune-modulating effects⁴⁵⁶. Further studies are needed and until greater clarity is achieved, neither can be recommended for the prevention or treatment of MS.

Is vitamin D supplementation safe?

Initially, there were concerns that high-dose vitamin D supplementation could cause hypercalcaemia (high calcium) and hyperphosphataemia (high phosphate), leading to significant and sometimes serious symptoms such as nausea, vomiting and gastrointestinal issues, as well as less frequent but more severe outcomes like renal calculi (kidney stones) and cardiovascular complications⁵⁰⁰. However, these effects are rare and typically associated with grossly excessive doses, and even at levels as high as 300nmol/L (6-times the threshold for vitamin D sufficiency) adverse effects were rare⁵⁰¹. Most studies, including one involving doses up to 280,000 IU/week over 28 weeks, have found vitamin D supplementation to be safe, with no adverse effects on calcium or phosphate levels⁵⁰². A comprehensive review of 52 clinical trials of vitamin D supplementation confirmed no impact on all-cause mortality, further supporting the safety of supplementation⁵⁰³. Importantly, aside from the potential impacts of sun exposure on skin cancer risk, there is no risk of excessive sun exposure leading to excessive vitamin D levels. The vitamin D photosynthesis pathway is inherently self-limiting – beyond a minimal erythemal dose of sun/UVR, the conversion of precursor sterols into pre-vitamin D plateaus⁴⁵².

While sun exposure poses a potential skin cancer risk⁵⁰⁴, we would suggest it is in general a necessity as a source of vitamin D in most people in Australia. Nonetheless, routine testing of vitamin D is recommended for people living with MS who are at risk of deficiency. When vitamin D intake and sunlight exposure are both low, and serum levels indicate insufficiency (<50nmol/L) or significant deficiency (<25nmol/L), vitamin D supplementation is appropriate⁴⁵⁴. In all such things, people should consult with their medical practitioner before making any significant changes in use of supplements or other lifestyle changes.

Recommendations for people with MS

Currently, there is limited evidence to support high-dose vitamin D supplementation or sunlight exposure as interventions to either prevent MS onset or modulate disease progression in people living with MS. Instead, people with MS or those with CIS are recommended to follow the recommendations regarding vitamin D and sun exposure for the general public^{448,449}.

These guidelines, which are summarised below, aim to maintain healthy vitamin D levels and adequate sun exposure and align with similar national guidelines for people with MS^{505,506}. Importantly, vitamin D requirements vary depending on factors such as sex, age, and location, as well as pregnancy status and other significant health conditions. In all such things, consultation with a medical practitioner before making any significant changes in use of supplements or other lifestyle changes is appropriate.

Vitamin D

TABLE 2: VITAMIN D RECOMMENDED INTAKE

ADEQUATE INTAKE FOR THE GENERAL PUBLIC	mg/DAY	DOSE (INTERNATIONAL UNITS)/DAY
For infants and children	5	200
Adults aged 19-50	5	200
Adults 50-70	10	400
Adults over 70	15	600
Pregnancy and lactation 14-50	5	200
UPPER LEVEL OF INTAKE FOR THE GENERAL PUBLIC	MG/DAY	DOSE (INTERNATIONAL UNITS)/DAY
Infants (0-12 months)	25	1,000
Children over 12 months old, and adults (including women during pregnancy and lactation)	80	3,200

Importantly, it is recommended that people with MS consult with their medical practitioner prior to starting vitamin D supplementation, including potentially having their vitamin D levels measured prior to commencing supplementation.

Sun exposure

Adequate levels of sun exposure vary depending on their latitude, the time of the year, and their skin colour. As per the conclusions of the multiorganisational working group about sun exposure recommendations for Australia and New Zealand⁴⁴⁹, we recommend:

Those with dark brown to black skin (never burns) and dark brown skin (rarely burns):

• Routine sunscreen application is not needed. However, if outdoors for 2+ hours and UV index is 3+, consider sun protection/reduction.

Those with moderate brown skin (burns minimally, tans easily) to very fair, pale white skin (always burns, never tans). When the UV index is forecast to reach 3 or above: apply sunscreen as part of morning routine and if the UV index is 3 or above, use the Five SunSmart Steps:

- Slip on covering clothing
- Slop on SPF30+ broad-spectrum sunscreen
- Slap on hat
- Seek shade
- Slide on sunglasses⁴⁴⁹

All skin types are advised to seek sun protection such as covered clothing, sunscreen, a hat and sunglasses or to seek shade if outdoors for more than a few minutes in mid-August to the end of April, due to the UV levels usually being high.

As the evidence base is insufficient to make recommendations that are specific for people with MS, and guidelines that are applicable to the general public have been recommended by the experts, the NHMRC method for grading evidence has not been applied.

Considerations for healthcare professionals

There has been an increasing interest in the impacts of sun exposure and vitamin D on MS risk and progression, which has led to some people with MS taking vitamin D supplements and increasing their sun exposure, hoping for disease-modifying benefits. However, the optimal vitamin D level and method of achieving it remain undefined.

The US National Institutes of Health defines vitamin D sufficiency as a serum level of >50 nmol/L, a cutoff that aligns with recommendations in Australia and New Zealand^{507,508}. Accordingly, vitamin D supplementation is only recommended among people below this threshold.

In MS, some experts suggest aiming for summer-like levels (80–100 nmol/L) yearround, achievable with supplementation of up to 5,000 IU/day in winter and 2,000 IU/ day in summer. Regular measurement of serum levels of vitamin D is not recommended in many countries, including Australia. Maintaining levels below 120 nmol/L is advisable, though evidence from well-conducted clinical studies is limited. As with any vitamin supplementation, excessive intake can be harmful, as the body tightly regulates vitamin levels, and over-supplementation may be as detrimental as deficiency.

Dietary supplements

Summary

Dietary supplements are becoming increasingly popular among people living with MS. However, evidence supporting their efficacy and benefits in people living with MS varies. General dietary recommendations, such as those outlined in the Australian Dietary Guidelines, remain the most reliable approach to support nutrition for overall health and well-being. It is essential for people living with MS to consult their healthcare team before initiating any new supplements.

Supplements in MS Management

Dietary supplements, sometimes referred to as nutraceuticals ("pharmaceutical" and "nutrition," referring to natural compounds with potential therapeutic effects), encompass the various vitamins, minerals, and other bioactive compounds consumed in addition to those in regular diets. Many people living with MS use these supplements, with one study reporting that 73% had taken over-the-counter vitamins or dietary supplements either in the past or were currently taking supplements, in an attempt to improve their MS symptoms⁵⁰⁹. Since the supplements outlined in this chapter are accessible in Australia without a prescription, their use is not always monitored by healthcare professionals, potentially leaving people living with MS at risk of adverse effects and/or interactions with their DMTs and other treatments.

This chapter aims to provide guidance for clinicians and other healthcare professionals regarding the evidence-based research findings for supplement usage by people living with MS. While there is an increasing diversity of supplements available, including vitamins and minerals and a multitude of herbal supplements, this chapter focuses on those supplements that have been researched in people living with MS, namely:

- Alpha-lipoic acid
- Inosine
- Biotin (vitamin B7)
- Melatonin
- Coenzyme Q10
- Omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids
- Curcumin
- Ginkgo biloba
- Probiotics
 Vitamin A and caratana
- Vitamin A and carotenoids

Note – vitamin D, which is of significant interest and frequently used by people living with MS, is discussed in its own <u>chapter</u> in this Guide.

While some of these supplements have shown evidence of potential benefits to some MS outcomes, the evidence is inconsistent, as highlighted in a systematic review by Marx *et al*⁵¹⁰. This chapter examines the evidence for selected supplements and provides recommendations for their use within the MS community.

Alpha-Lipoic Acid

Alpha-lipoic acid is found in certain foods such as spinach and organ meats such as liver. It is a potent antioxidant and anti-inflammatory compound that has been suggested as a potential therapeutic agent for improving neurological function, particularly in people living with MS^{511,512}.

A RCT by Khalili et al., examined a daily intake of 1,200 mg/day of alpha-lipoic acid in 52 people living with MS over a 12-week period⁵¹¹. Participants receiving alpha-lipoic acid daily showed significant increases in serum antioxidant capacity and significant reductions in their inflammatory cytokines (IFN-gamma, TGF-beta, and IL-4) compared to the control group. However, no significant changes were observed in EDSS scores or other cytokines.

Although this is the only RCT that has examined alpha-lipoic acid in people living with MS, alpha-lipoic acid supplementation has been shown to be effective in preventing and treating experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model of MS⁵¹³. Currently, alpha-lipoic acid supplementation is being studied in two large multi-stage RCTs: the UK-based OCTOPUS study and the Australia-based PLATYPUS study⁵¹⁴. These trials will investigate the efficacy and safety of multiple interventions simultaneously, including alpha-lipoic acid, with preliminary results expected in 2025. Participants in such trials will be closely monitored, including checks on kidney function, to ensure safety.

Based on current evidence, which is currently lacking in humans pending results from the <u>OCTOPUS</u> and <u>PLATYPUS</u> trials, alpha-lipoic acid supplementation is not recommended to people living with MSto improve their MS.

Biotin (Vitamin B7)

Biotin, or vitamin B7, is found in various foods, including eggs, organ meats, nuts, seeds, cow's milk, and certain vegetables. Biotin plays a crucial role in the synthesis of myelin. High-dose biotin (HDB) involves consuming significantly more biotin than what is typically obtained through diet, (often 100-300 mg daily) which is up to 10,000 times more biotin than the recommended daily intake. Several RCTs have investigated HDB for its safety and effectiveness safety in people living with MS.

A pilot RCT by Tourbah et al. included 154 MS people living with MS with moderate to severe disability who received either 300 mg/day of MD1003 (a high-dose pharmaceutical-grade biotin formulation, taken as 100 mg three times daily) for 12 months or a placebo, followed by 12 months of MD1003 for all participants⁵¹⁵. This trial found that 13% of participants who received 300mg/day of MD1003 in the first 12-month period showed reduced disability over follow-up compared to none in the placebo group. In contrast, a large international clinical trial by Cree et al. involving 642 people living with MS recruited at 90 MS clinics across 13 countries, found that 300 mg biotin supplementation (100 mg, three times daily) did not significantly affect disability or walking speed in those with progressive MS⁵¹⁶.

Another trial by Tourbah et al. investigated biotin's effects on for the treatment of chronic visual loss related to optic neuritis in MS. This randomised, double-blind study involved 93 people living with MS, who were assigned to either biotin supplementation or placebo⁵¹⁷. This study found no significant benefits in the biotin supplementation group compared to placebo.

The absence of consistent positive outcomes, especially in large, international clinical trials, suggests that biotin supplementation, including HDB, is not an effective intervention for improving disability outcomes in people living with MS. Furthermore, severe adverse events reported in the Cree et al. RCT⁵¹⁶ raise additional concerns. Until more extensive and well-designed trials are conducted, biotin supplementation, including HDB, cannot be recommended for people living with MS.

Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10)

Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) is an antioxidant found in various foods such as organ meats, tuna, salmon, and beef. It plays a crucial role in energy production and mitochondrial stabilisation in cells. CoQ10 has shown neuroprotective effects in people living with MS by addressing key disease mechanisms⁵¹⁸. CoQ10 supplementation has been found to reduce inflammatory cytokines, oxidative stress, and improve mitochondrial function. CoQ10 supplementation has demonstrated potential in reducing the severity of EAE in animal models, by reducing inflammation and supporting remyelination⁵⁵¹⁹. In observational studies of people living with MS, decreases in pro-inflammatory markers such as TNF- α , enhance antioxidant enzyme activities, and improvements in clinical symptoms such as depression and fatigue have been found⁵²⁰.

In an RCT by Sanoobar et al., 500mg/day CoQ10 supplementation (N=22) vs placebo (N=23) was administered to 48 people living with MS over a 12-week period, resulting in significant reductions in fatigue, depression, inflammatory markers, and oxidative stress compared to the placebo group at 12-weeks⁵²¹. In another trial by Moccia et al. involving 60 people living with MS, taking 200 mg/day of CoQ10 alongside subcutaneous high-dose interferon beta-1a was associated with improved cognition and reduction in pain⁵²².

While there is biological plausibility and promising evidence for the use of CoQ10 in MS, the current level of evidence from RCTs is insufficient to recommend its routine use in people living with MS.

Curcumin

Curcumin, the active component of turmeric, is thought to have significant therapeutic potential due to its anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties. Some studies suggest that curcumin can modulate various cellular pathways and immune responses relevant in MS^{523} . It has been shown to inhibit the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α , prevent axonal degeneration and modulate Th17 cell function, which plays a crucial in MS pathogenesis. Furthermore, curcumin can enhance the expression of neuroprotective factors and inhibit neuronal cell death.

Despite promising preclinical findings, clinical trials have not yet confirmed curcumin's efficacy in improving clinical outcomes for people living with MS. An RCT by Petracca et al. investigated the effects of curcumin (500 mg/day BCM 95- micronized curcumin with turmeric essential oils) in 80 participants with relapsing MS treated with IFN-beta-1a over two years⁵²⁴. While curcumin was found to be safe and well-tolerated, it did not result in significant improvements in inflammation, MRI changes, relapses, or disability progression compared to the placebo group. While curcumin is safe and well-tolerated, there is insufficient evidence to support its use to improve clinical outcomes in MS.

Ginkgo biloba

Ginkgo biloba is a herbal supplement derived from the leaves of the ginkgo tree. It contains various bioactive compounds, including flavonoids and terpenoids, known for their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties⁵²⁵. While ginkgo biloba has been widely investigated for its potential benefits on cognitive function and memory in the general population, including dementia⁵²⁶, its effectiveness in people living with MS is not clear.

Two recent reviews summarised five studies examining the role of ginkgo biloba in managing cognition in MS^{527,528}. A four-week trial showed positive effects on cognitive processing speed, verbal learning, and fatigue, while a 12-week trial noted improvements in concentration and memory. However, a larger 12-week follow-up study with 120 participants found no significant differences in cognitive measures, fatigue, or depression between the ginkgo biloba and placebo groups. Therefore, while the smaller studies reported potential cognitive benefits, these findings were not confirmed in larger trials. Overall, while ginkgo biloba is generally safe, its efficacy in managing MS symptoms remains inconclusive, warranting further research.

Inosine

Inosine is a naturally occurring nucleoside compound found in ribonucleic acid (RNA) and is known for its antioxidant properties. Inosine can increase uric acid levels in the body, offering potential neuroprotective benefits⁵²⁹. Available as an over-the-counter supplement, inosine has been studied for its potential health benefits, particularly in neurodegenerative diseases such as MS⁵³⁰.

Three studies have investigated inosine use in people living with MS, either alone or alongside interferon-beta medications, with study sizes ranging from 6 to 159 participants, followed over periods of up to 2 years⁵³¹⁻⁵³³. Doses of inosine ranged from 2–3 g/day or were adjusted based on participants' serum uric acid levels. These studies measured various outcomes, including EDSS, MRI changes, functional capacity, inflammatory markers, and relapse rates, but none found significant differences between the inosine and placebo groups.

A recent review of both preclinical and clinical studies⁵²⁹, noted that inosine increased urate levels, and suggested potential benefits in people living with MS, including reduced relapse rates, slower disability progression, and fewer gadolinium-enhanced lesions on MRI^{534,535}. However, inosine use was also associated with adverse events, such as an increased risk of kidney stones and gout⁵³².

Given the limited evidence of efficacy and potential risks of side effects, inosine supplementation cannot be recommended for people living with MS at this time.

Melatonin

Melatonin is a neurohormone secreted by the pineal gland that regulates circadian rhythms that has been linked to MS pathophysiology. Melatonin's antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and immunomodulatory properties have made it a subject of interest for potential therapeutic effects in plwMS⁵³⁶. Research suggests that melatonin may reduce oxidative stress and inflammation, which are key factors in MS progression.

Preclinical studies in animal models of MS have also shown promising results. A systematic review and meta-analysis indicated that melatonin supplementation improved behavioural and cognitive outcomes, primarily due to its anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects⁵³⁷.

Clinical trials in people living with MS have produced mixed results. A recent systematic review of seven RCTs, found that melatonin supplementation was safe and associated with improvements in sleep, cognitive outcomes, and fatigue for some participants⁵³⁸. However, variations in dosage, duration, and assessment methods among the studies led to the conclusion that the current evidence is insufficient to recommend melatonin for routine use in improving MS outcomes.

While current evidence suggests melatonin has potential benefits on cognitive outcomes and fatigue in people living with MS, larger and more rigorous RCTs are needed to confirm its broader clinical efficacy.

Omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids

Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids are found primarily in fish oil, plant-based oils and certain nuts and seeds. The three main types of omega-3 fatty acids are EPA (eicosapentaenoic acid) and DHA (docosahexaenoic acid; 'marine omega-3' found in fish) and ALA (alpha-linolenic acid) found in plant-based foods such as flaxseed, chia seeds, walnuts, soybeans and edamame.

Omega-3 fatty acids, particularly DHA, exhibit anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties, influencing gene expression and reducing inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α and IL-1^{539,540}. Omega-6 fatty acids, found in safflower, sunflower, and canola oils, as well as tofu, walnuts, and almonds, promote inflammatory processes⁵⁴¹.

A 2019 systematic review and meta-analysis by Sedighiyan et al included four omega-3 supplement-based intervention studies where the study outcomes were change in EDSS⁵⁴². None of the constituent trials showed significant treatment effects compared to the inactive comparators, and the pooled statistic also failed to indicate a treatment effect (mean pooled difference=-0.07, 95%CI=-0.27, 0.13). Of note – three of these trials were of omega-3 supplementation in addition to a pharmacotherapy (interferon-beta or fingolimod), whereas the other trial which evaluated omega-3 supplementation plus low-fat diet showed the strongest, though still nonsignificant effect⁵⁴³. However, no other systematic reviews with multiple comparable intervention studies of omega-3 supplementation are present in the literature.

Omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids are essential for brain function and myelin synthesis, and people living with MS often have lower levels of these fatty acids. Early research suggested omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid supplementation might not significantly reduce relapse severity or duration. However, recent trials using a nutraceutical formula containing both omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids have reported significant improvements in disease progression, relapse rates, functional capacity, and quality of life^{544,545}.

Despite some evidence for the benefits of omega-3 and omega-6 supplementation in people living with MS, variations in study design, dosage, and study participant's characteristics limit interpretation. Further research is needed to determine the optimal dosage and effectiveness of omega-3 fatty acids before recommending them for people living with MS.

Probiotics

Probiotic supplements contain live microorganisms, such as bacteria and yeasts, that support digestive health and can alter gut microbiome composition. Given the gut microbiome interacts closely with the immune system, maintaining its health may help modulate immune responses, and potentially influence MS outcomes^{434,546}. However, as highlighted in a recent article, there are many unknowns regarding probiotic therapy in general health, including the most effective strains, dosages, and duration, which may vary by the individual and the condition⁵⁴⁷.

A small number of trials have shown probiotics may be beneficial for people living with MS. In one RCT, Ashghari et al. randomised 40 people living with MS to a *Saccharomyces boulardii* probiotic or placebo for four months. The probiotics group showed significant reductions in fatigue and improved quality of life, and decreased general inflammation, as measured by serum levels of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP)⁴³⁴. In another RCT, Rahimlou et al. examined the effect of a multi-strain probiotics group experienced significantly reduced fatigue, depression, and inflammatory markers including hs-CRP and proinflammatory cytokines^{437,548}.

A further RCT conducted by Kouchaki et al. examined probiotic supplementation versus placebo in 60 people living with MS followed over a 12-week period. Probiotic supplementation was associated with reduced fatigue, stress and depression, as well as reduced inflammatory markers such as hs-CRP⁴³³.

These studies suggest probiotics may reduce systemic inflammation and improve fatigue, mood, and quality of life in people living with MS. However, the small sample sizes and short durations of these trials limit their reliability. Further large-scale, long-term studies are necessary to confirm the efficacy of probiotics in managing MS.

Vitamin A and carotenoids

Vitamin A is a fat-soluble vitamin found in fish, particularly cod liver oils, organ meats such as liver, eggs, and dairy products. Vitamin A exists in different forms including retinol, retinal, retinoic acid or retinyl ester. Carotenoids, the precursors to vitamin A, are pigments responsible for the red, orange, and yellow colours in many vegetables and fruits. Both vitamin A and carotenoids help to maintain normal reproduction, vision and immune function⁵⁴⁹.

Limited studies have examined the role of vitamin A supplementation in the management of MS. Research suggests that retinoic acid may modulate immune responses, potentially leading to clinical improvements.

An RCT involving 101 people with relapsing remitting MS found daily supplementation with vitamin A (25,000 IU for six months followed by 10,000 IU for another six months) led to significant improvements in disability using the MS Functional Composite (MSFC) scale, depression, and various measures of fatigue (total, physical, psychological, and cognitive). However, no significant differences were observed in disability, as measured using the EDSS, relapse rate or MRI measures such as lesion load⁵⁵⁰.

Another RCT of 39 people living with MS assigned to either 25,000 IU of vitamin A (retinyl palmitate) daily or placebo over a six-month period found significant reductions inflammatory cytokines (IFN-gamma and TGF-beta) in the intervention group⁵⁵¹, suggesting a potential therapeutic mechanism.

While studies suggest possible benefits, the limited number and size of these studies are insufficient to recommend vitamin A supplementation for people living with MS. Importantly, people are not recommended to consume excessive vitamin A supplementation (typically over 100 times the recommended daily allowance), as vitamin A toxicity can be deleterious to their health.

Combined nutraceuticals

The term "nutraceutical" combines "pharmaceutical" and "nutrition," referring to natural compounds with potential therapeutic effects. Combined nutraceuticals can consist of a combination of multivitamins, zinc, and supplements listed in this chapter, designed to target specific biological pathways and potentially improve health outcomes in MS⁵⁵². A combination of nutraceuticals is considered a safe integrative approach for treating neurodegenerative conditions such as MS due to their lower risk of adverse effects and compatibility with existing treatment regimens.

By combining biologically potent agents, nutraceuticals aim to achieve effects on clinical outcomes that individual components may not accomplish alone. Proposed nutraceutical combinations target pathways such as oxidative stress⁵⁵³, mitochondrial function^{554,555}, or supporting neuronal health⁵⁵².

While nutraceuticals show promise and are actively researched, including by groups in Australia, no specific nutraceutical combinations targeting particular MS outcomes can currently be recommended for people living with MS and further studies are needed to establish their efficacy and clinical utility.

Current Recommendations

The role of dietary supplements in MS management is a rapidly evolving area of research. While some dietary supplements show promise, more evidence is needed to establish definitive recommendations. Currently, people living with MS are encouraged to maintain a balanced diet rich in plant-based foods, low in saturated fats, engage in regular physical activity, and consult healthcare professionals before starting any new supplement regimen.

Healthcare professionals are advised to stay informed about emerging research in this area to provide accurate advice and support. Treating physicians should be aware of the limitations and risks of supplementary treatments, including potential adverse effects and interactions with prescribed medications, to ensure a comprehensive approach to MS management.

References

- Shipley J, Beharry J, Yeh W, et al. Consensus recommendations on multiple sclerosis management in Australia and New Zealand: part 1. Medical Journal of Australia. Published online February 9, 2025. doi:10.5694/mja2.52578
- Shipley J, Beharry J, Yeh W, et al. Consensus recommendations on multiple sclerosis management in Australia and New Zealand: part 2. Medical Journal of Australia. Published online February 9, 2025. doi:10.5694/mja2.52577
- Australian Government Department of Health. Smoking and tobacco. 2024. https://www.health.govau/topics/smoking-vaping-and-tobacco/about-smoking/what-is-smokingand-tobacco#what-is-smoking
- Australian Institute of Health Welfare. Alcohol, tobacco & other drugs in Australia. 2024. https://www.aihw.gov.au/ reports/alcohol/alcohol-tobacco-other-drugs-australia
- Weld-Blundell I, Grech L, Borland R, White SL, das Nair R, Marck CH. Smoking habits, awareness and support needs for cessation among people with multiple sclerosis in Australia: findings from an online survey. BMJ open. 2022;12(7):e059637.
- Gascoyne CR, Simpson S, Chen J, van der Mei I, Marck CH. Modifiable factors associated with depression and anxiety in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2019;140(3):204-211. doi:10.1111/ane.13132
- Ponsonby AL, Lucas RM, Dear K, et al. The physical anthropometry, lifestyle habits and blood pressure of people presenting with a first clinical demyelinating event compared to controls: the Ausimmune study. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2013;19(13):1717-1725.
- Simpson Jr S, Tan H, Otahal P, et al. Anxiety, depression and fatigue at 5-year review following CNS demyelination. Acta neurologica Scandinavica. 2016;134(6):403-413.
- Marck CH, das Nair R, Grech LB, Borland R, Constantinescu CS. Modifiable risk factors for poor health outcomes in multiple sclerosis: the urgent need for research to maximise smoking cessation success. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2020;26(3):266-271.
- Poorolajal J, Bahrami M, Karami M, Hooshmand E. Effect of smoking on multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. J Public Health (Oxf). 2017;39(2):312-320. doi:10.1093/pubmed/ fdw030
- Hedström AK. Smoking and its interaction with genetics in MS etiology. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2019;25(2):180-186.
- van der Vuurst de Vries RM, Mescheriakova JY, Runia TF, et al. Smoking at time of CIS increases the risk of clinically definite multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology. 2018;265:1010-1015.
- Wingerchuk DM. Smoking: effects on multiple sclerosis susceptibility and disease progression. Therapeutic advances in neurological disorders. 2012;5(1):13-22.
- Belbasis L, Bellou V, Evangelou E, Tzoulaki I. Environmental factors and risk of multiple sclerosis: findings from meta-analyses and Mendelian randomization studies. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2020;26(4):397-404.
- 15. Arneth B. Multiple sclerosis and smoking. The American journal of medicine. 2020;133(7):783-788.
- Jasielski P, Piędel F, Rocka A, Petit V, Rejdak K. Smoking as a risk factor of onset and relapse of multiple sclerosis—a review. Neurologia i neurochirurgia polska. 2020;54(3):243-251.
- Rosso M, Chitnis T. Association between cigarette smoking and multiple sclerosis: a review. JAMA neurology 2020;77(2):245-253.
- Maroufi H, Mortazavi SH, Sahraian MA, Eskandarieh S. Environmental risk factors of multiple sclerosis in the Middle East and North Africa region: a systematic review. Current Journal of Neurology. 2021;20(3):166.
- Manouchehrinia A, Huang J, Hillert J, et al. Smoking attributable risk in multiple sclerosis. Frontiers in Immunology. 2022;13:840158.
- Mikaeloff Y, Caridade G, Tardieu M, Suissa S, KIDSEP study group. Parental smoking at home and the risk of childhood-onset multiple sclerosis in children. Brain. 2007;130(Pt 10):2589-2595. doi:10.1093/brain/awm198
- Schlindwein MAM, de Moura Campos M, Breis L, et al. Impacts of environmental tobacco smoke on the onset and progression of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Arquivos de Neuro-psiquiatria. 2024;82(S 01):A047.
- Badihian N, Riahi R, Goli P, Badihian S, Poursafa P, Kelishadi R. Prenatal and perinatal factors associated with developing multiple sclerosis later in life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Autoimmunity Reviews. 2021;20(6):102823.
- Australian Government Department of Health. Pregnancy and smoking, vaping and tobacco. 2023. https://www.health. govau/topics/smoking-vaping-and-tobacco/audiences/ pregnancy
- Bazmi E, Behnoush AH, Talebian MT, Afrooghe A, Sahraian MA. Waterpipe tobacco smoking and multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroepidemiology. Published online 2024;1-11.
- Pittas F, Ponsonby AL, van der Mei IAF, et al. Smoking is associated with progressive disease course and increased progression in clinical disability in a prospective cohort of people with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. 2009;256(4):577-585. doi:10.1007/s00415-009-0120-2
- 26. Healy BC, Ali EN, Guttmann CR, et al. Smoking and disease progression in multiple sclerosis. Archives of neurology. 2009;66(7):858-864.

- Hempel S, Graham GD, Fu N, et al. A systematic review of modifiable risk factors in the progression of multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2017;23(4):525-533.
- Degelman ML, Herman KM. Smoking and multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis using the Bradford Hill criteria for causation. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2017;17:207-216. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2017.07.020
- Heydarpour P, Manouchehrinia A, Beiki O, et al. Smoking and worsening disability in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. Acta Neurologica Scandinavica. 2018;138(1):62-69. doi:10.1111/ ane.12916
- Lie IA, Wesnes K, Kvistad SS, et al. The effect of smoking on long-term gray matter atrophy and clinical disability in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Neurology: Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation. 2022;9(5):e200008.
- Marrie RA, Horwitz RI, Cutter G, Tyry T, Vollmer T. Smokers with multiple sclerosis are more likely to report comorbid autoimmune diseases. Neuroepidemiology. 2011;36(2):85-90.
- Vong V, Simpson-Yap S, Phaiju S, et al. The association between tobacco smoking and depression and anxiety in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2023;70:104501.
- Briggs FB, Gunzler DD, Ontaneda D, Marrie RA. Smokers with MS have greater decrements in quality of life and disability than non-smokers. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2017;23(13):1772-1781.
- Weng W, Li H, Zhu S. An overlooked bone metabolic disorder: cigarette smoking-induced osteoporosis. Genes. 2022;13(5):806.
- Eva J, Olsson T, Alfredsson L, Hedström AK. Smoking and Obesity Interact to Adversely Affect Disease Progression and Cognitive Performance in Multiple Sclerosis. European Journal of Neurology. 2025;32(2):e70058. doi:10.1111/ene.70058
- Manouchehrinia A, Weston M, Tench CR, Britton J, Constantinescu CS. Tobacco smoking and excess mortality in multiple sclerosis: a cohort study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85(10):1091-1095. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-307187
- Tanasescu R, Constantinescu CS, Tench CR, Manouchehrinia A. Smoking Cessation and the Reduction of Disability Progression in Multiple Sclerosis: A Cohort Study. Nicotine Tob Res. 2018;20(5):589-595. doi:10.1093/ntr/ntx084
- Ramanujam R, Hedström AK, Manouchehrinia A, et al. Effect of Smoking Cessation on Multiple Sclerosis Prognosis. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72(10):117-1123. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.1788
- Hedström AK, Ryner M, Fink K, et al. Smoking and risk of treatment-induced neutralizing antibodies to interferon [®]₂-1a. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2014;20(4):445-450.
- Hedström A, Alfredsson L, Lundkvist Ryner M, Fogdell-Hahn A, Hillert J, Olsson T. Smokers run increased risk of developing anti-natalizumab antibodies. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2014;20(8):1081-1085.
- 41. Petersen ER, Oturai AB, Koch-Henriksen N, et al. Smoking affects the interferon beta treatment response in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2018;90(7):e593-e600.
- Tanaka E, Watanabe M, Fukumoto S, et al. Effect of smoking on disease activity in multiple sclerosis patients treated with dimethyl fumarate or fingolimod. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2023;70:104513.
- Hedström AK, Bäärnhielm M, Olsson T, Alfredsson L. Tobacco smoking, but not Swedish snuff use, increases the risk of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2009;73(9):696-701. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b59c40
- Reale M, Di Bari M, Di Nicola M, et al. Nicotinic receptor activation negatively modulates pro-inflammatory cytokine production in multiple sclerosis patients. Int Immunopharmacol. 2015;29(1):152-157. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2015.06.034
- Hunter A, Grech LB, Borland R, das Nair R, White SL, Marck CH. Barriers and motivators for tobacco smoking cessation in people with multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2021;54:103085.
- Quisenaerts C, Morrens M, Hulstijn W, et al. Acute nicotine improves social decision-making in non-smoking but not in smoking schizophrenia patients. Front Neurosci. 2013;7:197. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00197
- Salin-Pascual RJ. Relationship between mood improvement and sleep changes with acute nicotine administration in non-smoking major depressed patients. Rev Invest Clin. 2002;54(1):36-40.
- Gomes JP, Watad A, Shoenfeld Y. Nicotine and autoimmunity: The lotus' flower in tobacco. Pharmacol Res. 2018;128:101-109. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2017.10.005
- 49. Australian Government Department of Health. About vaping and e-cigarettes. 2024. https://www.health.gov.au/topics/ smoking-vaping-and-tobacco/about-vaping
- Banks E, Yazidjoglou A, Brown S, et al. Electronic cigarettes and health outcomes: umbrella and systematic review of the global evidence. Medical Journal of Australia. 2023;218(6):267-275.
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Supporting smoking & vaping cessation: A guide for Health professionals. 2024. https://www.racgp.org.au/clinical-resources/ clinical-guidelines/key-racgp-guidelines/view-all-racgpguidelines/supporting-smoking-cessation#:-text=What%20 is%20new%20-%20Guidance%20updates%20on
- World Health Organization. Tobacco: E-cigarettes. 2024. https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/ item/tobacco-e-cigarettes

- Lindson N, Butler A, McRobbie H, et al. Electronic cigarettes for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2024;(1). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010216.pub8
- Drew M, Tippett LJ, Starkey NJ, Isler RB. Executive dysfunction and cognitive impairment in a large community-based sample with Multiple Sclerosis from New Zealand: a descriptive study. Arch Clin Neuropsychol. 2008;23(1):1-19. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2007.09.005
- Feinstein A. Multiple sclerosis and depression. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2011;17(11):1276-1281.
- Friend KB, Mernoff ST, Block P, Reeve G. Smoking rates and smoking cessation among individuals with multiple sclerosis. Disabil Rehabil. 2006;28(18):1135-1141. doi:10.1080/09638280500533707
- Ditre JW, Brandon TH, Zale EL, Meagher MM. Pain, nicotine, and smoking: research findings and mechanistic considerations. Psychol Bull. 2011;137(6):1065-1093. doi:10.1037/ a0025544
- Zale EL, Maisto SA, Ditre JW. Anxiety and Depression in Bidirectional Relations Between Pain and Smoking: Implications for Smoking Cessation. Behav Modif. 2016;40(1-2):7-28. doi:10.1177/0145445515610744
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Supporting smoking cessation: A guide for health professionals. 2024. https://www.racgp.org.au/getattachment/be9bceb1-07bf-4848-8a7f-c0ce48001d2a/Supporting-smoking-cessation-A-guide-for-health-professionals.aspx
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Dietary behaviour: Key statistics and data about child and adult consumption of fruit and vegetables. December 15, 2023. Accessed August 9, 2024. https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditionsandr-risks/dietary-behaviour/latest-release
- Papadaki A, Nolen-Doerr E, Mantzoros CS. The effect of the Mediterranean diet on metabolic health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials in adults. Nutrients. 2020;12(11):3342.
- Arjmand G, Abbas-Zadeh M, Eftekhari MH. Effect of MIND diet intervention on cognitive performance and brain structure in healthy obese women: a randomized controlled trial. Scientific reports. 2022;12(1):2871.
- Katz Sand I, Levy S, Fitzgerald K, Sorets T, Sumowski JF. Mediterranean diet is linked to less objective disability in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2023;29(2):248-260.
- Eaton SB, Konner M. Paleolithic nutrition: a consideration of its nature and current implications. New England Journal of Medicine. 1985;312(5):283-289.
- Wahls T. The Wahls Protocol: A Radical New Way to Treat All Chronic Autoimmune Conditions Using Paleo Principles. Penguin; 2014.
- Wahls TL, Chenard CA, Snetselaar LG. Review of Two Popular Eating Plans within the Multiple Sclerosis Community: Low Saturated Fat and Modified Paleolithic. Nutrients. 2019;11(2). doi:10.3390/nu11020352
- Wahls T, Adamson E. The Wahls Protocol: How I Beat Progressive MS Using Paleo Principles and Functional Medicine. Penjauin: 2014.
- Atabilen B, Akdevelioğlu Y. Effects of different dietary interventions in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of evidence from 2018 to 2022. Nutritional neuroscience. 2023;26(12):1279-1291.
- Bisht B, Darling WG, Shivapour ET, et al. Multimodal intervention improves fatigue and quality of life in subjects with progressive multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. Degenerative neurological and neuromuscular disease. Published online 2015/19-35.
- Swank R, Dugan BB. Effect of low saturated fat diet in early and late cases of multiple sclerosis. The Lancet. 1990;336(8706):37-39.
- Chenard CA, Rubenstein LM, Snetselaar LG, Wahls TL. Nutrient composition comparison between the low saturated fat swank diet for multiple sclerosis and healthy US-style eating pattern. Nutrients. 2019;11(3):616.
- Jelinek G. Overcoming Multiple Sclerosis: The Evidence-Based 7 Step Recovery Program. 2nd ed. Allen & Unwin; 2016.
- McDougall J, McDougall M. The Healthiest Diet on the Planet. HarperCollins Publishers Inc; 2016.
- 74. Wahls TL, Titcomb TJ, Bisht B, et al. Impact of the Swank and Wahls elimination dietary interventions on fatigue and quality of life in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: the WAVES randomized parallel-arm clinical trial. Multiple Sclerosis Journal–Experimental, Translational and Clinical. 2021;7(3):2055217231055399.
- Yadav V, Marracci G, Kim E, et al. Low-fat, plant-based diet in multiple sclerosis: A randomized controlled trial. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2016;9:80-90.
- Zielińska M, Michońska I. Effectiveness of various diet patterns among patients with multiple sclerosis. Advances in Psychiatry and Neurology/Postępy Psychiatrii i Neurologii. 2023;32(1):49-58.
- 77. Lin X, Wang S, Gao Y. The effects of intermittent fasting for patients with multiple sclerosis (MS): a systematic review. Frontiers in Nutrition. 2024;10:1328426.
- Cignarella F, Cantoni C, Ghezzi L, et al. Intermittent fasting confers protection in CNS autoimmunity by altering the gut microbiota. Cell metabolism. 2018;27(6):1222-1235.

- Fitzgerald KC, Vizthum D, Henry-Barron B, et al. Effect of intermittent vs. daily calorie restriction on changes in weight and patient-reported outcomes in people with multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2018;23:33-39.
- Thomsen HL, Jessen EB, Passali M, Frederiksen JL. The role 80 f gluten in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. Mult Scle Relat Disord. 2019;27:156-163. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2018.10.019 w Mult Scle
- Dietitians Australia. Diet and nutrition health advice: Gluten free diets. April 20, 2023. https://dietitiansaustralia.org.au/ health-advice/gluten-free-diets#:-:text=lf%20not%20treated%20with%20a%20gluten-free%20diet,%20long-term%20 consequences%20could
- Burgos R, Bretón I, Cereda E, et al. ESPEN guideline clinical nutrition in neurology. Clinical Nutrition. 2018;37(1):354-396 82
- Katz Sand I, Fitzgerald KC, Gu Y, et al. Dietary factors and 83. MRI metrics in early Multiple Sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2021;53:103031.
- 84 Temperley IA. Seldon AN. Reckord MA. et al. Dairy and gluten in disease activity in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal–Experimental, Translational and Clinical. 2023;9(4):20552173231218107.
- Mohan SD, Peterson S, Brenton JN, et al. Association of nutritional intake with clinical and imaging activity in 85. pediatric multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal 2024;30(8):1056-1065.
- Simpson-Yap S, Nag N, Probst Y, Reece JC, Jelinek GA, Neate S. Prospective associations of better quality of the diet with improved quality of life over 7.5 years in people with multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2022;60:103710.
- Zhao H, Wang M, Peng X, et al. Fish consumption in multiple health outcomes: An umbrella review of meta-analyses of observational and clinical studies. Annals of Translational Medicine. 2023;11(3):152. 87
- D'hooghe M, Haentjens P, Nagels G, De Keyser J. Alcohol, 88. coffee, fish, smoking and disease progression in multiple sclerosis. European Journal of Neurology. 2012;19(4):616-624.
- Jelinek GA, Hadgkiss EJ, Weiland TJ, Pereira NG, Marck CH, van der Meer DM. Association of fish consumption and omega 3 supplementation with quality of life, disability and disease activity in an international cohort of people with multiple sclerosis. International Journal of Neuroscience. 89 2013;123(11):792-801.
- Lu H, Wu PF, Zhang W, Xia K. Coffee consumption is not associated with risk of multiple sclerosis: A Mendelian ran-domization study. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2020;44:102300. 90.
- Ivashynka A, Leone MA, Barizzone N, et al. The impact of 91 lifetime coffee and tea loads on Multiple Sclerosis severity. Clinical nutrition ESPEN. 2022;47:199-205.
- Jakimovski D, Guan Y, Ramanathan M, Weinstock-Guttmar 92 Jakimovski D, Guan T, Ramanatian M, Weinstock-Gutman B, Zivadinov R. Lifestyle-based modifiable risk factors in mul-tiple sclerosis: review of experimental and clinical findings. Neurodegenerative disease management. 2019;9(3):149-172.
- Diaz-Cruz C, Chua AS, Malik MT, et al. The effect of alcohol 93. and red wine consumption on clinical and MRI outcomes in nultiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders 2017;17:47-53
- World Health Organization. Sodium reduction. Accessed August 9, 2024. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/salt-reduction
- Fitzgerald KC, Munger KL, Hartung H, et al. Sodium intake 95 and multiple sclerosis activity and progression in BENEFIT Annals of neurology. 2017;82(1):20-29.
- Coe S, Tektonidis TG, Coverdale C, et al. A cross sectional assessment of nutrient intake and the association of the inflammatory properties of nutrients and foods with symp-96. tom severity in a large cohort from the UK Multiple Sclerosis Registry. Nutrition Research. 2021;85:31-39.
- Probst Y, Mowbray E, Svensen E, Thompson K. A systematic review of the impact of dietary sodium on autoimmunity and inflammation related to multiple sclerosis. Advances in Nutrition. 2019;10(5):902-910. 97.
- Australian Government Department of Health. Australian Dietary Guidelines.; 2013. https://www.eatforhealth.gov.au/ sites/default/files/content/n55_australian_dietary_guidelines.pdf
- National Health and Medical Research Council. Eat For Health Australian Dietary Guidelines. National Health and Medical Research Council; 2013. www.nhmrc.gov.au/guide lines-publications/n55
- Samara A, Cantoni C, Piccio L, Cross AH, Chahin S 100 Obesity, gut microbiota, and multiple sclerosis: Unravel the connection. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders 2023;76:104768.
- Giannopapas V, Stefanou MI, Smyrni V, et al. Waist circumference and body mass index as predictors of disability progression in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Journal of Clinical Medicine, 2024;13(6):1739
- Dinov D, Brenton JN. Environmental influences on risk and 102. disease course in pediatric multiple sclerosis. In: Vol 46 Elsevier; 2023:101049.
- Neto A, Fernandes A, Barateiro A. The complex relation-103. ship between obesity and neurodegenerative diseases: an updated review. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience. 2023:17:1294420.
- World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. 2024 Accessed October 31, 2024. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight
- Rubino F, Cummings DE, Eckel RH, et al. Definition and 105 diagnostic criteria of clinical obesity. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. Published online 2025.
- Kawada T. Prediction of Adiposity by Body Mass Index in Patients With Multiple Sclerosis. Archives of Physical Medi-cine and Rehabilitation. 2016;97(9):1598-1599. doi:10.1016/j. apmr.2016.06.015

- Pilutti LA, Motl RW. Body Mass Index Underestimates Adiposity in Persons With Multiple Sclerosis. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2016;97(3):405-412. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2015.09.014
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Waist circumference and BMI. 2023. Accessed October 31, 2024. https://www.abs.gov.au/ statistics/health/health-conditions-and-risks/waist-circum-ference-and-bmi/latest-release 108
- Mohammadi M, Mohammadi A, Habibzadeh A, et al. Ab-109. normal body mass index is associated with risk of multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Obesity Research & Clinical Practice. 2024;18(5):311-321. doi:10.1016/j. orcp.2024.11.005
- Stampanoni Bassi M, lezzi E, Buttari F, et al. Obesity worsens central inflammation and disability in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. Published online June 4, 2019:1352458519853473. doi:10.1177/1352458519853473 110.
- Gianfrancesco MA, Glymour MM, Walter S, et al. Causal 111 Effect of Genetic Variants Associated With Body Mass Index on Multiple Sclerosis Susceptibility. An J Epidemiol. 2017;185(3):162-171. doi:10.1093/aje/kww120
- Abna Z, Fazeli SA, Mirhashemi S, et al. A narrative review 112. study on the effects of obesity and bariatric surgery on multiple sclerosis. Annals of Indian Academy of Neurology 2021:24(5):664-667
- Jacobs BM, Noyce AJ, Giovannoni G, Dobson R. BMI and low vitamin D are causal factors for multiple sclerosis: A Mendelian Randomization study. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neu-roinflamm. 2020;7(2). doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000000662 11.3
- Munger KL, Chitnis T, Ascherio A. Body size and risk of N 114 in two cohorts of US women. Neurology. 2009;73(19):1543-1550. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c0d6e0
- Holz A, Obi N, Ahrens W, et al. Childhood and adolescence factors and multiple sclerosis: results from the German National Cohort (NAKO). BMC neurology. 2024;24(1):123. 115.
- Misicka E, Gunzler D, Albert J, Briggs FB. Characterizing 116. causal relationships of visceral fat and body shape on mul-tiple sclerosis risk. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2023;79:104964.
- Marrie R, Horwitz R, Cutter G, Tyry T, Campagnolo D, Vollmer T. High frequency of adverse health behav-iors in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2009;15(1):105-113. doi:10.1177/1352458508096680
- Pilutti LA, McAuley E, Motl RW. Weight status and disability 118. in multiple sclerosis: An examination of bi-diractic associations over a 24-month period. Mult Scler R 2012;1(3):139-144. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2012.02.004 Relat Disc
- Lutfullin I, Eveslage M, Bittner S, et al. Association of obesity 119. with disease outcome in multiple sclerosis. Journal of Neurol-ogy, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry. 2023;94(1):57-61.
- Tettey P, Simpson S, Taylor B, et al. An adverse lipid profile and increased levels of adiposity significantly predict clinical course after a first demyelinating event. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2017;88(5):395-401. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2016-315037 120
- Marck CH, Neate SL, Taylor KL, Weiland TJ, Jelinek GA. 121. Prevalence of Comorbidities, Overweight and Obesity in an International Sample of People with Multiple Sclerosis and Associations with Modifiable Lifestyle Factors. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(2):e0148573. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0148573
- Cambil-Martín J, Galiano-Castillo N, Muñoz-Hellín E, et al. In-fluence of body mass index on psychological and functional outcomes in patients with multiple sclerosis: a cross al study. Nutr Neurosci. 2016;19(2):79-85. doi:10.1179/1476830 514Y.0000000156
- Powell B, Mills R, Tennant A, Young CA, Langdon D. Stigm and health outcomes in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. BMC neurology. 2024;24(1):346.
- Bruce JM, Cozart JS, Shook RP, et al. Modifying diet and exercise in multiple sclerosis (MODEMS): A randomized controlled trial for behavioral weight loss in adults with 124 multiple sclerosis and obesity. Multiple Sclerosis Journal 2023;29(14):1860-1871.
- Kaye AD, Sala KR, Abbott BM, et al. The Role of Gluca-gon-Like Peptide-1 Agonists in the Treatment of Multiple Sclerosis: A Narrative Review. Cureus. 2024;16(8).
- Shirani A. Cross AH. Stuve O. Exploring the association 126 Silinaria A, Citos Ani, Sutre O. Exploring the association between weight loss-inducing medications and multiple scle-rosis: insights from the FDA adverse event reporting system database. Therapeutic Advances in Neurological Disorders. 2024;17:17562864241241383.
- Shahsavan M, Amr B, Chiappetta S, Kermansaravi M. Effect of metabolic and bariatric surgery on the clinical course of multiple sclerosis in patients with severe obesity: a systemat-ic review. Obesity Surgery. 2023;33(7):2219-2228.
- Eisenberg D, Shikora SA, Aarts E, et al. 2022 American Society of Metabolic and Bariatric Surgery (ASMBS) and International Federation for the Surgery of Obesity and Metabolic Disorders (IFSO) indications for metabolic and bariatric surgery. Published online 2023.
- National Health and Medical Research Council. Clinical 129 National Health and Healtan Research Council, Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults, Adolescents and Children in Australia; 2013. https://www.lhealth.gov.au/internet/main/publishing. nsf/Content/obesityguidelines-index.htm
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). 130 Desity: Identification, assessment and management clinical guideline. 2025. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ ng246/resources/overweight-and-obesity-manage-ment-pdf-66143959958725
- Marck CH, Weld-Blundell IV, Klaic M, Motl RW, Learmonth YC 131. The actionability of physical activity guidelines for multiple sclerosis care: a systematic review and AACTT framework analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation Published online 2024
- 132 Bouchard CE, Shephard RJ, Stephens TE. Physical activity, fitness, and health: international proceedings and conse statement. In: Human Kinetics Publishers; 1994.

- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinc-tions for health-related research. Public health reports. 1985;100(2):126.
- Learmonth YC. Motl RW. Exercise training for multiple 13/ Sclerosis: a narrative review of history, benefits, safety, guide-lines, and promotion. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2021;18(24):13245.
- 135. Khan KM, Thompson AM, Blair SN, et al. Sport and exercise as contributors to the health of nations. The Lancet 2012;380(9836):59-64. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60865-4
- Rimmer JH. Chen MD. McCubbin JA. Drum C. Peterson J. 136. Exercise intervention research on persons with disabilities: what we know and where we need to go. American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation. 2010;89(3):249-263.
- de Souto Barreto P, Cesari M, Andrieu S, Vellas B, Rolland Y. 137 Dysical activity and incident chronic diseases: a longitudinal observational study in 16 European countries. American Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2017;52(3):373-378.
- Andreu-Caravaca L, Ramos-Campo DJ, Chung LH, Marti-nez-Rodriguez A, Rubio-Arias JÁ. Effects and optimal dos-age of resistance training on strength, functional capacity, balance, general health perception, and fatigue in people 138 with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analy-sis. Disability and rehabilitation. 2023;45(10):1595-1607.
- Andreu-Caravaca L, Ramos-Campo DJ, Chung LH, Ru-bio-Arias JÁ. Dosage and effectiveness of aerobic training on cardiorespiratory fitness, functional capacity, balance, and fatigue in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2021;102(9):1826-1839. 139
- Du L, Xi H, Zhang S, et al. Effects of exercise in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Frontiers in public health. 2024;12:1387658. 140.
- Ahola K, Dorstyn D, Prideaux N. Best practice exercise for emerging depression in multiple sclerosis: A system-atic review and meta-analysis. Clinical Rehabilitation. 2024:38(9):1171-1187
- Li G, You Q, Hou X, et al. The effect of exercise on cognitive function in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Journal of neurology. 2023;270(6):2908-2923. 142.
- Shariat A, Najafabadi MG, Fard ZS, Nakhostin-Ansari A, Shaw 143. Start of the analysis of balance, fatigue, and motor function following aquatic therapy in pa-tients with multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2022;68:104107.
- Taul-Madsen L, Connolly L, Dennett R, Freeman J, Dalgas U, 144. Hadi-Madsen IC controlly C, Denniett K, Pretenian J, Dalgash Hvid LG. Is aerobic or resistance training the most effective exercise modality for improving lower extremity physical function and perceived fatigue in people with multiple sclerosis? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2021;102(10):2032-2048.
- Kjølhede T, Vissing K, Dalgas U. Multiple sclerosis and 145. progressive resistance training: a systematic review. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2012;18(9):1215-1228.
- Langeskov-Unristensen M, Heine M, Kwakkel G, Dalgas U. Aerobic capacity in persons with multiple sclerosis: a system atic review and meta-analysis. Sports Medicine. 2015;45:905-923. Langeskov-Christensen M, Heine M, Kwakkel G, Dalgas U 146
- Platta ME, Ensari I, Motl RW, Pilutti LA. Effect of exercise 147 rianing on fitness in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analy-sis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2016;97(9):1564-1572.
- Latimer-Cheung AE, Pilutti LA, Hicks AL, et al. Effects of exercise training on fitness, mobility, fatigue, and health-re-lated quality of life among adults with multiple sclerosis: a 148. systematic review to inform guideline development. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2013;94(9):1800-1828
- Edwards T, Pilutti LA. The effect of exercise training in adults with multiple sclerosis with severe mobility disability: a systematic review and future research directions. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2017;16:31-39. 149.
- Ergul M, Nodehi Moghadam A, Soh R. The effectiveness 150. Eight ny toccim togethan spatiality on functional clinical outcomes in patients with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of clinical trials. European Journal of Physiotherapy. 2022;24(1):21-29.
- Pearson M, Dieberg G, Smart N. Exercise as a therapy for 151. improvement of walking ability in adults with multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2015;96(7):1339-1348.
- Learmonth YC, Ensari I, Motl RW. Physiotherapy and walking outcomes in adults with multiple sclerosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Physical Therapy Reviews. 2016;21(3-6):60-172.
- Bae M, Kasser SL. High intensity exercise training on functional outcomes in persons with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 153 2023;75:104748
- Ghahfarrokhi MM, Banitalebi E, Negaresh R, Motl RW. Home-based exercise training in multiple sclerosis: a systematic re-view with implications for future research. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2021;55:103177.
- 155. Dalgas U, Stenager E, Sloth M, Stenager E. The effect of exercise on depressive symptoms in multiple sclerosis based on a meta-analysis and critical review of the literature. European journal of neurology. 2015;22(3):443-e34.
- Heine M, van de Port I, Rietberg MB, van Wegen EE, Kwakkel 156. G. Exercise therapy for fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Cochrane database of systematic reviews, 2015:(9).
- Moss-Morris R, Harrison AM, Safari R, et al. Which behavioural and exercise interventions targeting fatigue show the most promise in multiple sclerosis? A systematic review with narrative synthesis and meta-analysis. Behaviour research and therapy. 2021;137:103464. 157

- Pilutti LA, Greenlee TA, Motl RW, Nickrent MS, Petruzzello SJ. Effects of exercise training on fatigue in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. Psychosomatic medicine. 2013;75(6):575-580.
- 159. Paltamaa J, Sjögren T, Peurala S, Heinonen A. Effects of physiotherapy interventions on balance in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Published online 2012.
- 160. Salari N, Hayati A, Kazeminia M, et al. The effect of exercise on balance in patients with stroke, Parkinson, and multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. Neurological Sciences. Published online 2022;1-19.
- 161. Wallin A, Johansson S, Brincks J, Dalgas U, Franzén E, Callesen J. Effects of balance exercise interventions on balancer-related performance in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair. 2024;38(10):775-790.
- Sandroff BM, Motl RW, Scudder MR, DeLuca J. Systematic, evidence-based review of exercise, physical activity, and physical fitness effects on cognition in persons with multiple sclerosis. Neuropsychology review. 2016;26:271-294.
- 163. Ensari I, Motl RW, Pilutti LA. Exercise training improves depressive symptoms in people with multiple sclerosis: results of a meta-analysis. Journal of psychosomatic research. 2014;76(6):465-471.
- 164. Adamson BC, Ensari I, Motl RW. Effect of exercise on depressive symptoms in adults with neurologic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2015;96(7):1329-1338.
- 165. Kyriakatis GM, Lykou PM, Dimitriadis Z, Besios T. Efficacy of remote exercise and physiotherapy programs on depressive symptoms in people with multiple sclerosis-A systematic review and meta-analysis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2023;79:105067.
- 166. Beratto L, Bressy L, Agostino S, Malandrone F, Brichetto G, Ponzano M. The effect of exercise on mental health and health-related quality of life in individuals with multiple sclerosis: A Systematic review and meta-analysis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2024;83:105473.
- 167. Flores VA, Šilić P, DuBose NG, Zheng P, Jeng B, Motl RW. Effects of aerobic, resistance, and combined exercise training on health-related quality of life in multiple sclerosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2023;75:104746.
- 168. Gitman V, Moss K, Hodgson D. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of non-pharmacological interventions on quality of life in adults with multiple sclerosis. European journal of medical research. 2023;28(1):294.
- Leavitt V, Cirnigliaro C, Cohen A, et al. Aerobic exercise increases hippocampal volume and improves memory in multiple sclerosis: preliminary findings. Neurocase. 2014;20(6):695-697.
- Sandroff BM, Johnson CL, Motl RW. Exercise training effects on memory and hippocampal viscoelasticity in multiple sclerosis: a novel application of magnetic resonance elastography. Neuroradiology. 2017;59:61-67.
- Pilutti LA, Dlugonski D, Sandroff BM, Klaren R, Motl RW. Randomized controlled trial of a behavioral intervention targeting symptoms and physical activity in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2014;20(5):594-601.
- Sadeghi Bahmani D, Kesselring J, Papadimitriou M, et al. In patients with multiple sclerosis, both objective and subjective sleep, depression, fatigue, and paresthesia improved after 3 weeks of regular exercise. Frontiers in psychiatry. 2019;10:265.
- Ranadive SM, Yan H, Weikert M, et al. Vascular dysfunction and physical activity in multiple sclerosis. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 2012;44(2):238-243.
- 174. Wens I, Eijnde BO, Hansen D. Muscular, cardiac, ventilatory and metabolic dysfunction in patients with multiple sclerosis: Implications for screening, clinical care and endurance and resistance exercise therapy, a scoping review. J Neurol Sci. 2016;367:107-121. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2016.05.050
- Bellisario V, Squillacioti G, Ghelli F, et al. Inflammation and Physical activity in Multiple Sclerosis patients. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Complementary therapies in medicine. Published online 2024:103040.
- Negaresh R, Motl R, Zimmer P, Mokhtarzade M, Baker J. Effects of exercise training on multiple sclerosis biomarkers of central nervous system and disease status: a systematic review of intervention studies. European journal of neurology. 2019;26(5):711-721.
- Shobeiri P, Seyedmirzaei H, Karimi N, et al. IL-6 and TNFresponses to acute and regular exercise in adult individuals with multiple sclerosis (MS): a systematic review and meta-analysis. European Journal of Medical Research, 2022;27(1):185.
- 178. Shobeiri P, Karimi A, Momtazmanesh S, et al. Exercise-induced increase in blood-based brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of exercise intervention trials. PloS one. 2022;17(3):e0264557.
- Hortobágyi T, Vetrovsky T, Balbim GM, et al. The impact of aerobic and resistance training intensity on markers of neuroplasticity in health and disease. Ageing research reviews. 2022;80:101698.
- 180. Najafi P, Hadizadeh M, Cheong JPG, Mohafez H, Abdullah S. Cytokine profile in patients with multiple sclerosis following exercise: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2022;19(13):8151.
- Proschinger S, Kuhwand P, Rademacher A, et al. Fitness, physical activity, and exercise in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review on current evidence for interactions with disease activity and progression. Journal of neurology. 2022;269(6):2922-2940.
- Sandroff BM, Jones CD, Baird JF, Motl RW. Systematic review on exercise training as a neuroplasticity-inducing behavior in multiple sclerosis. Neurorehabilitation and neural repair. 2020;34(7):575-588.

- Wong VL, Holahan MR. A systematic review of aerobic and resistance exercise and inflammatory markers in people with multiple sclerosis. Behavioural pharmacology. 2019;30(8):652-659.
- Motl RW, Sandroff BM. Benefits of exercise training in multiple sclerosis. Current neurology and neuroscience reports. 2015;15:1-9.
- Gunn H, Markevics S, Haas B, Marsden J, Freeman J. Systematic review: the effectiveness of interventions to reduce falls and improve balance in adults with multiple sclerosis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation 2015;96(10):1898-1912.
- Pilutti LA, Platta ME, Motl RW, Latimer-Cheung AE. The safety of exercise training in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2014;343(1-2):3-7
- Learmonth YC, P Herring M, Russell DI, et al. Safety of exercise training in multiple sclerosis: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2023;29(13):1604-1631.
- Casey B, Coote S, Galvin R, Donnelly A. Objective physical activity levels in people with multiple sclerosis: meta-analysis. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2018;28(9):1960-1969.
- 189. Kinnett-Hopkins D, Adamson B, Rougeau K, Motl RW. People with MS are less physically active than healthy controls but as active as those with other chronic diseases: An updated meta-analysis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;13:38-43. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2017.01.016
- Jeng B, DuBose NG, Martin TB, et al. Updated systematic review and quantitative synthesis of physical activity levels in multiple sclerosis. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 2024;103(4):284-292.
- Macdonald E, Buchan D, Cerexhe L, Renfrew L, Sculthorpe N. Accelerometer measured physical activity and sedentary time in individuals with multiple sclerosis versus age matched controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2023;69:104462.
- Zheng P, DeJonge SR, Flores VA, Jeng B, Motl RW. Systematic review and meta-analysis of sedentary behavior in persons with multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2023;80:105124.
- Frohman TC, Davis SL, Beh S, Greenberg BM, Remington G, Frohman EM. Uhthoff's phenomena in MS--clinical features and pathophysiology. Nat Rev Neurol. 2013;9(9):535-540. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.98
- Chaseling GK, Filingeri D, Barnett M, Hoang P, Davis SL, Jay O. Cold Water Ingestion Improves Exercise Tolerance of Heat-Sensitive People with MS. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2018;50(4):643-648. doi:10.1249/MSS.0000000000001496
- 195. Stevens CJ, Singh G, Peterson B, Vargas NT, Périard JD. The effect of cooling garments to improve physical function in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2023;78:104912.
- Campbell E, Coulter EH, Mattison PG, Miller L, McFadyen A, Paul L. Physiotherapy rehabilitation for people with progressive multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2016;97(1):141-151.
- Lamers I, Maris A, Severijns D, et al. Upper limb rehabilitation in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Neurorehabilitation and neural repair. 2016;30(8):773-793.
- Etoom M, Khraiwesh Y, Lena F, et al. Effectiveness of physiotherapy interventions on spasticity in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation. 2018;97(11):793-807.
- Latimer-Cheung AE, Ginis KAM, Hicks AL, et al. Development of evidence-informed physical activity guidelines for adults with multiple sclerosis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2013;94(9):1829-1836.
- Kim Y, Lai B, Mehta T, et al. Exercise Training Guidelines for Multiple Sclerosis, Stroke, and Parkinson Disease: Rapid Review and Synthesis. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;98(7):613-621. doi:10.1097/PHM.000000000001174
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. Canadian physical activity guidelines for adults with multiple sclerosis. Published online 2013.
- Kalb R, Brown TR, Coote S, et al. Exercise and lifestyle physical activity recommendations for people with multiple sclerosis throughout the disease course. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2020;26(12):1459-1469.
- Hoang PD, Lord S, Gandevia S, Menant J. Exercise and Sports Science Australia (ESSA) position statement on exercise for people with mild to moderate multiple sclerosis. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport. 2022;25(2):146-154.
- 204. Sangelaji B, Smith CM, Paul L, Sampath KK, Treharne GJ, Hale LA. The effectiveness of behaviour change interventions to increase physical activity participation in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clinical rehabilitation. 206;30(6):559-576.
- 205. Motl RW, Casey B, Learmonth YC, et al. The MoXFo initiative-adherence: Exercise adherence, compliance and sustainability among people with multiple sclerosis: An overview and roadmap for research. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2023;29(13):1595-1603.
- 206. Baynton SL, Mavropalias G, Inderpreet K, van Rens F, Learmonth YC. Identifying Preferences for Exercise and Sport in Australians With Mild Multiple Sclerosis: Looking Beyond Clinical Characteristics when Implementing Exercise Interventions. Clinical journal of sport medicine. Published online November 2024.
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2003;35(8):1381-1395.
- Motl RW, Learmonth YC, Pilutti LA, Dlugonski D, Klaren R. Validity of minimal clinically important difference values for the multiple sclerosis walking scale-12? European neurology. 2014;71(3-4):196-202.

- 209. Learmonth Y, Dlugonski D, Pilutti L, Sandroff B, Klaren R, Motl R. Psychometric properties of the fatigue severity scale and the modified fatigue impact scale. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2013;331(1-2):102-107.
- Learmonth YC, Dlugonski DD, Pilutti LA, Sandroff BM, Motl RW. The reliability, precision and clinically meaningful change of walking assessments in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2013;19(13):1784-1791.
- Learmonth YC, Paul L, McFadyen AK, Mattison P, Miller L. Reliability and clinical significance of mobility and balance assessments in multiple sclerosis. International Journal of Rehabilitation Research. 2012;35(1):69-74.
- Sikes EM, Richardson EV, Cederberg KJ, Sasaki JE, Sandroff BM, Motl RW. Use of the Godin leisure-time exercise questionnaire in multiple sclerosis research: a comprehensive narrative review. Disability and rehabilitation. 2019;41(11):1243-1267.
- Motl RW, McAuley E, Suh Y. Validity, invariance and responsiveness of a self-report measure of functional limitations and disability in multiple sclerosis. Disability and rehabilitation. 2010;32(15):1260-1271.
- Chiu CY, Motl RW, Further validation of the multiple sclerosis Self-Efficacy scale. Disability and rehabilitation. 2015;37(26):2429-2438.
- 215. Donkers SJ, Chan K, Milosavljevic S, Pakosh M, Musselman KE. Informing the training of health care professionals to implement behavior change strategies for physical activity promotion in neurorehabilitation: a systematic review. Translational Behavioral Medicine. 2020;10(1):310-323.
- 216. Dalgas U, Langeskov-Christensen M, Stenager E, Riemenschneider M, Hvid LG. Exercise as medicine in multiple sclerosis—time for a paradigm shift: preventive, symptomatic, and disease-modifying aspects and perspectives. Current neurology and neuroscience reports. 2019;19:1-12.
- Learmonth Y, Galna B, Laslett L, van der Mei I, Marck C. Improving telehealth for persons with multiple sclerosis–a cross-sectional study from the Australian MS longitudinal study. Disability and rehabilitation. 2024;46(20):4755-4762.
- 218. Schupp M, Hanning CD. Physiology of sleep. Bja Cepd Reviews. 2003;3(3):69-74.
- Ramar K, Malhotra RK, Carden KA, et al. Sleep is essential to health: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine position statement. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine. 2021;17(10):2115–2119.
- Leproult R, Van Cauter E. Role of sleep and sleep loss in hormonal release and metabolism. Endocrine development. 2009;17:11.
- Shechter A, Grandner MA, St-Onge MP. The role of sleep in the control of food intake. American journal of lifestyle medicine. 2014;8(6):371-374.
- Lim DC, Najafi A, Afifi L, et al. The need to promote sleep health in public health agendas across the globe. The Lancet Public Health. 2023;8(10):e820-e826.
- Ohayon M, Wickwire EM, Hirshkowitz M, et al. National Sleep Foundation's sleep quality recommendations: first report. Sleep health. 2017;3(1):6-19.
- Watson NF, Badr MS, Belenky G, et al. Recommended amount of sleep for a healthy adult: a joint consensus statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine and Sleep Research Society. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine. 2015;11(6):591-592.
- 225. Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert SM, et al. National Sleep Foundation's updated sleep duration recommendations. Sleep health. 2015;1(4):233-243.
- 226. Choudhary AK, Dhanvijay AKD, Alam T, Kishanrao SS. Sleep restriction and its influence on blood pressure. Artery Research. 2017;19:42-48.
- 227. Kianersi S, Wang H, Sofer T, et al. Association between accelerometer-measured irregular sleep duration and type 2 diabetes risk: a prospective cohort study in the UK biobank. Diabetes care. 2024;47(9):1647-1655.
- Antza C, Kostopoulos G, Mostafa S, Nirantharakumar K, Tahrani A. The links between sleep duration, obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Journal of Endocrinology. 2022;252(2):125-141.
- Hou XZ, Li YS, Wu Q, et al. Association of sleep characteristics with cardiovascular disease risk in adults over 40 years of age: a cross-sectional survey. Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine. 2024;11:1308592.
- Alvaro PK, Roberts RM, Harris JK. A systematic review assessing bidirectionality between sleep disturbances, anxiety, and depression. Sleep. 2013;36(7):1059-1068.
- Lowe CJ, Safati A, Hall PA. The neurocognitive consequences of sleep restriction: a meta-analytic review. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. 2017;80:586-604.
- Leng Y, Musiek ES, Hu K, Cappuccio FP, Yaffe K. Association between circadian rhythms and neurodegenerative diseases. The Lancet Neurology. 2019;18(3):307-318.
- Fifel K, Videnovic A. Circadian and sleep dysfunctions in neurodegenerative disorders—An update. Frontiers in Neuro science. 2021;14:627330.
- Owen JE, Veasey SC. Impact of sleep disturbances on neurodegeneration: Insight from studies in animal models. Neurobiology of disease. 2020;139:104820.
- Adams RJ, Appleton SL, Taylor AW, et al. Sleep health of Australian adults in 2016: results of the 2016 Sleep Health Foundation national survey. Sleep health. 2017;3(1):35-42.
- Laslett LL, Honan C, Turner JA, et al. Poor sleep and multiple sclerosis: associations with symptoms of multiple sclerosis and quality of life. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry. 2022;93(11):1162-1165.
- Tabrizi FM, Radfar M, Fatigue, sleep quality, and disability in relation to quality of life in multiple sclerosis. International journal of MS care. 2015;17(6):268-274.
- Hughes AJ, Dunn KM, Chaffee T. Sleep disturbance and cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Current neurology and neuroscience reports. 2018;18:1-9.

- Foschi M, Rizzo G, Liguori R, et al. Sleep-related disorders and their relationship with MRI findings in multiple sclerosis. Sleep medicine. 2019;56:90-97.
- Brass SD, Duquette P, Proulx-Therrien J, Auerbach S. Sleep disorders in patients with multiple sclerosis. Sleep medicine reviews. 2010;14(2):121-129.
- 241. Akın YA, Polat BSA. Sleep disorders in multiple sclerosis. Sleep. 2021;63(2):141-146.
- 242. Stanton BR, Barnes F, Silber E. Sleep and fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2006;12(4):481-486.
- Braley TJ, Segal BM, Chervin RD. Obstructive sleep apnea and fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine. 2014;10(2):155-162.
- 244. Seferoğlu M, Sivaci AÖ, Tunç A. Restless legs syndrome/ Willis-Ekbom disease in multiple sclerosis: a contributing factor for anxiety, disability, sleep disorder, and quality of life Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria. 2020;78:708-712.
- Kaynak H, Altintaş A, Kaynak D, et al. Fatigue and sleep disturbance in multiple sclerosis. European Journal of Neurology. 2006;13(12):1333-1339.
- 246. Kołtuniuk A, Kazimierska-Zając M, Pogłódek D, Chojdak-Łukasiewicz J. Sleep disturbances, degree of disability and the quality of life in multiple sclerosis patients. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2022;19(6):3271.
- 247. Bøe Lunde HM, Aae TF, Indrevåg W, et al. Poor sleep in patients with multiple sclerosis. PloS one. 2012;7(11):e49996
- Neau JP, Paquereau J, Auche V, et al. Sleep disorders and multiple sclerosis: a clinical and polysomnography study. European Neurology. 2012;68(1):8-15.
- 249. Göcmen A, Ethemoglu O. The relationship between sleep disorders with patients' demographic-clinical characteristics and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis. Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery. 2023;232:107888.
- 250. Sarraf P, Azizi S, Moghaddasi AN, Sahraian MA, Tafakhori A, Ghajarzadeh M. Relationship between sleep quality and quality of life in patients with multiple sclerosis. International Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2014;5(12):1582.
- 251. Akbarfahimi M, Nabavi SM, Kor B, Rezaie L, Paschall E. The effectiveness of occupational therapy-based sleep interventions on quality of life and fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis: a pilot randomized clinical trial study. Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment. Published online 2020:1369-1379.
- Côté I, Trojan DA, Kaminska M, et al. Impact of sleep disorder treatment on fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2013;19(4):480-489.
- Veauthier C, Gaede G, Radbruch H, Gottschalk S, Wernecke KD, Paul F. Treatment of sleep disorders may improve fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery. 2013;115(9):1826-1830.
- Siengsukon CF, Alshehri M, Williams C, Drerup M, Lynch S. Feasibility and treatment effect of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in individuals with multiple sclerosis: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2020;40:101958.
- Gottesman RF, Lutsey PL, Benveniste H, et al. Impact of sleep disorders and disturbed sleep on brain health; a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Stroke. 2024;55(3):e61-e76.
- Sleep Foundation. Sleep Disorders Common Types, Symptoms, Treatments. https://www.sleepfoundation.org/ sleep-disorders
- 257. Sleep Health Foundation. Sleep Hygiene: Good Sleep Habits (fact sheet). Accessed November 29, 2024. https:// assets-global.website-files.com/64b4b7e38dda973fdbb-7faf2/65a08f52cafc76a5b710bed3_Sleep%20Hygiene%20 Good%20Sleep%20Habits.pdf
- Sleep Health Foundation. Sleep Hygiene: Good Sleep Habits. Published online 2024. https://www.sleephealthfoundation. org.au/sleep-topics/sleep-hygiene-good-sleep-habits
- 259. Bacaro V, Buonanno C, Mancini F, Baglioni C. Efficacy of interventions for improving health in patients with multiple sclerosis on insomnia symptoms and sleep quality: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Journal of Behavioral and Cognitive Therapy. 2021;31(2):137-145.
- Turkowitch D, Donkers SJ, Costa SL, Vaduvathiriyan P, Williams J, Siengsukon C. Behavioral Interventions to Improve Sleep Outcomes in Individuals With Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review. International journal of MS care. 2024;26(1):22-29.
- 261. Morin C, Culbert J, Schwartz S. Nonpharmacological interventions for insomnia: a meta-analysis of treatment efficacy. The American journal of psychiatry. 1994;151(8):1172-1180.
- 262. Geiger-Brown JM, Rogers VE, Liu W, Ludeman EM, Downton KD, Diaz-Abad M. Cognitive behavioral therapy in persons with comorbid insomnia: a meta-analysis. Sleep medicine reviews. 2015;23:54-67.
- Mitchell MD, Gehrman P, Perlis M, Umscheid CA. Comparative effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: a systematic review. Focus. 2014;12(1):80-89.
- Omvik S, Pallesen S, Havik OE, Kvale G, Nordhus IH. Cognitive behavioral therapy vs zopiclone for treatment of chronic primary insomnia in older adults: a randomized controlled trial. Jama. 2006;295(24):2851-2858.
- 265. Sweetman A, Reynolds C, Richardson C. Digital cognitive behavioural therapy for insomnia versus digital sleep education control in an Australian community@pased sample: a randomised controlled trial. Internal Medicine Journal. 2024;54(11):1838-1848.
- Kovacevic A, Mavros Y, Heisz JJ, Singh MAF. The effect of resistance exercise on sleep: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Sleep medicine reviews. 2018;39:52-68.
- Huang HH, Stubbs B, Chen LJ, et al. The effect of physical activity on sleep disturbance in various populations: a scoping review of randomized clinical trials. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity. 2023;20(1):44.

- Wang F, Boros S. The effect of physical activity on sleep quality: a systematic review. European journal of physiotherapy. 2021;23(1):11-18.
- Alnawwar MA, Alraddadi MI, Algethmi RA, Salem GA, Salem MA, Alharbi AA. The effect of physical activity on sleep quality and sleep disorder: a systematic review. Cureus. 2023;15(8).
- De Zambotti M, Cellini N, Goldstone A, Colrain IM, Baker FC. Wearable sleep technology in clinical and research settings. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2019;51(7):1538
- Wainer AL, Meltzer LJ. Actigraphy. Sleep in Children with Neurodevelopmental Disabilities: An Evidence-Based Guide. Published online 2019:45-52.
- Marino M, Li Y, Rueschman MN, et al. Measuring sleep: accuracy, sensitivity, and specificity of wrist actigraphy compared to polysomnography. Sleep. 2013;36(11):1747-1755.
- Acker JG, Becker-Carus C, Büttner-Teleaga A, et al. The role of actigraphy in sleep medicine. Somnologie. 2021;25(2):89-98.
- Cederberg KL, Mathison BG, Schuetz ML, Moti RW. Discrepancies between self-reported and device-measured sleep parameters in adults with multiple sclerosis. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine. 2022;18(2):415-421.
- Rocchi C, Pulcini A, Vesprini C, et al. Sleep in multiple sclerosis patients treated with interferon beta: an actigraphic study. Neurological Research. 2020;42(9):744-748.
- 276. Andrews JA, Craven MP, Lang AR, et al. The impact of data from remote measurement technology on the clinical practice of healthcare professionals in depression, epilepsy and multiple sclerosis: survey. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making. 2021;21:1-17.
- De Zambotti M, Goldstein C, Cook J, et al. State of the science and recommendations for using wearable technology in sleep and circadian research. Sleep. 2024;47(4):zsad325.
- Irish LA, Kline CE, Gunn HE, Buysse DJ, Hall MH. The role of sleep hygiene in promoting public health: A review of empirical evidence. Sleep medicine reviews. 2015;22:23-36.
- Ma S, Rui X, Qi P, Liu G, Yang J. Sleep disorders in patients with multiple sclerosis in China. Sleep and Breathing. 2017;21:149-154.
- 280. Garland SN, Scurrey SR, Ploughman M, Health L, Aging with MS Canadian Consortium. Factors associated with poor sleep in older adults with multiple sclerosis. International journal of behavioral medicine. 2017;24:937-945.
- Cederberg KL, Jeng B, Sasaki JE, et al. Demographic, clinical, and symptomatic correlates of subjective sleep quality in adults with multiple sclerosis. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2021;55:103204.
- 282. Briones-Buixassa L, Milà R, Ma Aragonès J, Bufill E, Olaya B, Arrufat FX. Stress and multiple sclerosis: A systematic review considering potential moderating and mediating factors and methods of assessing stress. Health psychology open. 2015;2(2):2055102915612271.
- Ackerman KD, Heyman R, Rabin BS, et al. Stressful life events precede exacerbations of multiple sclerosis. Biopsychosocial Science and Medicine. 2002;64(6):916-920.
- Riise T, Mohr D, Munger K, Rich-Edwards J, Kawachi I, Ascherio A. Stress and the risk of multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2011;76(22):1866-1871.
- von Drathen S, Gold SM, Peper J, et al. Stress and Multiple Sclerosis-Systematic review and meta-analysis of the association with disease onset, relapse risk and disability progression. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity. 2024;120:620-629.
- 286. National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. Complementary, Alternative, or Integrative Health: What's In a Name? April 1, 2021. https://www.nccih. nih.gov/health/complementary-alternative-or-integrative-health-whats-in-a-name
- 287. Simpson R, Posa S, Langer L, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis exploring the efficacy of mindfulness-based interventions on quality of life in people with multiple sclerosis. Journal of neurology. 2023;270(2):726-745.
- Hind D, Cotter J, Thake A, et al. Cognitive behavioural therapy for the treatment of depression in people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC psychiatry. 2014;14:1-13.
- 289. van den Akker LE, Beckerman H, Collette EH, Eijssen ICJM, Dekker J, de Groot V. Effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy for the treatment of fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Psychosomatic Research. 2016;90:33-42.
- 290. Kabat-Zinn J. Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future. Published online 2003.
- Jamil A, Gutlapalli SD, Ali M, et al. Meditation and its mental and physical health benefits in 2023. Cureus. 2023;15(6).
- 292. Nag N, Yang X, Jelinek G, Neate S, Simpson-Yap S. Undertaking specific stress-reducing activities are associated with reduced fatigue and depression, and increased mastery, in people with multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2022;62:103804.
- 293. Grossman P, Kappos L, Gensicke H, et al. MS quality of life, depression, and fatigue improve after mindfulness training: a randomized trial. Neurology. 2010;75(13):1141-1149.
- Campese S, Lyons J, Learmonth YC, et al. Comparing the effectiveness, safety and tolerability of interventions for depressive symptoms in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. Published online 2024:105763.
- 295. Senders A, Hanes D, Bourdette D, Carson K, Marshall LM, Shinto L. Impact of mindfulness-based stress reduction for people with multiple sclerosis at 8 weeks and 12 months: A randomized clinical trial. Multiple sclerosis journal. 2019;25(8):1178-1188.
- Cavalera C, Rovaris M, Mendozzi L, et al. Online meditation training for people with multiple sclerosis: a randomized controlled trial. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2019;25(4):610-617.

- Sesel AL, Sharpe L, Beadnall HN, Barnett MH, Szabo M, Naismith SL. A randomized controlled trial of a web-based mindfulness programme for people with MS with and without a history of recurrent depression. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2022;28(9):1392-1401.
- Wahbeh H, Elsas SM, Oken BS. Mind-body interventions: Applications in neurology. Neurology. 2008;70(24):2321-2328.
- Cramer H, Lauche R, Anheyer D, et al. Yoga for anxiety: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Depression and anxiety. 2018;35(9):830-843.
- Gothe NP, Khan I, Hayes J, Erlenbach E, Damoiseaux JS, Yoga effects on brain health: a systematic review of the current literature. Brain Plasticity. 2019;5(1):105-122.
- Mandlik GV, Siopis G, Nguyen B, Ding D, Edwards KM. Effect of a single session of yoga and meditation on stress reactivity: A systematic review. Stress and Health. 2024;40(3):e3324.
- 302. Alphonsus KB, Su Y, D'arcy C. The effect of exercise, yoga and physiotherapy on the quality of life of people with multiple sclerosis: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Complementary therapies in medicine. 2019;43:188-195.
- 303. Shohani M, Kazemi F, Rahmati S, Azami M. The effect of yoga on the quality of life and fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Complementary therapies in clinical practice. 2020;39:101087.
- Xiang Y, Lu L, Chen X, Wen Z. Does Tai Chi relieve fatigue? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0174872.
- 305. Taylor E, Taylor-Piliae RE. The effects of Tai Chi on physical and psychosocial function among persons with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. Complementary therapies in medicine. 2017;31:100-108.
- Vinciguerra C, De Stefano N, Federico A. Exploring the role of music therapy in multiple sclerosis: brief updates from research to clinical practice. Neurological Sciences. 2019;40:2277-2285.
- Lopes J, Keppers II. Music-based therapy in rehabilitation of people with multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of clinical trials. Arquivos de Neuro-psiquiatria. 2021;79(6):527-535.
- 308. Kong L, Zhang X, Meng L, et al. Effects of music therapy intervention on gait disorders in persons with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review of clinical trials. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2023;73:104629.
- Hu J, Zhang J, Hu L, Yu H, Xu J. Art therapy: a complementary treatment for mental disorders. Frontiers in psychology. 2021;12:686005.
- 310. Fraser C, Keating M. The effect of a creative art program on self-esteem, hope, perceived social support, and self-efficacy in individuals with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. Journal of Neuroscience Nursing. 2014;46(6):330-336.
- Fiest KM, Fisk JD, Patten SB, et al. Fatigue and Comorbidities in Multiple Sclerosis. Int J MS Care. 2016;18(2):96-104. doi:10.7224/1537-2073.2015-070
- Fahy E, Cotter D, Sud M, Subramaniam S. Lipid classification, structures and tools. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011;1811(11):637-647. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2011.06.009
- Benjamins JA, Murphy EJ, Seyfried TN. Chapter 5 Lipids. In: Brady ST, Siegel GJ, Albers RW, Price DL, eds. Basic Neurochemistry (Eighth Edition). Academic Press; 2012:81-100.
- Kopin L, Lowenstein C. Dyslipidemia. Ann Intern Med. 2017;167(11):ITC81-ITC96. doi:10.7326/AITC201712050
- 315. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Health Survey: Users' Guide, 2011-13. Cardiovascular disease biomarkers.
- Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2015;21(3):318-331. doi:10.1177/1352458514564485
- Sorensen A, Conway DS, Briggs FB. Characterizing relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis patients burdened with hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and asthma. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2021;53:103040.
- Marrie RA, Fisk J, Tremlett H, et al. Differing trends in the incidence of vascular comorbidity in MS and the general population. Neurol Clin Pract. 2016;6(2):120-128. doi:10.1212/ CPJ.00000000000230
- Kang JH, Chen YH, Lin HC. Comorbidities amongst patients with multiple sclerosis: a population-based controlled study. Eur J Neurol. 2010;17(9):1215-1219. doi:10.1111/j.1468-133.2010.02971.x
- Lavela SL, Prohaska TR, Furner S, Weaver FM. Chronic diseases in male veterans with multiple sclerosis. Prev Chronic Dis. 2012;9:E55.
- Sun LM, Lin CL, Chung CJ, Liang JA, Sung FC, Kao CH. Increased breast cancer risk for patients with multiple sclerosis: a nationwide population-based cohort study. Eur J Neurol. 2014;21(2):238-244. doi:10.1111/ene.12267
- 322. Marrie RA, Patten SB, Tremlett H, et al. Sex differences in comorbidity at diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: A population-based study. Neurology. 2016;86(14):1279-1286. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000002481
- 23. Marrie RA, Garland A, Schaffer SA, et al. Traditional riskfactors may not explain increased incidence of myocardial infarction in MS. Neurology. 2019;92(14):e1624-e1633. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000007251
- 324. Marrie RA, Yu BN, Leung S, et al. Rising prevalence of vascular comorbidities in multiple sclerosis: validation of administrative definitions for diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia. Mult Scler. 2012;18(9):1310-1319. doi:10.1177/1352458512437814
- 325. Saroufim P, Zweig SA, Conway DS, Briggs FBS. Cardiovascular conditions in persons with multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica and transverse myelitis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2018;25:21-25. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2018.07.011
- Allen NB, Lichtman JH, Cohen HW, Fang J, Brass LM, Alderman MH, Vascular disease among hospitalized multiple sclerosis patients. Neuroepidemiology. 2008;30(4):234-238. doi:10.1159/000128103

- Zorzon M. A nexus between lipids and multiple sclerosis? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(11):1181. doi:10.1136/ jnnp-2013-305240
- 328. Lorincz B, Jury EC, Vrablik M, Ramanathan M, Uher T. The role of cholesterol metabolism in multiple sclerosis: From molecular pathophysiology to radiological and clinical disease activity. Autoimmunity reviews. 2022;21(6):103088.
- 329. Ďurfinová M, Procházková L, Petrleničová D, et al. Cholesterol level correlate with disability score in patients with relapsing-remitting form of multiple sclerosis. Neurosci Lett. 2018;687:304-307. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2018.10.030
- Palavra F, Marado D, Mascarenhas-Melo F, et al. New markers of early cardiovascular risk in multiple sclerosis patients: oxidized-LDL correlates with clinical staging. Dis Markers. 2013;34(5):341-348. doi:10.3233/DMA-130979
- Mandoj C, Renna R, Plantone D, et al. Anti-annexin antibodies, cholesterol levels and disability in multiple sclerosis. Neurosci Lett. 2015;606:156-160. doi:10.1016/i.neulet.2015.08.054
- 332. Tettey P, Siejka D, Simpson S, et al. Frequency of Comorbidities and Their Association with Clinical Disability and Relapse in Multiple Sclerosis. Neuroepidemiology. 2016;46(2):106-113. doi:10.1159/000442203
- 333. Marrie RA, Rudick R, Horwitz R, et al. Vascular comorbidity is associated with more rapid disability progression in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2010;74(13):1041-1047. doi:10.1212/ WNL.Ob013e3181d6b125
- 334. Marrie RA, Cutter G, Tyry T. Substantial adverse association of visual and vascular comorbidities on visual disability in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2011;17(12):1464-1471. doi:10.1177/135245511414041
- 335. Sena A, Macedo A, Ferret-Sena V, Capela C, Pedrosa R. Serum Lipoprotein Profile Is Associated With Protective Effects of Oral Contraceptive Use on Multiple Sclerosis Severity: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front Neurol. 2019;10. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2019.00060
- 336. Tettey P, Simpson S, Taylor B, et al. An adverse lipid profile is associated with disability and progression in disability, in people with MS. Mult Scler. 2014;20(13):1737-1744. doi:10.1177/1352426514533162
- 337. Kowalec K, McKay KA, Patten SB, et al. Comorbidity increases the risk of relapse in multiple sclerosis: A prospective study. Neurology. 2017;89(24):2455-2461. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000004716
- 338. Weinstock-Guttman B, Zivadinov R, Horakova D, et al. Lipid profiles are associated with lesion formation over 24 months in interferon-β treated patients following the first demyelinating event. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84(11):1186-1191. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-304740
- 339. Giubilei F, Antonini G, Di Legge S, et al. Blood cholesterol and MRI activity in first clinical episode suggestive of multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2002;106(2):109-112. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0404.2002.01334.x
- 340. Browne RW, Weinstock-Guttman B, Horakova D, et al. Apolipoproteins are associated with new MRI lesions and deep grey matter atrophy in clinically isolated syndromes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85(8):859-864. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-307106
- 341. Murali N, Browne RW, Fellows Maxwell K, et al. Cholesterol and neurodegeneration: longitudinal changes in serum cholesterol biomarkers are associated with new lesions and gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis over 5 years of follow-up. Eur J Neurol. 2020;27(1):188-e4. doi:10.1111/ene.14055
- 342. Aviv RI, Francis PL, Tenenbein R, et al. Decreased frontal lobe gray matter perfusion in cognitively impaired patients with secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis detected by the bookend technique. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2012;33(9):1779-1785. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3060
- Debernard L, Melzer TR, Van Stockum S, et al. Reduced grey matter perfusion without volume loss in early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014;85(5):544-551. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-305612
- 344. Jakimovski D, Topolski M, Kimura K, Pandya V, Weinstock-Guttman B, Zivadinov R. Decrease in Secondary Neck Vessels in Multiple Sclerosis: A S-year Longitudinal Magnetic Resonance Angiography Study. Curr Neurovasc Res. 2019;16(3):215-223. doi:10.2174/15672026166661906121111 27
- Pelizzari L, Jakimovski D, Laganà MM, et al. Five-Year Longitudinal Study of Neck Vessel Cross-Sectional Area in Multiple Sclerosis. American Journal of Neuroradiology. 2018;39(9):1703-1709. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A5738
- Noori H, Gheini MR, Rezaeimanesh N, et al. The correlation between dyslipidemia and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis patients. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2019;36:101415. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2019.101415
- 347. Sanaie S, Koohi N, Mosaddeghi-Heris R, et al. Serum lipids and cognitive outcomes in multiple sclerosis; a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2024;85:105530. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2024.105530
- Browne RW, Jakimovski D, Ziliotto N, et al. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol is associated with multiple sclerosis fatigue: A fatigue-metabolism nexus? J Clin Lipidol. 2019;13(4):654-663.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jacl.2019.06.003
- Uher T, Fellows K, Horakova D, et al. Serum lipid profile changes predict neurodegeneration in interferon-pla-treated multiple sclerosis patients. J Lipid Res. 2017;58(2):403-411. doi:10.1194/jit.M072751
- 350. Sternberg Z, Leung C, Sternberg D, Yu J, Hojnacki D. Disease modifying therapies modulate cardiovascular risk factors in patients with multiple sclerosis. Cardiovasc Ther. 2014;32(2):33-39. doi:10.1111/1755-5922.12049
- Blumenfeld Kan S, Staun-Ram E, Golan D, Miller A. HDL-cholesterol elevation associated with fingolimod and dimethyl fumarate therapies in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin. 2019;5(4):2055217319882720. doi:10.1177/2055217319882720
- Roberts CGP, Guallar E, Rodriguez A. Efficacy and safety of statin monotherapy in older adults: a meta-analysis. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2007;62(8):879-887. doi:10.1093/ gerona/62.8.879

- 353. Armitage J, Baigent C, Barnes E, et al. Efficacy and safety of statin therapy in older people: a meta-analysis of individual participant data from 28 randomised controlled trials. The Lancet. 2019;393(10)70):407-415. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31942-1
- Wang J, Xiao Y, Luo M, Luo H. Statins for multiple sclerosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;(12):CD008386. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD008386.pub3
- Pihl-Jensen G, Tsakiri A, Frederiksen JL. Statin treatment in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. CNS Drugs. 2015;29(4):277-291. doi:10.1007/s40263-015-0239-x
- Abdalla MA, Zakhary CM, Rushdi H, et al. The effectiveness of statins as potential therapy for multiple sclerosis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Cureus. 2021;13(9).
- 357. Chan D, Binks S, Nicholas JM, et al. Effect of high-dose simvastatin on cognitive, neuropsychiatric, and health-related quality-of-life measures in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: secondary analyses from the MS-STAT randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 2017;16(8):591-600. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30113-8
- Chataway J, Schuerer N, Alsanousi A, et al. Effect of highdose simvastatin on brain atrophy and disability in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (MS-STAT): a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet. 2014;383(9936):2213-2221. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62242-4
- 359. Patnode CD, Evans CV, Senger CA, Redmond N, Lin JS. Behavioral Counseling to Promote a Healthful Diet and Physical Activity for Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Adults Without Known Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA. 2017;318(2):175-193. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.3303
- Marrie RA, Fisk JD, Fitzgerald K, et al. Etiology, effects and management of comorbidities in multiple sclerosis: recent advances. Frontiers in immunology. 2023;14:1197195.
- Marrie RA, Cohen J, Stuve O, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of comorbidity in multiple sclerosis: overview. Mult Scler. 2015;21(3):263-281. doi:10.1177/1352458514564491
- Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of cancer in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2015;21(3):294-304. doi:10.1177/1352458514564489
- 363. Marrie RA, Reider N, Stuve O, et al. The incidence and prevalence of comorbid gastrointestinal, musculoskeletal, ocular, pulmonary, and renal disorders in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Mult Scler, 2015;21(3):332-341. doi:10.1177/1352458514564488
- Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of autoimmune disease in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2015;21(3):282-293. doi:10.1177/1352458514564490
- Marrie RA, Reider N, Cohen J, et al. A systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of sleep disorders and seizure disorders in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2015;21(3):342-349. doi:10.1177/1352458514564486
- Marrie RA, Reingold S, Cohen J, et al. The incidence and prevalence of psychiatric disorders in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Mult Scler. 2015;21(3):305-317. doi:10.1177/1352458514564487
- Turpin KVL, Carroll LJ, Cassidy JD, Hader WJ. Deterioration in the health-related quality of life of persons with multiple sclerosis: the possible warning signs. Mult Scler. 2007;13(8):1038-1045. doi:10.1177/1352458507078393
- Warren SA, Turpin KVL, Pohar SL, Jones CA, Warren K g. Comorbidity and Health-Related Quality of Life in Peoplewith Multiple Sclerosis. International Journal of MS Care. 2009;1(1):6-16. doi:10.7224/1537-2073-11.16
- 369. Janzen W, Turpin KVL, Warren SA, Marrie RA, Warren KG. Change in the Health-Related Quality of Life of Multiple Sclerosis Patients over 5 Years. Int J MS Care. 2013;15(1):46-53. doi:10.7224/1537-2073.2012-020
- Marrie RA, Horwitz R, Cutter G, Tyry T. Cumulative Impact of Comorbidity on Quality of Life in MS. Acta Neurol Scand. 2012;125(3):180-186. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2011.01526.x
- Marrie RA, Horwitz R, Cutter G, Tyry T, Campagnolo D, Vollmer T. Comorbidity delays diagnosis and increases disability at diagnosis in MS. Neurology. 2009;72(2):117-124. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000333252.78173.5f
- Zhang T, Tremlett H, Zhu F, et al. Effects of physical comorbidities on disability progression in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2018;90(5):e419-e427. doi:10.1212/ WNL_00000000004885
- Dallmeijer AJ, Beckerman H, de Groot V, van de Port IGL, Lankhorst GJ, Dekker J. Long-term effect of comorbidity on the course of physical functioning in patients after stroke and with multiple sclerosis. J Rehabil Med. 2009;41(5):322-326. doi:10.2340/16501977-0335
- Gee JR, Chang J, Dublin AB, Vijayan N. The association of brainstem lesions with migraine-like headache: an imaging study of multiple sclerosis. Headache: 2005;45(6):670-677. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4610.2005.05136.x
- 375. Graziano E, Hagemeier J, Weinstock-Guttman B, Ramasamy DP, Zivadinov R. Increased contrast enhancing lesion activity in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis migraine patients. Neuroimage Clin. 2015;9:110-116. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2015.07.013
- Zivadinov R, Raj B, Ramanathan M, et al. Autoimmune Comorbidities Are Associated with Brain Injury in Multiple Sclerosis. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2016;37(6):1010-1016. dd:i:10.3174/ajnr.A4681
- Newland PK, Lorenz R, Budhathoki C, Jensen MP. The Presence of Symptoms With Comorbid Conditions in Individuals With Multiple Sclerosis (MS). Clin Nurs Res. 2016;25(5):532-548. doi:10.1177/1054773815592817
- Fiest KM, Fisk JD, Patten SB, et al. Comorbidity is associated with pain-related activity limitations in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2015;4(5):470-476. doi:10.1016/j. msard.2015.07.014

- 379. Chen J, Taylor B, Winzenberg T, et al. Comorbidities are prevalent and detrimental for employment outcomes in people of working age with multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2020;26(12):1550-1559. doi:10.1177/1352458519872644
- Marrie RA, Elliott L, Marriott J, Cossoy M, Tennakoon A, Yu N. Comorbidity increases the risk of hospitalizations in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2015;84(4):350-358. doi:10.1212/ WNL.00000000001187
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellent (NICE). Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and management.
- Hauer L, Perneczky J, Sellner J. A global view of comorbidity in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review with a focus on regional differences, methodology, and clinical implications. J Neurol. 2021;268(11):4066-4077. doi:10.1007/s00415-020-10107-y
- 383. Kwon S, Jung SY, Han KD, et al. Risk of Parkinson's disease in multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder: a nationwide cohort study in South Korea. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. Published online July 28, 2022. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2022-329389
- Christiansen CF. Risk of vascular disease in patients with multiple sclerosis: a review. Neurological Research. 2012;34(8):746-753. doi:10.1179/1743132812Y.0000000051
- Jadidi E, Mohammadi M, Moradi T. High risk of cardiovascular diseases after diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2013;19(10):1336-1340. doi:10.1177/1352458513475833
- 586. Lo LMP, Taylor BV, Winzenberg T, et al. Comorbidity patterns in people with multiple sclerosis: A latent class analysis of the Australian Multiple Sclerosis Longitudinal Study. Eur J Neurol. 2021;28(7):2269-2279. doi:10.1111/ene.14887
- Berrigan LI, Fisk JD, Patten SB, et al. Health-related quality of life in multiple sclerosis: Direct and indirect effects of comorbidity. Neurology. 2016;86(15):1417-1424. doi:10.1212/ wnl.000000000002564
- O'Mahony J, Salter A, Ciftci-Kavaklioglu B, Fox RJ, Cutter GR, Marrie RA. Physical and Mental Health-Related Quality of Life Trajectories Among People With Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology. 2022;99(14):e1538-e1548. doi:10.1212/ wnl.000000000200931
- 589. Lo LMP, Taylor BV, Winzenberg T, et al. Estimating the relative contribution of comorbidities in predicting health-related quality of life of people with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. 2021;268(2):569-581. doi:10.1007/s00415-020-10195-w
- 390. Salter A, Kowalec K, Fitzgerald KC, Cutter G, Marrie RA. Comorbidity is associated with disease activity in MS: Findings from the CombiRx trial. Neurology. 2020;95(5):e446-e456. doi:10.1212/wnl.000000000010024
- Petruzzo M, Reia A, Maniscalco GT, et al. The Framingham cardiovascular risk score and 5-year progression of multiple sclerosis. Eur J Neurol. 2021;28(3):893-900. doi:10.111/ ene.14608
- McKay KA, Tremlett H, Fisk JD, et al. Psychiatric comorbidity is associated with disability progression in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2018;90(15):e1316-e1323. doi:10.1212/ WNL.00000000063502
- 393. Maric G, Pekmezovic T, Tamas O, et al. Impact of comorbidities on the disability progression in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2022;145(1):24-29. doi:10.1111/ane.13516
- Marrie RA, Comorbidity in multiple sclerosis: implications for patient care. Nat Rev Neurol. 2017;13(6):375-382. doi:10.1038/ nrneurol.2017.33
- Lo LMP, Taylor BV, Winzenberg T, Palmer AJ, Blizzard L, van der Mei I. Comorbidities contribute substantially to the severity of common multiple sclerosis symptoms. J Neurol. 2021;268(2):559-568. doi:10.1007/s00415-020-10192-z
- 396. Leray E, Regaert C, Duguet E, Guillaume S, Pichetti S, Espagnacq M. Impact of multiple sclerosis on employment and income: Insights from a random sample representative of private sector employees in France using longitudinal administrative data. Rev Neurol (Paris). 2024;180(8):754-765. doi:10.1016/j.neurol.2024.02.389
- Ponzio M, Monti MC, Mallucci G, et al. The economic impact of comorbidity in multiple sclerosis. Neurol Sci. 2023;44(3):999-1008. doi:10.1007/s10072-022-06517-7
- Ponzio M, Podda J, Pignattelli E, et al. Work Difficulties in People with Multiple Sclerosis. J Occup Rehabil. 2024;34(3):606-617. doi:10.1007/s10926-023-10149-9
- 399. van Egmond E, van der Hiele K, van Gorp D, et al. Work difficulties in people with multiple sclerosis: The role of anxiety, depression and coping. Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin. 2022;8(3):20552173221116282. doi:10.1177/20552173221116282
- 400. Sainz de la Maza S, Maurino J, Borges M, et al. Measuring productivity loss in early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2022;58:103398. doi:10.1016/j. msard.2021.103398
- Laroni A, Signori A, Maniscalco GT, et al. Assessing association of comorbidities with treatment choice and persistence in MS: A real-life multicenter study. Neurology. 2017;89(22):222-2229. doi:10.1212/ wnl.000000000000000006486
- Marrie RA, Elliott L, Marriott J, et al. Effect of comorbidity on mortality in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2015;85(3):240-247. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000001718
- 403. Thormann A, Sørensen PS, Koch-Henriksen N, Laursen B, Magyari M. Comorbidity in multiple sclerosis is associated with diagnostic delays and increased mortality. Neurology. 2017;89(16):1668-1675. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000004508
- 404. Chou IJ, Kuo CF, Tanasescu R, et al. Comorbidity in multiple sclerosis: its temporal relationships with disease onset and dose effect on mortality. Eur J Neurol. 2020;27(1):105-112. doi:10.1111/ene.14040
- 405. Al-Sakran L, Marie RA, Blackburn D, Knox K, Evans C. Impact of comorbidity on hospitalizations in individuals newly diagnosed with multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal population-based study. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2020;40:101955. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2020.101955

- 406. Marrie RA, Walld R, Bolton JM, et al. Effect of mood and anxiety disorders on health care utilization in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2021;27(9):1411-1420. doi:10.1177/1352458520963880
- 407. Gilbody S, Bower P, Fletcher J, Richards D, Sutton AJ. Collaborative care for depression: a cumulative meta-analysis and review of longer-term outcomes. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166(21):2314-2321. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.21.2314
- 408. Dougados M, Soubrier M, Perrodeau E, et al. Impact of a nurse-led programme on comorbidity management and impact of a patient self-assessment of disease activity on the management of rheumatoid arthritis: results of a prospective, multicentre, randomised, controlled trial (COMEDRA). Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(9):1725-1733. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204733
- 409. Muth C, Blom JW, Smith SM, et al. Evidence supporting the best clinical management of patients with multimorbidity and polypharmacy: a systematic guideline review and expert consensus. J Intern Med. 2019;285(3):272-288. doi:10.1111/ joim.12842
- 410. Hearn AP, Silber E. Osteoporosis in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler. 2010;16(9):1031-1043. doi:10.1177/1352458510368985
- Minden SL, Feinstein A, Kalb RC, et al. Evidence-based guideline: assessment and management of psychiatric disorders in individuals with MS: report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology. 2014;82(2):174-181. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000000013
- McIntosh GE, Liu ES, Allan M, Grech LB. Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Detection and Treatment of Depression in Multiple Sclerosis: A Systematic Review. Neurol Clin Pract 2023;13(3):e200154. doi:10.1212/cpj.0000000000200154
- Kostic T, Schloter M, Arruda P, et al. Concepts and criteria defining emerging microbiome applications. Microbial biotechnology. 2024;17(9):e14550.
- Ding R xue, Goh WR, Wu R na, et al. Revisit gut microbiota and its impact on human health and disease. Journal of Food and Drug Analysis. 2019;27(3):623-631. doi:10.1016/j. jfda.2018.12.012
- 415. Salonen A, Lahti L, Salojärvi J, et al. Impact of diet and individual variation on intestinal microbiota composition and fermentation products in obese men. ISME J. 2014;8(11):2218-2230. doi:10.1038/ismej.2014.63
- Wang H, Cai Y, Wu W, Zhang M, Dai Y, Wang Q. Exploring the role of gut microbiome in autoimmune diseases: A comprehensive review. Autoimmunity Reviews. Published online 2022;103654.
- Sun W, Zhang Y, Guo R, et al. A population-scale analysis of 36 gut microbiome studies reveals universal species signatures for common diseases. npj Biofilms and Microbiomes. 2024;10(1):96.
- Ordoñez-Rodriguez A, Roman P, Rueda-Ruzafa L, Campos-Rios A, Cardona D. Changes in gut microbiota and multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2023;20(5):4624.
- Cekanaviciute E, Yoo BB, Runia TF, et al. Gut bacteria from multiple sclerosis patients modulate human T cells and exacerbate symptoms in mouse models. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2017;114(40):10713-10718. doi:10.1073/pnas.1711235114
- Jangi S, Gandhi R, Cox LM, et al. Alterations of the human gut microbiome in multiple sclerosis. Nature Communications. 2016;7(1):1-11. doi:10.1038/ncomms12015
- Kim KO, Gluck M. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation: An Update on Clinical Practice. Clin Endosc. 2019;52(2):137-143. doi:10.5946/ce.2019.009
- 422. Makkawi S, Camara-Lemarroy C, Metz L. Fecal microbiota transplantation associated with 10 years of stability in a patient with SPMS. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroimflamm. 2018;5(4). doi:10.1212/NXI.000000000000459
- 423. Al KF, Craven LJ, Gibbons S, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation is safe and tolerable in patients with multiple sclerosis: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Multiple Sclerosis Journal-Experimental, Translational and Clinical, 2022;8(2):20552173221086662.
- Wang S, Xu M, Wang W, et al. Systematic Review: Adverse Events of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(8):e0161174. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0161174
- Fleming JO. Helminth therapy and multiple sclerosis. Int J Parasitol. 2013;43(3-4):259-274. doi:10.1016/j.ijpara.2012.10.025
- 426. Tanasescu R, Constantinescu CS. Helminth Therapy for MS. Curr Top Behav Neurosci. 2015;26:195-220. doi:10.1007/7854_2014_361
- Donkers SJ, Kirkland MC, Charabati M, Osborne LC. Perspectives of people with multiple sclerosis about helminth immunotherapy. International Journal of MS Care. 2020;22(1):43-51.
- Dixit A, Tanaka A, Greer JM, Donnelly S. Novel Therapeutics for Multiple Sclerosis Designed by Parasitic Worms. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(10). doi:10.3390/ijms18102141
- Correale J, Farez MF, The impact of parasite infections on the course of multiple sclerosis. Journal of neuroimmunology. 2011;233(1-2):6-11.
- Alghanmi M, Minshawi F, Altorki TA, et al. Helminth-derived proteins as immune system regulators: a systematic review of their promise in alleviating colitis. BMC immunology. 2024;25(1):21.
- World Gastroenterology Organisation. Probiotics and prebiotics. In: World Gastroenterology Organisation Global Guidelines. World Gastroenterology Organisation; 2017. https://www.worldgastroenterology.org/UserFiles/file/guidelines/probiotics-and-prebiotics-english-2017.pdf
- 432. Tankou SK, Regev K, Healy BC, et al. A probiotic modulates the microbiome and immunity in multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol. 2018;83(6):1147-1161. doi:10.1002/ana.25244

- 433. Kouchaki E, Tamtaji OR, Salami M, et al. Clinical and metabolic response to probiotic supplementation in patients with multiple sclerosis: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Clin Nutr. 2017;36(5):1245-1249. doi:10.1016/j. clnu.2016.08.015
- 434. Asghari KM, Dolatkhah N, Ayromlou H, Mirnasiri F, Dadfar T, Hashemian M. The effect of probiotic supplementation on the clinical and para-clinical findings of multiple sclerosis: a randomized clinical trial. Sci Rep. 2023;13(1):18577. doi:10.1038/s41598-023-46047-6
- 435. Moravejolahkami AR, Chitsaz A, Hassanzadeh A, Paknahad Z. Effects of anti-Inflammatory-antioxidant-rich diet and co-supplemented synbiotics intervention in patients with progressive forms of multiple sclerosis: a single-center, single-bild randomized clinical trial. Nutritional Neuroscience. 2023;26(11):1078-1089.
- 436. Moravejolahkami AR, Chitsaz A, Hassanzadeh A, Paknahad Z, Anti-inflammatory-antioxidant modifications and synbiotics improved health-related conditions in patients with progressive forms of multiple sclerosis: A single-center, randomized clinical Irial. Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice. 2023;53:101794.
- 437. Rahimlou M, Hosseini SA, Majdinasab N, Haghighizadeh MH, Husain D. Effects of long-term administration of Multi-Strain Probiotic on circulating levels of BDNF, NGF, IL-6 and mental health in patients with multiple sclerosis; a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Nutr Neurosci. 2022;25(2):411-422. doi:10.1080/1028415X.2020.1758887
- Murray C. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis forthe Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet. 2019;393(10184):1958-1972.
- De Filippis F, Pellegrini N, Vannini L, et al. High-level adherence to a Mediterranean diet beneficially impacts the gut microbiota and associated metabolome. Gut. 2016;65(11):1812-1821. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309957
- 440. Soldán M, Argalášová L, Hadvinová L, Galileo B, Babjaková J. The effect of dietary types on gut microbiota composition and development of non-communicable diseases: a narrative review. Nutrients. 2024;16(18):3134.
- Culp EJ, Nelson NT, Verdegaal AA, Goodman AL. Microbial transformation of dietary xenobiotics shapes gut microbiome composition. Cell. 2024;187(22):6327-6345.
- Urban S, Chmura O, Wątor J, Panek P, Zapała B. The intensive physical activity causes changes in the composition of gut and oral microbiota. Scientific Reports. 2024;14(1):20858.
- Antinozzi M, Giffi M, Sini N, et al. Cigarette smoking and human gut microbiota in healthy adults: a systematic review. Biomedicines. 2022;10(2):510.
- 444. Gao F, Guo R, Ma Q, et al. Stressful events induce long-term gut microbiota dysbiosis and associated post-traumatic stress symptoms in healthcare workers fighting against COVID-19. Journal of affective disorders. 2022;303:187-195.
- 445. Sosnowski K, Przybyłkowski A. Ethanol-induced changes to the gut microbiome compromise the intestinal homeostasis: a review. Gut Microbes. 2024;16(1):2393272.
- 446. Ismailova K, Poudel P, Parlesak A, Frederiksen P, Heitmann BL. Vitamin D in early life and later risk of multiple sclerosis-A systematic review, meta-analysis. PLoS ONE. 2019;14(8):e0221645. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0221645
- 447. Duan S, Lv Z, Fan X, et al. Vitamin D status and the risk of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurosci Lett. 2014;570:108-113. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2014.04.021
- 448. Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing Australia, Ministry of Health New Zealand, National Health and Medical Research Council. Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand Including Recommended Dietary Intakes.; 2005.
- 449. Neale RE, Beedle V, Ebeling PR, et al. Balancing the risks and benefits of sun exposure: A revised position statement for Australian adults. Australian and New Zealand journal of public health. 2024;48(1):100117.
- Lemire J. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3--a hormone with immunomodulatory properties. Z Rheumatol. 2000;59 Suppl 1:24-27. doi:10.1007/s003930070034
- Pierrot-Deseilligny C, Souberbielle JC. Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis: An update. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2017;14:35-45. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2017.03.014
- Holick MF, Sunlight and vitamin D for bone health and prevention of autoimmune diseases, cancers, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;80(6):16785-16885. doi:10.1093/ajcr/80.6.16785
- 453. National Health and Medical Research Council & Ministry of Health. Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand: Vitamin D.
- 454. Wills O, Brischetto D, Zoszak K, et al. Establishing consensus on lifestyle recommendations and behaviour change strategies to promote brain health-focussed care for multiple sclerosis: A modified e-Delphi study. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2024;92:105949.
- 455. Simpson Jr S, der Mei I v, Taylor B. The role of Vitamin D in multiple sclerosis: biology and biochemistry, epidemiology and potential roles in treatment. Medicinal chemistry. 2018;14(2):129-143.
- 456. Hart PH, Gorman S, Finlay-Jones JJ. Modulation of the immune system by UV radiation: more than just the effects of vitamin D? Nat Rev Immunol. 2011;11(9):584-596. doi:10.1038/ nri3045
- Ghajar-Rahimi G, Yusuf N, Xu H. Ultraviolet Radiation-Induced Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells in Skin: Insights and Mechanisms. Cells. 2025;14(4):308.
- Yamazaki S. Diverse roles of dendritic cell and regulatory T cell crosstalk in controlling health and disease. International immunology. 2024;37(1):5-14.
- 459. Chen XL, Zhang ML, Zhu L, et al. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and the risk of multiple sclerosis: An updated meta-analysis. Microbial Pathogenesis. 2017;110:594-602.

- 460. Agnello L, Scazzone C, Lo Sasso B, et al. VDBP, CYP27B1, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D gene polymorphism analyses in a group of Sicilian multiple sclerosis patients. Biochemical genetics. 2017;55:183-192.
- 461. Rhead B, Bäärnhielm M, Gianfrancesco M, et al. Mendelian randomization shows a causal effect of low vitamin D on multiple sclerosis risk. Neurol Genet. 2016;2(5):e97. doi:10.1212/NXG.0000000000000097
- Mokry LE, Ross S, Ahmad OS, et al. Vitamin D and Risk of Multiple Sclerosis: A Mendelian Randomization Study. PLoS Med. 2015;12(8):e1001866. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001866
- 463. Thompson AJ, Banwell BL, Barkhof F, et al. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. The Lancet Neurology. 2018;17(2):162-173.
- Butzkueven H, Ponsonby AL, Stein MS, et al. Vitamin D did not reduce multiple sclerosis disease activity after a clinically isolated syndrome. Brain. 2024;147(4):1206-1215.
- 465. Polman CH, Reingold SC, Banwell B, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria. Annals of neurology. 2011;69(2):292-302.
- 466. Polman CH, Reingold SC, Edan G, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2005 revisions to the "McDonald Criteria." Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society. 2005;58(6):840-846.
- Thouvenot E, Laplaud D, Lebrun-Frenay C, et al. High-Dose Vitamin D in Clinically Isolated Syndrome Typical of Multiple Sclerosis: The D-Lay MS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. Published online March 10, 2025. doi:10.1001/jama.2025.1604
- Bouillon R, Manousaki D, Rosen C, Trajanoska K, Rivadeneira F, Richards JB. The health effects of vitamin D supplementation: evidence from human studies. Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2022;18(2):96-110.
- 469. Martinez-Lapiscina EH, Mahatanan R, Lee CH, Charoenpong P, Hong JP. Associations of serum 25 (OH) vitamin D levels with clinical and radiological outcomes in multiple sclerosis, a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of the neurological sciences. 2020;411:116668.
- 470. Maghbooli Z, Shirvani A, Moghadasi AN, Varzandi T, Ghashti SH, Sahraian MA. Investigating the effects of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 on clinical outcomes in multiple sclerosis patients: A randomized, double-blind clinical trial-a pilot study. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2024;87:105673.
- Dörr J, Bäcker-Koduah P, Wernecke KD, et al. High-dose vitamin D supplementation in multiple sclerosis-results from the randomized EVIDIMS (efficacy of vitamin D supplementation in multiple sclerosis) trial. Multiple Sclerosis Journal-Experimental, Translational and Clinical. 2020;6(1):2055217320903474.
- 472. Hupperts R, Smolders J, Vieth R, et al. Randomized trial of daily high-dose vitamin D3 in patients with RRMS receiving subcutaneous interferon [®]/₈-la. Neurology. 2019;93(20):e1906-e1916. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000008445
- 473. de Koning EJ, Lips P, Penninx BWJ, et al. Vitamin D supplementation for the prevention of depression and poor physical function in older persons: the D-Vitaal study, a randomized clinical trial. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2019;110(5):1119-1130.
- Etemadifar M, Janghorbani M. Efficacy of high-dose vitamin D3 supplementation in vitamin D deficient pregnant women with multiple sclerosis: Preliminary findings of a randomized-controlled trial. Iranian journal of neurology. 2015;14(2):67.
- Soilu-Hänninen M, Aivo J, Lindström BM, et al. A randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial with vitamin D3 as an add on treatment to interferon §-Ib in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(5):565-571. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-301876
- 476. Hanaei S, Sahraian MA, Mohammadifar M, Ramagopalan SV, Ghajarzadeh M. Effect of vitamin D supplements on relapse rate and Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) in multiple sclerosis (MS): a systematic review and meta-analysis. International Journal of Preventive Medicine. 2021;12(1):42.
- Berezowska M, Coe S, Dawes H. Effectiveness of vitamin D supplementation in the management of multiple sciences; a systematic review. International journal of molecular sciences, 2019;20(6):1301.
- Lopez-Munoz P, Torres-Costoso AI, Fernandez-Rodriguez R, et al. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on fatigue in multiple sciencis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrients. 2023;15(13):2861.
- 479. Mahler JV, Solti M, Apóstolos-Pereira SL, Adoni T, Silva GD, Callegaro D. Vitamin D3 as an add-on treatment for multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2024;82:105433.
- James E, Dobson R, Kuhle J, Baker D, Giovannoni G, Ramagopalan SV, The effect of vitamin D-related interventions on multiple sclerosis relapses: a meta-analysis. Mult Scler. 2013;9(12):1571-1579. doi:10.1177/1352458513489756
- Smolders J, Torkildsen Ø, Camu W, Holmøy T. An update on vitamin D and disease activity in multiple sclerosis. CNS drugs. 2019;33:1187-1199.
- 482. Lucas RM, Ponsonby AL, Dear K, et al. Associations between silicone skin cast score, cumulative sun exposure, and other factors in the ausimmune study: a multicenter Australian study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2009;18(11):2887-2894. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0191
- Lucas RM, Ponsonby AL, Dear K, et al. Sun exposure and vitamin D are independent risk factors for CNS demyelination. Neurology. 2011;76(6):540-548. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31820af93d
- van der Mei I a. F, Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T, et al. Past exposure to sun, skin phenotype, and risk of multiple sclerosis: case-control study. BMJ. 2003;327(7410):316. doi:10.1136/ bmj.327.7410.316

- Simpson SJ, van der Mei I, Lucas RM, et al. Sun Exposure across the Life Course Significantly Modulates Early Multiple Sclerosis Clinical Course. Front Neurol. 2018;9. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2018.00016
- 486. Chang G, Sebastian P, Virupakshalah A, et al. Association Between Sun Exposure and Risk of Relapse in Pediatric-Onset Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology: Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation. 2025;12(2):e200375.
- 487. Belli RF, Stafford FP, Alwin DF. Calendar and Time Diary Methods in Life Course Research. Sage Publications; 2009
- Hart PH, Jones AP, Trend S, et al. A randomised, controlled clinical trial of narrowband UVB phototherapy for clinically isolated syndrome: The PhoCIS study. Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin. 2018;4(2). doi:10.1177/2055217318773112
- 489. Trend S, Leffler J, Cooper MN, et al. Narrowband UVB phototherapy reduces TNF production by B-cell subsets stimulated via TLR7 from individuals with early multiple sclerosis. Clinical & Translational Immunology. 2020;9(10):e1197.
- 490. Tremlett H, van der Mei IAF, Pittas F, et al. Monthly ambient sunlight, infections and relapse rates in multiple sclerosis. Neuroepidemiology. 2008;31(4):271-279. doi:10.1159/000166602
- Tremlett H, Zhu F, Ascherio A, Munger KL. Sun exposure over the life course and associations with multiple sclerosis. Neurology. 2018;90(14):e1191-e1199. doi:10.1212/ WNL.0000000005257
- 492. van der Mei I a. F, Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T, et al. Vitamin D levels in people with multiple sclerosis and community controls in Tasmania, Australia. J Neurol. 2007;254(5):581-590. doi:10.1007/s00415-006-0315-8
- 493. Motl RW, Niemiro GM, De Lisio M, Sommer S, Riskin BJ, Best-Popescu CA. Ultraviolet B Phototherapy Intervention in Patients with Multiple Sclerosis: A Prospective, Randomized Pilot Trial. Journal of Neurological Research and Therapy. 2019;3(1):12-25.
- 494. Concerto C, Rodolico A, Ciancio A, et al. Vitamin D and depressive symptoms in adults with multiple sclerosis: a scoping review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2021;19(1):199.
- 495. Knippenberg S, Damoiseaux J, Bol Y, et al. Higher levels of reported sun exposure, and not vitamin D status, are associated with less depressive symptoms and fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2014;129(2):123-131. doi:10.1111/ ane.12155
- 496. Simpson-Yap S, Jelinek P, Weiland T, Nag N, Neate S, Jelinek G. Self-reported use of vitamin D supplements is associated with higher physical quality of file scores in multiple sclerosis Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2021;49:102760.
- 497. Głąbska D, Kołota A, Lachowicz K, Skolmowska D, Stachoń M, Guzek D. Vitamin D supplementation and mental health in multiple sclerosis patients: a systematic review. Nutrients. 2021/3(12):4207.
- 498. King L, Xiang F, Swaminathan A, Lucas RM. Measuring sun exposure in epidemiological studies: Matching the method to the research question. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology. 2015;153:373-379.
- 499. Hedström AK, Huang J, Brenner N, et al. Low sun exposure acts synergistically with high Epstein– Barr nuclear antigen 1 (EBNA-1) antibody levels in multiple sclerosis etiology. European journal of neurology. 2021;28(12):4146-4152.
- Marcinowska-Suchowierska E, Kupisz-Urbańska M, Łukaszkiewicz J, Płudowski P, Jones G. Vitamin D toxicity-a clinical perspective. Frontiers in endocrinology. 2018;9:550.
- Lee JP, Tansey M, Jetton JG, Krasowski MD. Vitamin D toxicity: a 16-year retrospective study at an academic medical center. Laboratory medicine. 2018;49(2):123-129.
- Kimball SM, Ursell MR, O'Connor P, Vieth R. Safety of vitamin D3 in adults with multiple sclerosis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;86(3):645-651. doi:10.1093/ajcn/86.3.645
- Zhang Y, Fang F, Tang J, et al. Association between vitamin D supplementation and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. bmj. 2019;366.
- Cancer Council Australia. Position statement Sun exposure and vitamin D - risks and benefits. Published online 2019.
- Atkinson SA, Fleet JC. Canadian recommendations for vitamin D intake for persons affected by multiple sclerosis. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 2020;199:105606.
- 506. Jahromi SR, Sahraian MA, Togha M, et al. Iranian consensus on use of vitamin D in patients with multiple sclerosis. Bmc Neurology. 2016;16:1-10.
- Bolland M, Grey A, Cundy T, Vitamin D and health in adults in Australia and New Zealand: a position statement; author reply. Medical journal of Australia. 2012;197(10):553.
- Nowson CA, McGrath JJ, Ebeling PR, et al. Vitamin D and health in adults in Australia and New Zealand: a position statement. Medical journal of Australia. 2012;196(11):686-687
- Pape K, Steffen F, Zipp F, Bittner S. Supplementary medication in multiple sclerosis: real-world experience and potential interference with neurofilament light chain measurement. Multiple Sclerosis Journal–Experimental, Translational and Clinical. 2020;6(3):2055217320936318.
- Marx W, Hockey M, McGuinness AJ, et al. The effect of emerging nutraceutical interventions for clinical and biological outcomes in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. Mult Scler Relat Disord. 2019;37:101486. doi:10.1016/j. msard.2019.101486
- Seifar F, Khalili M, Khaledyan H, et al. α-Lipoic acid, functional fatty acid, as a novel therapeutic alternative for central nervous system diseases: A review. Nutr Neurosci. 2019;22(5):306-316. doi:10.1080/1028415x.2017.1386755
- 512. Tóth F, Cseh EK, Vécsei L. Natural Molecules and Neuroprotection: Kynurenic Acid, Pantethine and α-Lipoic Acid. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(1). doi:10.3390/ijms22010403

- Morini M, Roccatagliata L, Dell'Eva R, et al. Alpha-lipoic acid is effective in prevention and treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 2004;148(1-2):146-153. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2003.11.021
- Li V, Leurent B, Barkhof F, et al. Designing Multi-arm Multistage Adaptive Trials for Neuroprotection in Progressive Multiple Sciensis. Neurology. 2022;98(18):754-764. doi:10.1212/ wnl.000000000200604
- Tourbah A, Lebrun-Frenay C, Edan G, et al. MD1003 (high-dose biotin) for the treatment of progressive multiple sclerosis: A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Mult Scler. 2016;22(13):1719-1731. doi:10.1177/1352458516667568
- Cree BAC, Cutter G, Wolinsky JS, et al. Safety and efficacy of MD1003 (high-dose biotin) in patients with progressive multiple sclerosis (SPI2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol. 2020;19(12):988-997. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30347-1
- 517. Tourbah A, Gout O, Vighetto A, et al. MD1003 (High-Dose Pharmaceutical-Grade Biotin) for the Treatment of Chronic Visual Loss Related to Optic Neuritis in Multiple Scierosis: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Study. CNS Drugs. 2018;32(7):661-672. doi:10.1007/s40263-018-0528-2
- Bagheri S, Haddadi R, Saki S, et al. Neuroprotective effects of coenzyme Q10 on neurological diseases: A review article. Frontiers in Neuroscience. 2023;17:1188839.
- Soleimani M, Jameie SB, Barati M, Mehdizadeh M, Kerdari M. Effects of coenzyme Q10 on the ratio of THI/TH2 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model of multiple sclerosis in C57BL/6. Iranian biomedical journal. 2014;18(4):203.
- Lee BJ, Lin YC, Huang YC, Ko YW, Hsia S, Lin PT. The relationship between coenzyme Q10, oxidative stress, and antioxidant enzymes activities and coronary artery disease. The Scientific World Journal. 2012;2012(1):792756.
- 521. Sanoobar M, Dehghan P, Khalili M, Azimi A, Seifar F. Coenzyme Q10 as a treatment for fatigue and depression in multiple sclerosis patients: A double blind randomized clinical trial. Nutr Neurosci. 2016;19(3):138-143. doi:10.1179/147 6830515y.000000002
- 522. Moccia M, Capacchione A, Lanzillo R, et al. Coenzyme Q10 supplementation reduces peripheral oxidative stress and inflammation in interferon-beta1a-treated multiple sclerosis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2019;12:1756286418819074 doi:10.1177/1756286418819074
- Qureshi M, Al-Suhaimi EA, Wahid F, Shehzad O, Shehzad A. Therapeutic potential of curcumin for multiple sclerosis. Neurological Sciences. 2018;39:207-214.
- 524. Petracca M, Quarantelli M, Moccia M, et al. ProspeCtive study to evaluate efficacy, safety and tolerability of dietary supplemeNT of Curumin (BCM95) in subjects with Active relapsing Multiple Sclerosis treated with subcutaNeous Interferon beta Ia 44 mcg TIW (CONTAIN): A randomized, controlled trial. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2021;56:103274.
- Lewis JE, Poles J, Shaw DP, et al. The effects of twenty-one nutrients and phytonutrients on cognitive function: A narrative review. J Clin Transl Res. 2021;7(4):575-620.
- 526. Tan MS, Yu JT, Tan CC, et al. Efficacy and adverse effects of ginkgo biloba for cognitive impairment and dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015;43(2):589-603. doi:10.3233/jad-140837
- 527. Nabizadeh F, Sodeifian F, Ghaderi A, Sharafi AM, Balabandian M. Antioxidant supplements and cognition in Multiple Sclerosis: a systematic review. Neurology Letters. 2022;1(2):48-60.
- Marx W, Hockey M, McGuinness AJ, et al. The effect of emerging nutraceutical interventions for clinical and biological outcomes in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. Multiple sclerosis and related disorders. 2020;37:101486. doi:10.1016/j.msard.2019.101486
- Basile MS, Bramanti P, Mazzon E. Inosine in Neurodegenerative Diseases: From the Bench to the Bedside. Molecules. 2022;27(14). doi:10.3390/molecules27144644
- Whitmarsh TE. The treatment of multiple sclerosis with inosine. J Altern Complement Med. 2009;15(6):609. doi:10.1089/ acm.2009.0104
- Gonsette RE, Sindic C, D'hooghe MB, et al. Boosting endogenous neuroprotection in multiple sclerosis: the Association of Inosine and Interferon
 ^[3] in relapsing-remitting Multiple Sclerosis (ASIIMS) trial. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2010;16(4):455-462.
- Markowitz CE, Spitsin S, Zimmerman V, et al. The treatment of multiple sclerosis with inosine. J Altern Complement Med. 2009;15(6):619-625. doi:10.1089/acm.2008.0513
- Muñoz García D, Midaglia L, Martinez Vilela J, et al. Associated Inosine to interferon: results of a clinical trial in multiple sclerosis. Acta Neurol Scand. 2015;131(6):405-410. doi:10.1111/ ane.12333
- Spitsin S, Hooper D, Leist T, Streletz L, Mikheeva T, Koprowski H, Inactivation of peroxynitrite in multiple sclerosis patients after oral administration of inosine may suggest possible approaches to therapy of the disease. Multiple Sclerosis Journal. 2001;7(5):313-319.
- Tončev G. Therapeutic value of serum uric acid levels increasing in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. Vojnosanitetski pregled. 2006;63(10):879-882.
- Hawkes CH, Baker MD, Pohl D, Lechner-Scott J, Levy M, Giovannoni G. Melatonin and multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders. 2021;51.
- Razmaray H, Nasiri E, Vakilipour P, et al. The effects of melatonin supplementation on neurobehavioral outcomes and clinical severity in rodent models of multiple sclerosis; a systematic review and meta-analysis. Inflammopharmacology. 2024;32(2):927-944.
- Morsali S, Sabahi Z, Kakaei J, et al. Clinical efficacy and safety of melatonin supplementation in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Inflammopharmacology. 2023;31(5):2213-2220.

- Kousparou C, Fyrilla M, Stephanou A, Patrikios I. DHA/EPA (Omega-3) and LA/GLA (Omega-6) as Bioactive Molecules in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2023;24(13). doi:10.3390/jims241310717
- Simopoulos AP. Omega-3 fatty acids in inflammation and autoimmune diseases. J Am Coll Nutr. 2002;21(6):495-505. doi:10.1080/07315724.2002.10719248
- Innes JK, Calder PC. Omega-6 fatty acids and inflammation. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2018;132:41-48. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2018.03.004
- 542. Sedighiyan M, Djafarian K, Dabiri S, Abdolahi M, Shab-Bidar S. The effects of omega-3 supplementation on the expanded disability status scale and inflammatory cytokines in multiple sclerosis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. CNS & Neurological Disorders-Drug Targets-CNS & Neurological Disorders). 2019;18(7):523-529.
- 543. Weinstock-Guttman B, Baier M, Park Y, et al. Low fat dietary intervention with ω-3 fatty acid supplementation in multiple sclerosis patients. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids. 2005;73(5):397-404.
- AlAmmar WA, Albeesh FH, Ibrahim LM, Algindan YY, Yamani LZ, Khattab RY. Effect of omega-3 fatty acids and fish oil supplementation on multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. Nutritional neuroscience. 2021;24(7):569-579.
- 545. Tryfonos C, Chrysafi M, Vadikolias K, et al. Nutritional interventional studies in patients with multiple sclerosis: a scoping review of the current clinical evidence. Journal of Neurology. 2024;271(4):1536-1570.
- Mazziotta C, Tognon M, Martini F, Torreggiani E, Rotondo JC. Probiotics Mechanism of Action on Immune Cells and Beneficial Effects on Human Health. Cells. 2023;12(1). doi:10.3390/ cells12010184
- 547. Suez J, Zmora N, Segal E, Elinav E. The pros, cons, and many unknowns of probiotics. Nat Med. 2019;25(5):716-729. doi:10.1038/s41591-019-0439-x
- Rahimlou M, Nematollahi S, Husain D, Banaei-Jahromi N, Majdinasab N, Hosseini SA. Probiotic supplementation and systemic inflammation in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Front Neurosci. 2022;16:901846. doi:10.3389/fnins.2022.901846
- Eggersdorfer M, Wyss A. Carotenoids in human nutrition and health. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2018;652:18-26. doi:10.1016/j. abb.2018.06.001
- 550. Bitarafan S, Mohammadpour Z, Jafarirad S, Harirchian MH, Yekaninejad MS, Saboor-Yaraghi AA. The effect of retinyl-palmitate on the level of pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines in multiple sclerosis patients: A randomized double blind clinical trial. Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery. 2019;177:101-106
- Mohammadzadeh Honarvar N, Harirchian MH, Abdolahi M, et al. Retinyl palmitate supplementation modulates T-bet and interferon gamma gene expression in multiple sclerosis patients. Journal of Molecular Neuroscience. 2016;59:360-365.
- Behl T, Kaur G, Sehgal A, et al. Elucidating the Multi-Targeted Role of Nutraceuticals: A Complementary Therapy to Starve Neurodegenerative Diseases. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(8) doi:10.3390/jims22084045
- Mannucci C, Casciaro M, Sorbara EE, et al. Nutraceuticals against Oxidative Stress in Autoimmune Disorders. Antioxidants (Basel). 2021;10(2). doi:10.3390/antiox10020261
- 554. Signorile A, Ferretta A, Ruggieri M, et al. Mitochondria, Oxidative Stress, cAMP Signalling and Apoptosis: A Crossroads in Lymphocytes of Multiple Sclerosis, a Possible Role of Nutracutics. Antioxidants (Basel). 2020;10(1). doi:10.3390/ antiox10010021
- 555. Tarnopolsky MA. The mitochondrial cocktail: rationale for combined nutraceutical therapy in mitochondrial cytopathies. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2008;60(13-14):1561-1567. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.05.001



MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS AUSTRALIA Suite 3.01, 18 Flour Mill Way, Summer Hill NSW 2130 1300 010 158 info@msaustralia.org.au www.msaustralia.org.au